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Chapter 1:

Theme for 2021-22

The year of ‘Re-’ for us all
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1.1. Re-capitulating 
 2020-21

There is no denying that the ‘hurricane of change’ brought 
forth by the COVID-19 pandemic uprooted the very foundations on 
which our economy was built. While some of us found shelter in the 
‘eye,’ many at the ‘margins’ were left to experience multifaceted 
adversities; adversities that not only generated more vulnerabilities 
but also exacerbated existing ones. As the economy disintegrated 
from within, and questions of ‘what now?’ perplexed minds, the 
development sector braced itself to prepare for the unknown. 

The first wave of the pandemic saw the health of the population 
emerge as the central unit of analysis and response. Consequently, 
the development sector dedicated its entire force of energy, time 
and resources into covid-relief measures, with more than half 
the annual CSR funds, nearly Rs. 7,900 crore allocated/diverted 
towards the same. Although this was integral for sustenance of the 
population at the time, it unfortunately, also translated into major 
setbacks in on-going development projects in sectors like ecology, 
skilling and socio-economic empowerment of tribals, and other 
marginalized populations. 

1. Background
-Stuti Banga
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1.2. Re-envisioning 
 2021-22

The onset of 2021 brought in a renewed energy into 
the development space. As the covid cases began to 
drop, hopes began to rise again. However, the second 
and third waves of the pandemic, once again, drowned 
away many livelihoods in the country. This time, even 
rural areas were not spared from its wrath. However 
dismal the situation was, the development sector had, 
at this stage, already built a newfound resilience and 
response mechanism. 

A three-fold strategy was adopted: 
In the first fold, covid-relief measures continued 

to be the focus. While physical health occupied the 
centre stage, the cascading effects of the pandemic on 
mental health were not only recognized, but also met 
with endeavours from both the government and private 
sector.

In the second fold, attempts were made to 
‘covid-proof’ development projects that had been 
previously side-lined. This meant re-starting many 
projects after the covid hiatus while being in line with 
all precautionary measures for maintenance of health 
and safety. 

In the third fold, thinkers and policy makers 
began to re-envision the design and implementation of 
development projects against the backdrop of covid. 
The disruption of supply chains, closure of almost all 
public spaces, and loss of innumerable livelihoods, 
took us closer to technology like never before. In 
fact, adoption of technology emerged as the main 
mechanism of facilitating ground-level change in 
several new development projects. Significant stress 
was laid upon designing projects congruent with the 
ideas of sustainability. Increased convergence between 
CSR organizations, CSOs and the government was 
recognized as the means for delivering more efficient 
and targeted programs.  

As 2022 began, news around the Russia-Ukraine war 
breaking out caused immense concern globally and 
nationally. Today, it can be argued that the on-going 
war has materialized as a concoction of challenges and 
opportunities for the Indian economy. In the fluctuations 
between these highs and lows, the development sector 
must carry forward its learnings from covid and stabilize 
the lives of the population to the maximum possible 
degree. 
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As illustrated through the previous sections, we can conclude 
that while in 2020-21, the development sector cognized itself with 
the multi-dimensional facets of the pandemic and attempted to 
re-cement the uprooted foundations; the year 2021-22 emerged 
as a key turning point in the response strategy. This time, significant 
emphasis was placed on not only re-cementing foundations, 
but also unpacking the challenges pertinent to re-imagining 
what elements* these foundations should constitute of and the 
mechanisms** for their re-design. 

*Elements such as: health, livelihoods, skilling, education, 
entrepreneurship and so on

**Mechanisms such as: sustainability models, convergence, 
technology adoption and so on

1.3. Re-defining 
 How 2021-22 was different
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2.1 The year of ‘Re-’ 
 what it means

The word ‘Re-’ originates from Latin, it is a prefix that 
conveys the idea of undertaking something again. This 
prefix is a metaphorical and literary representation of 
the entire development landscape in the year 2021-22. 

‘Re-’ as prefix denotes that, to a certain degree, 
the unfolding of events in our surroundings, may 
materialize due to various elements being out of our 
control. These events and the impact they cause may 
‘fix’ or restrict our daily functioning to a large extent. 
The hyphen (-) next to the word ‘re-’ exudes an emotion 
of power, a space to learn and  potential to overcome 
challenges. The hyphen is an emblem of our inherent 
capacity to be resilient to adversities by having control 
over the way we choose to respond to them- do we re-
vert to our old ways or do we re-fine, re-define, re-visit, 
re-consider, re-do, re-view? 

Therefore, in the metaphorical sense this theme is 
built on the understanding that while we may not have 
control over the adversity, we do have control over the 
way we choose to respond to it.

In the literal sense, ‘re-’ as a word highlights the 
need to do something again. COVID has proven to 
be a watershed moment in a plethora of ways for 
development organizations, a moment capable of 
generating transformative long-term change. It has 
propelled us to not only review our strategies for project 
ideation and implementation, but has also motivated us 
to re-formulate and re-visit risk-assessment or safety net 
mechanisms for development projects.

2.2 The year of ‘Re-’ 
 what it means to  
 NABFOUNDATION

For NABFOUNDATION, a two-year old subsidiary 
born out of the forty-year old legacy of NABARD, 
‘A year of Re-’ meant exploring new pathways for 
holistically empowering the rural population at a time 
when the entire economy had come to a standstill.  
Most importantly, it meant aligning the goals of the 
organization with the vision for developing a resilient 
rural India. 

Through this annual report, we hope for our readers 
to gain an in-depth insight into the dedicated efforts 
behind our on-going projects and how we facilitated the 
materialization of the principles of ‘re-’ by continuously 
re-visiting, re-evaluating, and re-imagining our 
work.

2. Deconstructing the Theme
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Chapter 2:

About 
NABFOUNDATION

Leveraging the power of convergence



13

Brief about NABFOUNDATION

NABFOUNDATION is a Section 8, Not for Profit, wholly owned subsidiary of NABARD set up in August, 2019. This 
young subsidiary is yet another bold step to address the multiple challenges that rural India faces each day. The 
organization draws its strength and experience from the thousands of development projects grounded by its parent 
body NABARD, in multiple domains, in association with a vast array of development partners like Central and State 
governments, civil society organizations, banks, multilaterals, bilaterals, agri universities and a host of other channel 
partners. The Foundation has received 12AA and 80 G and is eligible to receive donations and grants.

The main objective of the company is designing and executing a wide array of development projects listed 
under Schedule VII, Section 135 of Companies Act, 2013, with special focus on - Rural income and livelihood 
generation, sustainable agriculture and rural development, natural resources management, climate proofing 
of Indian agriculture, skilling, rural off-farm activities, agri marketing, rural innovation, gender sensitization, micro 
finance, water conservation and financial inclusion.

Team NABFOUNDATION
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VISION STATEMENT
Catalyst for Sustainable Development

MISSION STATEMENT
To implement sustainable projects in the field 
of agriculture and rural development in a 
coordinated manner
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Company Information

Name of the company NABFOUNDATION 

Corporate Identification 
Number U85100MH2019NPL330036

Date of incorporation 31/08/2019

Authorized capital INR 5,00,00,000

Subscribed and 
paid-up capital INR 5,00,00,000

PAN AAGCN6690Q

TAN MUMN27539B

12 AA Registration Number
CIT(Exemptions)MUMBAI/12AA/2020-21/A/10104 ; 
DIN& Order No. ITBA/EXM/S/12AA/2020-21/1027467270(1) 
DATED 9th July, 2020

80G Registration Number
CIT(Exemptions)MUMBAI/80G/2020-21/A/10388 ; 
DIN& Order No. ITBA/EXM/S/80G/2020-21/1031768802(1) 
DATED 25th March, 2021

CSR Registration Number CSR00004589

Auditors

RAMESH SUNIL & ASSOCIATES (BO0629)
713 Damji Shamji Business Galleria,
LBS Marg Next T0 Toyo House,
Kanjurmarg G West,
Mumbai 400078

Bankers

Axis Bank Limited
Fortune 2000, Ground Floor,
Bandra Kurla Complex, 
Bandra East, Mumbai 400051

Registered Office
Plot No. C-24, G Block,
Bandra Kurla Complex, 
Bandra East, Mumbai 400051

Email nabfoundation@nabard.org 

Website www.nabfoundation.in

Telephone No. +91 22 2653 9054
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NABFOUNDATION’s 12AA certificate
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NABFOUNDATION’s 80G certificate
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Dr. G R Chintala is the Chairman of National Bank for Agriculture 
and Rural Development (NABARD), India’s Apex Development 
Financial Institution of the country. He is also the Chairman of 
NABARD Consultancy Services (NABCONS) Ltd., NABVENTURES Ltd. 
and NABFOUNDATION. He is on the Board of prestigious institutions 
like Institute for Rural Management (IRMA), DICGC and also on the 
Advisory Board of IIM, Ahmedabad. 

A post-graduate in Seed Science and Technology from the 
world renowned Indian Agricultural Research Institute (IARI), 
New Delhi, Dr. Chintala has had a phenomenal journey in the 
development sector; a journey which has seen him taking up 
multiple prestigious assignments in Andhra Pradesh, Punjab, Uttar 
Pradesh, Karnataka, Andaman & Nicobar Islands, and in New Delhi 
where he represented NABARD in front of the Government of India.

During this illustrious career of 35 years, he has several 
achievements to his credit. Prior to taking over as Chairman, Dr. 
Chintala was the Managing Director of NABARD Financial Services 
(NABFINS) Ltd., the microfinance lending subsidiary of NABARD. 
He was also the Director of Bankers Institute of Rural Development 
(BIRD), Lucknow, one of the Premier institutes of the Developing 
World which offers Training, Research and Consultancy services 
in the field of agriculture and rural development banking. A live 
wire speaker, he has, in his capacity as a Faculty Member of BIRD, 
trained several hundreds of professionals from banking and NGO 
sectors.

Dr. Chintala was also a Director on the Board of Agriculture 
Insurance Company (AIC) and also on the board of several RRBs/
State Cooperative Banks across the country and National level 
NBFCs of GOI. Working closely with various State Governments and 
banks at the highest level, his contribution has been immense in 
varied sectors like credit planning and monitoring, funding for rural 
infrastructure and implementation of innovative and pioneering 
projects across the nation. Among many of these achievements, 
the role played by Dr. Chintala in the sectors of social and economic 
empowerment of rural women through financial inclusion merits a 
special mention.

Dr. Chintala brings to NABFOUNDATON, a phenomenal body 
of experience and a whole lot of positive energy.

Board of NABFOUNDATION (as on 31st March 2022)

CHAIRMAN
Dr. G R Chintala, Chairman, 
NABARD and NABFOUNDATION
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Shri Jitendra Kalra, B. 
Tech and MBA, comes with 
a deep understanding 
and experience of the 
development sector. 

Starting out as a Civil Servant in 1991, Shri Kalra 
quickly realized his inner connect with the 
development sector. His journey since then has 
seen him taking senior leadership roles in UNIDO, 
Dr. Reddy’s Foundation and Reliance Foundation, 
two of India’s largest CSR Foundations. His work 
has made a remarkable difference in areas 
like Rural Transformation, Health, Information 
services and Disaster management, Livelihood 
Promotion and Poverty Reduction. During his 
seven years’ tenure with UNIDO, he pioneered 
the ‘cluster development’ approach in India. As 
Programme Head, he led a team responsible for 
implementing ‘Cluster Development Program’ 
in Orissa, Andhra Pradesh and Karnataka for 
development of clusters in Auto component, 
Machine tool, Foundry cluster, Floriculture etc 
to promote livelihoods. Shri Kalra is a sought-
after public speaker on subjects like skilling, 
cluster development, cultural transformation, 
rural development, Not-for-Profit engagement 
with government, policy advocacy, corporate 
CSR and Ethics & Values. Shri Kalra is currently 
CEO of Foundation for Economic Development 
(FED) which is working directly with state 
governments with a focus on building capacities 
to think through and execute reforms. FED helps 
in designing and running development projects in 
a more professional manner by incorporating the 
best of management and social audit practices.

Jitendra Kalra, 
Director, NABFOUNDATION

Shri Mehrotra, MA 
(Economics) and M.Phil 
form Jawaharlal Nehru 
University has been a key 
member of the group 

within NABARD which analyses macro-economic 
changes in the rural economy and their impact 
upon NABARD. Shri. Mehrotra was an active 
participant in the deliberations of the GOI’s 
Expert Group on Agricultural Indebtedness and 
assisted in drafting of the final report. He provided 
inputs to the report submitted by the Task Force on 
Credit Related Issues of Farmers, constituted by 
the Ministry of Agriculture, Government of India, 
2010. He also participated in the Deliberations of 
the “Sub-Group of the Committee Constituted 
by Reserve Bank of India to Re-Examine the 
Existing Classification and Suggest Revised 
Guidelines with Regard to Priority Sector Lending 
Classification and Related Issues, 2012.” His 
past responsibilities have included undertaking 
impact evaluation studies, understanding the 
practical challenges in strengthening supply 
chain for high value agriculture, quantifying the 
direct and indirect benefits of investments in rural 
infrastructure.

Shri Nirupam Mehrotra,
Director, NABFOUNDATION
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Shri S K Dora, Chief 
General Manager and 
Principal at National Bank 
Staff College (NBSC), 
Lucknow since 01.07.2020, 

is a Post Graduate in Economics from Sambalpur 
University, Odisha and holds M.Phil. Degree from 
Jawaharlal Nehru University (JNU), New Delhi. 
In NABARD, Shri Dora has worked in various 
capacities in the last 33 years in Mumbai, HO 
and in ROs in Gujarat, Odisha including four 
years as Faculty Member in the Bankers Institute 
of Rural Development (BIRD), Lucknow and one 
year as Vice Principal in NBSC, Lucknow. He has 
served as a member of the Governing Council 
of Agriculture Skill Council of India (ASCI). 
He was a member of the FICCI Task Force on 
Climate Change and also represented NABARD 
in the Task Force on Demonstrating Doubling of 
Farmer’s Income & also on Task Force for use of 
Technology for Agriculture Insurance constituted 
by NITI Aayog, GOI. He also represented NABARD 
in the working group for harnessing space 
technology for banking services constituted 
by IDRBT. Recently, he has been nominated by 
NABARD as its nominee director on the board 
of CSC E-Governance Services India Limited 
(CeGSIL). His areas of specialization include 
farm sector policy including agri-risk mitigation, 
climate finance, environment and social risk 
management, farmer’s collectives, infrastructure 
finance and rural bank supervision, etc.

Shri S K Dora, 
Director, NABFOUNDATION

Shri J S Upadhyay 
joined NABARD in 
February1988 and in a 
career spanning over 
three decades has worked 

in various departments and regional offices of 
Pune, Patna, Chandigarh, Lucknow, Bhopal, 
Hyderabad and in HO, Mumbai. He has been 
associated in different capacities across inter-
developmental sections, spearheading activities 
such as implementation of Prof. Vaidyanathan 
Package for Short Term Cooperative Banks, 
Revival Reform & Restructuring Package for 
Handloom Sector in India, Financial Inclusion and 
e-Shakti project for digitisation of SHGs during his 
stint with Micro Credit Innovation Department 
in HO, Mumbai during the period 2014 to 2017. 
Shri Upadhyay has expertise in supervision of 
banking services for RRBs and Rural Coops Banks. 
He is presently holding charge as Chief General 
Manager of Micro Credit Innovation Department 
and Department of Financial Inclusion & Banking 
Technology in HO at Mumbai.

Shri Upadhyay holds Bachelor’s degree in 
Science and Law from University of Lucknow.  He 
has been actively contributing at Alliance for 
Financial Inclusion (AFI), Bangkok, Thailand and 
has addressed its sessions at Trinidad & Tobago. 
He has been a guest faculty at various training 
colleges of Scheduled Commercial Banks and 
Rural Cooperative Banks.

Shri J S Upadhyay,
Director, NABFOUNDATION
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Shri Sanjeev D Rohilla 
joined NABARD in 1992 
after doing his post-
graduation in Economics 
from Punjab University, 

Chandigarh. He has handled key assignments in 
multiple departments over the last two decades 
in Jammu and Kashmir, Gujarat, Maharashtra 
and Meghalaya. He has been a part of multiple 
teams within NABARD covering fund raising, HR, 
credit operations, financial inclusion technology, 
credit planning and corporate communications. 
He was a part of the key team which launched 
NABARD Capital Gains Bond Issue. He was also 
a key member of the team which launched the 
first ever Aadhar enabled Kisan Credit Cards to 
Cooperative Banks and RRBs. As a part of the 
Communications Wing of NABARD, he helped 
establish the communication protocol in the 
organization along with a new website and social 
media handles. His team was also instrumental 
in producing over 100 short films about NABARD 
projects besides several award winning 
publications. Over the last nearly three decades, 
he has been a part of multiple studies. Micro 
finance, credit planning, designing of innovative 
convergence models and organizational 
communication continue to be his areas of deep 
interest.

Shri Sanjeev D Rohilla, 
CEO, NABFOUNDATION
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■ February: NABFOUNDATION’s project 
‘Baazar Connect’ to support 
market-readiness of FPOs, gets 
sanctioned

■ August: NABARD sets-up 
NABFOUNDATION 

■ September: NABFOUNDATION 
conducts its first board meeting

■ April: NABFOUNDATION launches 
‘Agri-innovation’ project to support 
adoption of new-age technology 
among FPOs across the country

■ July: NABFOUNDATION receives its 
12AA Registration 

■ August: NABFOUNDATION completes 
one year of operation 

■ October: NABFOUNDATION website 
goes live 

■ October: NABFOUNDATION receives 
its first news coverage 

■ October: NABFOUNDATION launches 
its first, pan-India project- My Pad | 
My Right (MPMR) in the presence of 
Smt. Smriti Irani, Hon’ble Union Minister 
of Women and Child Development

■ January: NABFOUNDATION signs its first 
MoU

■ January: NABFOUNDATION’s project for 
the North-east, i.e., Northeast region 
Entrepreneurs’ World, gets sanctioned

■ March: NABFOUNDATION receives 80G 
certification

■ March: NABFOUNDATION’s project Aapno 
Paani & Aapno Anaaj get sanctioned

■ June: NABFOUNDATION launches film for 
promoting ‘Vaccination in Rural India’ 

■ June: NABFOUNDATION conducts 
pan-India conclave on ‘Covid-proofing 
development projects’

■ August: NABFOUNDATION joins hands with 
CWC to support farmers across the 
country 

■ August: NABFOUNDATION conducts 
pan-India conclave on ‘Knowledge 
convergence through agri-startups’ 

■ August: NABFOUNDATION’s project 
‘Promotion of an OFPO in Meghalaya’ 
(Basuba Brooms Producer Company Ltd.) 
gets sanctioned

■ August: Smt. Nirmala Sitharaman, Minister 
of Finance, India, launches My Pad | My 
Right unit in Tripura

■ October:  NABFOUNDATION releases video 
celebrating one year of project My Pad | 
My Right (MPMR)

■ October: NABFOUNDATION signs MoU with 
nurture.farm 

■ November: NABFOUNDATION launches 
‘Artisan Exchange Platform’ on its website

■ December: NABFOUNDATION’s project on 
‘Strengthening and Broad-basing Pashmina 
and Wool Value Chain in Ladakh,’ gets 
sanctioned  

■ December: NABFOUNDATION signs MoU 
with INNOTERRA

NABFOUNDATION’s key highlights
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(Basuba Brooms Producer Company Ltd.) 
gets sanctioned

■ August: Smt. Nirmala Sitharaman, Minister 
of Finance, India, launches My Pad | My 
Right unit in Tripura

■ October:  NABFOUNDATION releases video 
celebrating one year of project My Pad | 
My Right (MPMR)

■ October: NABFOUNDATION signs MoU with 
nurture.farm 

■ November: NABFOUNDATION launches 
‘Artisan Exchange Platform’ on its website

■ December: NABFOUNDATION’s project on 
‘Strengthening and Broad-basing Pashmina 
and Wool Value Chain in Ladakh,’ gets 
sanctioned  

■ December: NABFOUNDATION signs MoU 
with INNOTERRA
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In conversation with the 
Top Management

Chapter 3:



29

When I took over as the Chairman of this 

fledgling subsidiary in 2020, there were two roads in 

front of us. The first road led to a destination where 

NABFOUNDATION would have evolved into an NGO 

executing individual projects. The second road 

saw it as a national level organization designing 

marquee development projects and executing 

them by leveraging NABARD’s network of civil society 

partners, interested stakeholders, and, above all, 

new age technology. The Foundation which we had 

visualized was going to be more than this, and though 

the second road was the more challenging option, 

we embraced that journey without any hesitation.

Two years later I can say with a sense of deep 

satisfaction that it was a tough call but the decision 

paid off. Aided by the vision of the Board, the 

Foundation has gone ahead to design some amazing 

projects which not only consolidated its position in 

the development sector but also brought pride and 

recognition to its parent, NABARD. I truly believe that 

the Foundation is indeed set on a trajectory with a 

wider vision and will only grow bigger over the years. 

In a lighter vein, the foundation of NABFOUNDATION 

has been indeed laid.

These past two years have 
brought forth a complex 
blend of opportunities 
and challenges for the 
development sector.

Chairman’s Foreword 
Dr. G R Chintala
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And we only need to take a look at the range and 

quality of projects to get a sense of why I say this with 

a deep sense of certainty about NABFOUNDATION. 

Helping build a training and skilling facility in a 

remote corner of north east, bringing livelihoods into 

menstrual hygiene through the power of SHGs at a 

national scale, empowering tribals to set up their 

broom processing company in Meghalaya for the 

first time in decades, working with nomadic tribals 

on the India-China border in developing a value 

chain for pashmina processing, setting up a solar 

power based water RO unit with participation of 

village women in Rajasthan, a dedicated website for 

capturing the aspirations of NER youths - these are 

indeed projects which showcase the true scope of 

what a few people can visualize and bring to life if 

given the space to perform.  

But in so many ways, this journey of 

NABFOUNDATION is nothing but an off shoot of the 

four- decade long journey of its parent NABARD. 

During the last two years, NABARD made some 

stupendous strides not just in business but also in the 

development sector. 

In the Off-farm eco-system, we came up with 

ideas like Mini OFPOs, Stall in Mall, My District My 

Project and Model design for Rural Haat. Alongside, 

we brought in revisions in delegation of powers, 

refinements in policies for OFPO, skilling, CCF and 

Rural Haats. 

But in so many ways, this 
journey of NABFOUNDATION 
is nothing but an off shoot 
of the four-decade long 
journey of its parent 
NABARD. During the last 
two years, NABARD made 
some stupendous strides 
not just in business but also 
in the development sector.
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On the micro finance front, which is extremely 

close to my heart, we have decided to bring uniformity 

in SHG grading norms of NABARD and NRLM. This 

was a long standing demand. We also decided to 

extend support for newly introduced activities like 

Gram-Dukan, funding of impact assessment studies, 

films, exposure visits, publications, exhibitions, melas, 

promotion of tie–ups for marketing, etc., for better 

offtake under SHG Bank Linkage program. We have 

played a sterling role in the skilling sector for SHGs. 

Did you know that, cumulatively, more than 41 lakh 

microfinance clients have been trained by mCID 

under various capacity building programme? mCID 

sponsored Village Level Programmes, since 2015-16, 

have covered 26.6 lakh beneficiaries! 

That is a phenomenal number by any estimates.  

The Covid crisis like a hydra-headed monster 

opened a lot of war fronts for a developing nation 

like ours. But, for the first time perhaps, unlike many 

other disruptions in the past, it managed to define 

the deep interconnections between growth of the 

nation and growth of the poor. It made us accept 

that in any algorithm we develop, a resilient 5 trillion 

economy simply cannot come around without 

financial inclusion and participation of the poor. And 

that they must have a significant share in the 15% 

annual growth required in bank credit for achieving 

the 5 trillion benchmark by 2025. 

A resilient 5 trillion economy 
simply cannot come 
around without financial 
inclusion and participation 
of the poor. And that they 
must have a significant 
share in the 15% annual 
growth required in bank 
credit for achieving the 5 
trillion benchmark by 2025.
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There is so much to be proud about really, at so 

many levels about what we have achieved within 

NABARD and NABFOUNATION against all odds.

Let me dwell upon micro finance a little bit more 

to give you a sense of why I believe it holds so much 

importance for us in NABARD as policy framers. The 

SHG Bank Linkage Programme today covers over 12 

crore rural households.  If we take a rural family to 

be a unit of five members, then this programme has 

already covered nearly half a billion Indians! Even 

if a simple cash credit limit of Rs. 1 lakh is given to 

one SHG member, we are looking at an exponential 

growth in the economy. A rough estimate will show 

you that providing Rs. 1 lakh per SHG member/ 

artisan will need credit of Rs. 15,30,000 billion!

For the non-believers who ask what will a poor 

woman do with a CC limit of Rs. 1 lakh, here is a list 

of things this dynamic micropreneur may use it for: 

purchase of seeds and a host of other raw materials, 

basic tools and implements, farm labour, a two 

wheeler, a cart, cycle, travel, packaging material, 

marketing besides meeting basic consumption 

needs. Surely, a lakh is just about enough for this long 

list of that SHG member or artisan. Our questions 

about the needs of the poor reveal our ignorance 

about their needs.

There is so much to be proud 
about really at so many 
levels about what we have 
achieved within NABARD 
and NABFOUNDATION 
against all odds.

Even if a simple cash credit 
limit of Rs. 1 lakh is given to 
one SHG member we are 
looking at an exponential 
growth in the economy. A 
rough estimate will show you 
that providing Rs. 1 lakh per 
SHG member/artisan will 
need credit of Rs. 15,30,000 
billion!
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As a nation we are trying, but have not 

succeeded in addressing the growth aspirations 

of the poor, vast majority of whom are still battling 

the warp of ‘roti, kapda aur makaan,’ and numbers 

vindicate the same. Domestic credit provided by 

banking sector as percentage of GDP in India was 

72.06 % in 2018 (World Bank). Compare the same 

against China where the same stood at a massive 

310%! How do we increase the bank credit in a 

sustainable and scalable manner which is in sync 

with the rallying cry of ‘Aatmanirbhar Bharat’ made 

by the Prime Minister?

The ‘how’ was a big question mark once. But 

technology and a large bouquet of service providers 

have simplified that puzzle to a large extent.  

Many times we use the word ‘resilient’ for 

the poor and try and build an imagery of valour 

around them, when in reality they are resilient simply 

because being resilient is the difference between life 

and death. The poor will win this war again provided 

we recognize and empathize with their aspirations 

and succeed in building a technology enabled 

environment which allows a seamless integration of 

these aspirations. As development professionals, this 

should be a living mantra for each and everyone of 

us.

I am sure that this will be the guiding mantra for 

NABOUNDATION in all the coming years too. I hope 

that NABFOUNDATION continues to work with the 

same passion, vigor and commitment towards rural 

India’s prosperity. For I firmly believe that the we are 

just at the starting point of something big, something 

that can empower rural lives and livelihoods from the 

core and build new-found resiliency within them. 

How do we increase 
the bank credit in a 
sustainable and scalable 
manner which is in sync 
with the rallying cry of 
‘Aatmanirbhar Bharat’ 
made by the Prime 
Minister?
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Question 1: India’s agri-exports crossed 
USD 50 billion for the year 2021-22. How can 
we ensure that farmers have a larger share 
in the export pie?

It is indeed a matter of huge 

satisfaction that agri-exports crossed 

50 billion dollars last year – and that 

too, in the face of Covid! I think it is a clear testimony 

of both the Indian farmers’ resilience and the 

government’s commitment to enhance farmers’ 

income. How do we ensure sustainability of such a 

magical performance? I think that this question is 

important for each of us in NABARD. How do we, in 

NABARD, empower the millions of small farmers and 

ensure that they are a part of this amazing growth 

run in Indian agri exports?

Let us first break down this statement to really 

give a sense of what it all means, where it all came 

from. 

We achieved this amazing milestone by 

recording highest ever exports for staples like rice, 

wheat, sugar and other cereals. In fact, India has 

captured nearly 50% of the world’s market for rice. 

On the other hand, marine exports were nearly 8 

billion dollars, benefitting farmers in the coastal 

states of West Bengal, Andhra Pradesh, Odisha, Tamil 

Nadu, Kerala, Maharashtra, and Gujarat. Indian 

spice exports touched 4 billion dollars, for the second 

year in a row. Despite facing tremendous supply-side 

issues, coffee exports crossed 1 billion dollars for the 

first time, which in turn has improved realizations 

for coffee growers in Karnataka, Kerala, and Tamil 

Nadu. Dairy and poultry – all the allied sectors also 

contributed their mite to the overall export success.

In conversation with
Shri K V Shaji,  
Deputy Managing Director, NABARD
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What do these figures show us? First of all, the 

most important thing is that more and more states are 

becoming a part of India’s growth story. Secondly, 

states with adequate infrastructure in place and 

ease of business are the front runners in leveraging 

the world trade cycles. This will be a road map for 

other states to follow.

Within NABARD, I think we have played our role 

at multiple fronts. Boosting rural infrastructure which 

in turn facilitates agri exports, stands out as one of our 

biggest contributions. Infrastructure development is 

so critical since it works on the demand stimulation 

front through expansion of credit absorption 

capacity. 

 On the credit front, we have played an 

instrumental role in increasing the institutional credit 

flow to agriculture. I am optimistic that the increased 

access to affordable credit will enable farmers to 

adopt new technology and farm mechanisation, all 

of which will finally impact incomes.

Our philosophy of building strong grassroots 

institutions as a long-term social investment has also 

helped farmers engage in the larger marketing 

ecosystem effectively. The Credit Guarantee Fund of 

INR 1,000 crore set-up with contributions from the GOI, 

will enable FPOs to avail of loans and expand their 

businesses by becoming integral parts of agriculture 

value chain, thereby augmenting farmers’ incomes.

How do we take this further? The answer in my 

humble view is very simple -  Continue doing the 

good work. Continue imagining new possibilities. 

Continue observing. Continue being solid partners of 

the Government in all its development 

initiatives for the Indian farmer.

Question 2: The 10,000 FPO target 
seeming less when seen in the context of the 
nearly 12-13 crore farmers and yet there has 
been limited success in getting anywhere 
close to this figure.  What is the challenge 
facing us here? What role do you see for 
NABARD and NABFOUNDATION in this area?

It is not really a question of more or 

less in my view. It is about the quality of 

these organizations that we should be 

more concerned about. I agree that the target may 

appear small when we look at the farmer population 

of the country. But then you need to look at this vast 

multitude through the prism of the fact that these are 

vastly disparate communities we are talking about. 

There is vast heterogeneity even at village levels if you 

consider the socio-economic structures!  So number 

of FPOs cannot be a mathematical equation of total 

farmers divided by, say 1000. 

I do believe that FPOs are the future of farming 

in this country which has nearly 80% of its farmers as 

Small and Marginal farmers. Such farmers definitely 

need to come together to survive in a system which 

is skewed towards large farmers and larger holdings, 

like it is all over the world; and there is enough proof 

of the positives.  Sale through Farmer Producer 

Companies has been seen to result in increased 

price realization by 20-25%. Marketing costs have 

come down by about 30%. Finally, there is the definite 

benefit of sourcing agri inputs in bulk at lower rates.

 I think every FPO faces, and will face the 

challenges that any cooperative faces in its evolution. 

Getting disparate sections of farming communities 

to come together, to give them time and space 

to develop a shared vision, making them believe 

that change is possible and then finally building an 

environment in which all the promises take a shape  - 

these are indeed monumental tasks for any NGO or 

civil society partner that works with FPOs. 
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The key, therefore, is to invest in not just good 

but great partners. We may have to look for 

solutions outside the realm of our current partners 

and partnerships.  It also means that we may have 

to really revisit and keep revisiting the definitions 

of FPOs. The size of an FPO for instance, is a classic 

differentiator.  Getting 500 farmers in Maharashtra is 

easy but getting 50 farmers in Mizoram or Nagaland 

may be a challenge. Hence we need to be open to 

new interpretations. We are expected to do that as 

a DFI.

Let me sum it up like this: The phrase ‘shared 

vision’ always looks enticing on paper but when you 

break it down, you realize that this means a lot of 

acceptance of diverse views, mature and patient 

communication and selfless leadership. Each FPC is 

therefore looking for a statesman to play the kind of 

role which Varghese Kurien played in Amul! I guess 

this itself should tell us the what kind of challenges 

await an FPO. 

As far as NABFOUNDATION is concerned, I think it 

should focus its energies on the unfulfilled gaps in the 

FPO narrative. Bringing new generation technology 

to FPOs, marketing, branding, e-commerce support 

to existing FPOs – I think these are the 

pivotal roles which NABFOUNDATION 

should take upon itself. That will be a 

solid service to the nation.

Question 3: A report from CSRBOX 
showed that only about 8% of the total CSR 
projects are implemented in collaboration 
with Government entities. How can 
NABFOUNDATION work more aggressively 
to leverage the power of convergence? 

Look, there are two aspects to 

this. One is, the need and vision of 

the corporate taking up CSR. The 

Government has given a list of areas which qualify for 

CSR, and a corporate is well within its rights to decide 

where and how it wishes to spend that money. That 

corporate will collaborate with the government or 

government-backed organizations like NABARD, if it 

sees merit in the same. So please do not confuse this 

as being some kind of unpatriotic behaviour. 

The other aspect is– what can the Government 

do to encourage collaborations? I think this  is the 

more relevant issue. The Social Stock Exchange being 

set up by GOI is one such policy move which will have a 

humungous impact over the coming years. Essentially, 

this platform will provide windows of opportunities to 

both GOI and NGOs, and any organization eligible 

to receive funds including NABFOUNDATION, to pitch 

for funds from interested donors. Who will the donors 

be? Corporates who are governed by CSR Act. So 

technically, it will channelize funds into the required 

projects and areas in a seamless and transparent 

manner. NABFOUNDATION, when that moment 

comes, should be ready to leverage 

the power of outreach which the 

Exchange will bring.  
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Question 4: What is your vision for 
NABFOUNDATION in terms of strengthening 
rural marketing for agriculture and allied 
areas?

The rural market in India is 

fascinating and challenging at the 

same time. It offers large scope on 

account of its sheer size, and it is growing steadily. 

But this has existed for many years. What has enabled 

this flush of activity and YOY growth rates in rural 

consumption is the amazing growth of technology in 

the form of mobiles and internet. I think the roadmap 

for NABFOUNDATION’s interface with rural India’s 

marketing aspirations is clear – harness technology 

and bring it closer to rural communities in a pragmatic 

manner. What does this mean in simple terms? Let 

me clarify.

Our studies show that the targets related to FPO 

formation are achieved, but many FPOs struggle 

each day to find potential markets for their produce. 

Faced with market imbalances and lack of optimum 

price discovery, they prefer to restrict themselves 

to input businesses with their shareholder farmers 

and non-shareholders as it is a low hanging fruit 

and is also risk free to a certain extent. What can 

NABFOUNDATION do in this scenario?

Should NABFOUNDATION try and set up a 

website for its FPOs for allowing B2B and B2C trade or 

should it try and leverage the existing e-commerce 

platforms? I think the answer is very clear.  It should 

indeed try and leverage what is already available 

on the table. 

 I will like to see our Foundation provide new age 

branding, packaging and marketing solutions to our 

FPOs. I will like to see the Foundation networking with 

e-commerce portals for the hundreds of FPOs in this 

country. This is indeed a huge opportunity. I know 

that NABFOUNDATION is already putting in efforts in 

this direction. The tie up with Innoterra is one such 

effort and I was glad to be a part of 

the MoU signing ceremony. I believe 

that we need to continue pushing this 

agenda.



38

NABFOUNDATION Annual Report 2021-22

Question 5: Currently, NABFOUNDATION 
is implementing a project in Ladakh and 
one for the entirety of North-East- what 
other kinds of development projects do you 
envision for NABFOUNDATION in these, and 
other remote geographies?  

Firstly, we must understand that 

besides higher implementation costs, 

implementing projects in these hard 

terrains also requires high level of commitment and 

perseverance. There are multiple socio–economic 

challenges here besides the tough terrain and 

topography. It is for these very reasons that in 

NABARD, we have always had a more nuanced set 

of guidelines with suitable relaxations. I am therefore, 

very glad to see that NABFOUNDATION has laid 

special emphasis on developing unique projects 

in and for North East. The Broom OFPO project and 

establishing a website to collate data relating to 

aspirations of NER youths is are steps in that direction. 

 I believe that for remote areas and Northeast 

India, technology and digital outreach are a 

challenge today, but a huge opportunity tomorrow. 

Only and only technological outreach will enable 

us to reach to the last village. And let us not forget 

the geo-political challenges which are a living 

reality on the Indo-China borders. So, yes, from 

every angle there is a need to cover the North-East 

in a very holistic manner. What kind of projects will 

bring about that change? Building supply chain 

infrastructure for organic horticulture produce of 

NER, developing sustainable tourism, boosting local 

handicrafts, building export hubs for organic meat 

and agri-produce – basically everything which does 

not involve setting up of heavy industries is welcome 

in NER. 

Another angle which comes to my mind in this 

context, is the significance of traditional knowledge 

systems in NER and the amazing community-based 

organizations both of which work towards ensuring 

sustainable development. I really feel that we need 

to respect that traditional knowledge 

and make it a part of our project 

planning exercise.

Question 6: What vision do you have 
for NABFOUNDATION in the next 5 years, 
in terms of ideating and implementing 
innovative development projects?

In the medium to long term, I see 

a clear role for NABFOUNDATION to 

emerge as a strong entity on the Stock 

Exchanges, now that the Social Stock Exchange is 

going to be a reality in India soon. It will need some 

internal re-calibration of systems, by which I mean 

NABFOUNDATION, could be a bridge for the CSR 

entities of the country to engage with NABARD’s 

development projects. So, I see a lot of traction in this 

area in a few years from now when the Social Stock 

Exchange will become vibrant. 
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As a Foundation representing NABARD, 

there will always be a special focus on areas like 

livelihoods, sustainable agriculture, natural resource 

management (NRM), climate proofing of Indian 

agriculture etc.  The scope is really huge since it 

also includes skilling, rural off-farm activities, agri-

marketing, rural innovation, gender sensitization, 

micro-finance, water conservation and financial 

inclusion. So, the canvas is so wide that we need to 

really come up with a cohesive strategy and growth 

plan to touch base with all these areas.

The one underlying truth is that innovation will 

have to be a key driver of all project planning and 

execution in NABFOUNDATION. Otherwise, what is 

the differentiating factor? How do you stand out in 

the crowd of lakhs of foundations and NGOs in the 

country? So, NABFOUNDATION can play a crucial role 

in fostering inclusive growth in two ways - embedding 

innovation into project formulation and harnessing 

technology in project execution. Harnessing digital 

capabilities is indeed the need of the hour and I 

think this holds special significance 

for NABFOUNDATION to augment its 

activities. 

 

Question 7: Any one particular area in 
which you will want NABFOUNDATION to 
play a dedicated role. 

India, with its diversity and 

hundreds of challenges across the 

country, will always have a host of 

areas for NABARD and NABFOUNDATION to make a 

difference. If I still had to really focus on one area for 

NABFOUNDATION then I guess it has to be Climate 

Proofing. 

The reasons are all around us to see. The drop 

in wheat production this year, falling water tables in 

many parts of the country and agri distress – there 

is one common, unifying theme and that is climate 

change.  And though some of us in cities – and by 

that, I mean cities across the world – may feel a sense 

of insulation today, this change is going to impact 

each and everyone sooner than later. 

What can we do about this in NABARD and 

NABFOUNDATION? Well, a starting point can be 

incorporating issues of climate change into each 

development project. This would mean a bit of re-

calibration in fund allocation at policy level and 

yes, a lot more coordination among development 

departments of NABARD. Each policy document 

should be a collaborative document. Individual 

departments taking up policy formulation in silos 

will not lead to a unified action in climate proofing. 

This has to come out not just in large-scale climate 

proofing projects but also in livelihoods, skilling and 

farmer outreach programs with an eye 

on the current and future challenges.  

I think the nation expects that from us.



40

NABFOUNDATION Annual Report 2021-22

Q1. Food price inflation in rural areas has 

more than doubled, from 3.94% in March 2021 

to 8.04% in March 2022. As an organization 

working for the rural population, should this 

be concerning us? How can we address this 

through our development projects?

Of course it concerns us as 

an organization. Food inflation is 

devastating for the poorest and 

most vulnerable people. Let me put it simply: food 

inflation impacts the poor intensely because they 

have to spend so much more on food in this situation. 

World Bank estimates mention that for every one 

percentage point increase in food prices, 10 million 

people are pushed into poverty. Further, with food 

inflation, malnutrition is expected to grow and its 

effects will be the hardest to reverse in children. 

You need to understand the structure and role 

of NABARD as a Development Financial Institution to 

get a grip on how we address this issue. 

As a DFI, improving the flow of ground level credit 

is a major tool NABARD focussed upon traditionally.  

The premise is -  adequate and timely credit will result 

in supply of proper agri-inputs and lead to higher 

production, and thus impact food inflation.  We have 

indeed covered a huge distance on this front. During 

2021-22, Rs.17.10 lakh crore was disbursed (provisional) 

against the target of Rs.16.50 lakh crore, registering a 

104% achievement. The GLC target for the year 2022-

23 has been increased to Rs.18 lakh crore. 

In conversation with
Shri PVS Suryakumar,  
Deputy Managing Director, NABARD
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Then there are individual projects we take 

up across the country which directly or indirectly 

impact food inflation. Think of soil conservation, 

water harvesting or any climate proofing project 

intervention. What are we trying to address? 

Productivity and enhanced income of farmers.  What 

is this all finally impacting? Food inflation. 

One clear example comes to my mind here. 

The ‘ProSoil’ project which NABARD is running 

under technical cooperation with GIZ supports “Soil 

Protection and Rehabilitation for Food Security in 

India” in 5 districts of Maharashtra and 2 districts of 

Madhya Pradesh with grant support of Euro 15.725 

million from GIZ. The objective of the programme is 

promotion of soil conservation measures to improve 

crop productivity, and we have run hundreds of such 

related projects over the last three decades or so. 

 NABARD has also recently entered into a 

Technical Cooperation on “Capacity Enhancement 

for Sustainable Agriculture and Sustainable 

Aquaculture” (C-SASA) project with GIZ. The project 

aims to provide technical support to NABARD’s existing 

portfolio such as Watershed and Tribal Development, 

through development and deployment of GIS-based 

decision support system to map and analyse the 

projects. The programme is being implemented in 

the states of Odisha and Telangana.

The Dairy Processing and Infrastructure 

Development Fund set up in NABARD envisages 

creation and modernisation of milk processing 

facilities and other dairy related infrastructure 

within an implementing period of up to FY 2023. This 

is again, a very viable tool to fight food inflation. 

I will also include the Fisheries and Aquaculture 

Infrastructure Development Fund here which 

finances public infrastructure components through 

state governments/UTs for various fishery-based 

infrastructure activities in the same category.

The limited point which I am making is that each 

institution makes an impact in its own unique way. For 

RBI, inflation means controlling the supply of money. 

For the Government it means MSP and FSI operations. 

For us at NABARD, it is a mix of policy driven efforts and 

ground level interventions aimed towards setting up 

‘light-house projects.’ These projects are envisioned to 

emerge as islands of excellence for all policy framers 

to learn from and replicate. For the past 40 years, 

the principles of rural innovation and convergence 

have guided every intervention of NABARD, making 

it the torchbearer for some of the most successful 

rural development initiatives. Examples abound. 

The NABARD SHG-bank linkage programme is the 

world’s largest microfinance program which laid the 

foundation of NRLM policy framework. So essentially, 

the overarching goal has been to set 

up projects which can be replicated 

by other stakeholders.  
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Q2. Studies show that there has been 

a 45% growth in active internet users in 

rural areas. What does this mean for us in 

the development sector? How can we 

tap into this increase from a policy design 

perspective?

Yes, I agree, this has indeed been 

one phenomenal jump with huge 

implications for the whole economy. 

The 45% growth in ‘active internet users’ in rural India 

since 2019, reported in the Bharat 2.0 Internet report 

is indeed good news and offers a lot of scope for the 

development sector. From a policy perspective, this 

presents us with a lot of avenues. 

Look at the sheer jump in the number of agri 

start-ups bringing Internet of Things (IoT) solutions 

into agri space highlighting new possibilities and also 

eliminating the need for farmers and growers to do 

physical labour. We see minimization of waste and 

increased productivity in a variety of ways, from 

the amount of fertilizer used to the number of rides 

taken by farm vehicles, as well as the effective use of 

resources like water and electricity. Farmers can keep 

an eye on their fields from anywhere and get real-

time access to important information such as weather 

forecasts or crop prices. Marketing opportunities can 

rise through high-speed networks. So, from a purely 

developmental policy perspective, I do believe that 

this throws open multiple opportunities to make a 

difference.

Also, let us not forget the SME angle. With 

the availability of internet in rural areas, our rural 

businesses and entrepreneurs have tremendous 

scope for growth. The connectivity will allow many 

start-ups and small-scale businesses to reach 

potential customers directly.  In our recent initiative 

in Ladakh, the nomadic tribes are looking at 

London, Dubai and Paris as their potential clients! 

The NABFOUNDATION tie up with Innotera is going to 

bring e-commerce closer home to FPOs. This was all 

unimaginable earlier. 

The pre-existing businesses will be given a boost 

as they understand the demand pattern better. At 

the same time, new endeavours could also be made 

possible.

From the day I joined NABARD, we have had 

this major aspiration of enhancing employment 

opportunities and reducing migration. I believe 

that internet will make all that more tangible, more 

scalable, more possible.  So yes, I am 

indeed excited about the possibilities 

which technology brings along.



43

Q3. Given the current social 

infrastructure, what are the means to boost 

entrepreneurship in rural areas?

This is indeed a vast canvas. But let 

us first look at what is ailing the sector. 

Rural entrepreneurs face multiple 

challenges in starting, scaling and growing a business. 

Access to quality digital infrastructure, access to 

finance, understanding about financial products, 

difficulty in attracting and retaining skilled workers, 

seasonal challenges of migration and access to new 

markets are only some of the major issues here. Like 

the Indian farmer, the rural entrepreneur also faces 

multiple challenges.

Let me quote Dr. Verghese Kurien here who said 

that “India’s place in the sun would come from the 

partnership between wisdom of its rural people and 

skill of its professionals.” What an amazing thought it 

is indeed!

Our success in ushering in an ‘amrit kaal’ of 

inclusive and sustainable development hinges 

upon our success in creating a resource pool of 

skilled, technologically competent entrepreneurs. 

Building an entrepreneurial culture and necessary 

skills among the rural youth and women has been 

a priority area for NABARD along with developing 

markets for the rural off-farm sector. Today, LEDP 

and MEDP are two such flagship programmes. Such 

programmes need to be replicated and rapidly 

scaled up. NABARD has also been actively involved 

in promoting innovations in rural areas in Farm and 

Off-farm sectors. In line with the vision of Atma 

Nirbhar Bharat, entrepreneurship promotion and 

simultaneous capacity building activities, offer an 

opportunity for industry to participate in the rural 

economy and cater to local markets through village 

level distributors and retailers. This will enable long-

term self-sufficiency of the rural markets.

 It is also important to keep women at the 

centre of this entrepreneurship revolution in rural 

India – another theme which has been a constant 

in NABARD’s thought process. Investing in women 

led entrepreneurship channels and promoting 

financial inclusion for women will encourage women 

entrepreneurship and development of cottage 

industries and other products. For private sector 

organizations, this will serve as an opportunity that 

translates into a greater access to 

production and distribution channels, 

including SHGs.
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Q4. Due to Covid-19, there was large-

scale reverse migration in the country. 

According to CMIE, the total unemployment 

rate in rural areas, as of April 2022, 

stood at 7.18%. Will tackling large scale 

unemployment always be in the domain of 

GOI or is there a need for a larger public-

private partnership for livelihood projects

This is a good question. No 

government, and not India for sure 

with its economic status, can fight 

unemployment on its own. Governments are nothing 

but people… right? And people need to come 

together with people to make a real difference. And 

so, in a line the answer to your question is – Yes, there 

is a need for larger public-private partnership for 

livelihood projects. 

In a study conducted by NABARD covering the 

covid-induced migration in seven states where the 

problem of reverse migration was most acute, we 

found that primary reason for the reverse migration 

was lack of employment in the destination place 

(urban area). For them, agriculture Sector, which is 

already overcrowded, was the silver lining in the dark 

clouds, with over 40% of the reverse migrants relying 

on it for livelihood. These are huge figures and we are 

talking about millions here! Surely no government 

can fill this big a hole.  Unless, the private sector 

matures, brings more formalized HR eco-systems 

and above all, becomes more empathetic, the 

migration and unemployment issues will continue to 

plague the economy. When I say lack of empathy, 

I am pointing at hundreds of instances where rural 

migrant labourers were summarily dismissed, salaries 

were halved, and the labourers were simply asked to 

go back. This was cruel, in a word.

Our survey showed that even after all the 

bludgeoning, 55% of the reverse migrants wished to 

return to the city with the major pull factor behind this 

being higher income possibility in urban areas! Can 

you imagine the plight of their dependence upon a 

system which they already know is not designed to be 

positive. So, real change will demand a convergence 

of efforts.

Provisional data for the month of April 2022 

indicates a turnaround in the employment situation 

in rural areas. The number of households seeking 

work under MGNREGA in April was 11.15% lower than 

the numbers in the same month last year. Given this 

background, it is clear that while government has 

been undertaking efforts to tackle this crucial issue 

of rural unemployment, a collective approach with 

partnership from the private sector would allow for 

more resources and increase the scope to serve a 

larger population. 
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The silver lining is that the Indian economy is 

characterised by the existence of a vast majority 

of informal or unorganised labour employment 

(about 90%). We need to formalize it by bringing 

in a sense of higher accountability, better wages, 

better living conditions and a kind of equity among 

the employers. The private sector has strong links 

to higher investments in education and vocational 

training to bridge skill gaps in the economy. It can 

facilitate skilling  and training programmes, create 

partnerships with educational institutes and experts 

and, most importantly, create a future-ready and 

talented workforce. Surely the Indian government 

will welcome this. Furthermore, private investments 

by the corporate sector are critical to higher growth 

rates and economic development. More investment 

creates a multiplier effect in the economy by 

generating both direct and indirect 

employment, boosting consumption 

and fostering further development.

Question 5. What vision do you have 

for NABFOUNDATION in the next 5 years, 

in terms of ideating and implementing 

innovative development projects?

Look, from the very beginning, 

as I see it, the vision behind setting 

up NABFOUNDATION was to design 

innovative development projects that re-instate, re-

inforce and bring a renewed vision to NABARD’s rural 

development agenda. My vision for NABFOUNDATION 

was and continues to be built upon the core guiding 

principles of NABARD, that is, imagining ‘light-house 

projects’ and forging solid partnerships to give them 

a shape. I do not see NABFOUNDATION as an NGO 

because that is not our core strength and we will be 

getting into a space which is already overcrowded. 

India, as you know, has some 31 lakh NGOs, more 

than double the number of schools! So, we need to 

steer away from that path.

I believe that NABFOUNDATION must aim 

to emerge as a stand-alone organization, with 

adequate funds to further NABARD’s footprint at the 

ground level. I see immense potential and synergy 

between NABFOUNDATION and other subsidiaries 

of NABARD such as NABVENTURES, who are in the 

business of social impact funding. 

I firmly believe that NABFOUNDATION’s presence 

and capacity can also help new-age entities and 

agri-stakeholders such as agri-startups, to streamline 

their efforts and bring forth a 

development trajectory for rural India 

like never before!
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The financial year 2021-
22 continued with the saga of 
surprises, a reality which has 
indeed become a part of our 
conscious minds in the post-covid 
environment. While Covid let out a scary hiss 

before being hushed down (atleast for now) the war 

in Ukraine shook the very foundations of what we 

liked to know as the civilized post WWII civilization.  

On the development front, throughout the last 

year, the Indian government took 
some bold decisions aimed at 
injecting the economy with a 
booster dose of long-term capital 
expenditure. Health infrastructure, quite 

unsurprisingly, was the high point of conversation for 

both Centre and State Governments. The stress on 

supporting MFIs, through a new policy regime and 

maintaining easy liquidity, continued with special 

focus on MSMEs in RBI’s monetary policy. The silver 

lining was of course the fact that GST collections 

continued to increase, allowing the Government to 

breathe a bit easier! But then, the specter of $100 a 

barrel for crude may wash away the incremental joy 

on the GST front.  

Clearly, in an interconnected world, nothing can 

be taken for granted, and each situation comes with 

challenges and opportunities at multiple levels in 

every society. This interconnectedness, we realized 

is hugely relevant for a development foundation like 

ours.

From the CEO’s desk
Shri Sanjeev D Rohilla
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Rural aspirations today are at 
par with urban aspirations, and 
that within itself is a huge game 
changer with huge ramifications 
in designing policy frameworks 
and the ‘happiness quotient’ of the 
nation.  

Under project ‘My Pad | My Right,’ we realized 

that rural women were not content with pads which 

did not look like the pads being sold in urban areas. 

They demanded wings on their pads and a similar 

look and feel as pads being sold commercially.  Our 

tribal stakeholders who came together to form a 

company for value addition through processing of 

broom grass chose to work on designs based upon 

their understanding of what will sell in European 

markets through Amazon! The farmers in the arid 

district of Jodhpur were not content with the idea 

of selling their cereals in Jaipur or Udaipur. They 

wanted to connect with consumers in Bangalore 

and Chennai through networking with agencies 

with an e-commerce background. Our Looms of 

Ladakh Cooperative women, sitting in the icy plains 

of Ladakh are already looking at Dubai, London 

and Paris as their core markets! The world is 
indeed changing and aspirations 
are driving the change; and rural 
India, at least in chunks, if not all, 
is a definite part of that changing 
world. This has to be seen differently and 

separately from the earlier policy driven changes in 

the country during 70s, 80s and to some extent even 

90s. 

But interconnectedness comes with huge risks as 

well, which takes me back to the analogy of Ukraine 

crisis. The Ukraine war came with a mixed bag of 

developments. In what makes a terrible headline, 

it brought cheer to the Indian farmer community! 

“Open market prices of wheat are up by 17%, 

mustard by 30%, barley by 67% and soya bean up 

by 36% compared to April 2021!” There were multiple 

flip sides to this of course. The higher crude oil has 

resulted in higher cost-push inflation weighing in on 

all economic agents—households, businesses, and 

government. Morgan Stanley had pegged retail 

inflation at 6% for the fiscal year 2023, much higher 

than the RBI’s 4.5%, but India’s retail inflation had 

already surged to 6.95% by March 2022! A mirror 

indeed to the difference between estimates and 

realities.

How do development 
organizations insulate themselves 
from the challenges of an 
interconnected world? How to meet 

enhanced costs due to sudden inflationary bursts, 

natural calamities or unnatural impact of Covid-like 

situations?  Can a development organization pre-

imagine all dark possibilities? Will the donor agency 

be one with the implementing agency in the event 

of such mid-course corrections requiring additional 

budgets? Tough questions, indeed, with individual 

Foundations having faced these challenges in some 

format or the other, each year.
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In our case, we had the umbrella of NABARD and 

NABARD’s subsidiaries which helped us sail through 

the on-ground challenges. In the case of My Pad | 

My Right, our request for allowing interested SHGs to 

go in for semi-automatic machines was accepted. 

The on-ground Covid induced delays in launch 

of Project NEW were considered sympathetically 

while one of our senior colleagues from NABARD 

volunteered to contribute Rs. 1 Lakh which was 

used to ease the enhanced costs in the solar power 

based RO Unit project in Jodhpur. The last year 
established for us the fact that we 
need to lay a huge focus on risk 
management – an area which 
has been largely the domain of 
corporates till now.

This year we also got more organically linked with 

the development space through professional tie-ups 

with like-minded stakeholders. Central Warehousing 

Corporation (CWC), Innotera and Nurture.Farm were 

the amazing organizations with which entered into 

MoUs for broad-basing our development work.

The Annual Report this year takes a look at 

how we fared in individual projects with complete 

transparency.  It was a year of moderate successes, 

in all honesty. We made good progress on almost 

all the fronts but closure eluded us largely due to 

after-effects of the Covid pandemic. There were 

predictable delays in project launches due to field 

level exigencies. 

We approached the top management of 

NABARD this time to get their perspective about 

not just the kind of challenges we face in the 

current environment, but also to get a sense of their 

vision about what this Foundation should aspire to 

become. As the primary founders of this organization, 

their perspective matters a lot and we took this 

opportunity to discover the same through close one-

to-one interactions.

As we take our journey forward in the 

development space as both, a project designer 

and part implementation agency, we realize the 

challenges which lie ahead. The real world is 
a place which cannot be covered 
within the premises of even the 
best drafted circular. But the real 
world is exciting and embraces 
those who are able to change and 
evolve.  The entire NABFOUNDATION team is 

aware of this truth as it works towards becoming 

more aware, more professional and more ready for 

field-level uncertainties. 



49



50

NABFOUNDATION Annual Report 2021-22

Overview of the 
Development Ecosystem 
2021-22

Chapter 4:
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New: Year, Opportunities, 
Challenges 

This year, India’s battles on the development front 
were not only limited to tackling the impact of Covid-19 
and the new Omicron variant, but also responding to 
the massive humanitarian crises which had unfolded 
at all three levels of administration- local, national and 
global. From the passing of the Farm Laws Bill and their 
repeal, to the breaking out of the Russia-Ukraine war, 
India continuously confronted natural and man-made 
disasters. 

Although the development sector, policy makers 
and leaders of the country made significant strides in 
breaking the fall through adoption of strategic response 
mechanisms, the sporadic shifts between stability and 
chaos resulted in, what can best be summed up as a, 
‘stumbling but learning economy.’

  

Today, we have some sectors of the economy 
flourishing, new ones emerging, others picking pace 
and some yet to find the traction they had in the pre-
pandemic times.  There is no doubt that innovative, 
decentralized and need-specific interventions are 
required through strong public-private partnerships to 
truly enhance the lives of people. Over the course 
of the next few sections, an attempt has been 
made to shed light on the extent to which 
global and local phenomena have impacted 
the Indian economy and in fact, opened up 
new questions/possibilities for the development 
sector to re-grow.

-Stuti Banga
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Economic Trends for 2021-22

According to the World Bank, global growth is projected 
to slow down from an estimated 6.1% in 2021 to 3.6% 
in 2022 and 2023. The while the Indian economy is 
projected to grow at 8%, a cutdown from the earlier 
projection of 9.5% for 2022.

India’s GDP growth rate for the FY 2021-22 was around 
8.7%, a growth rate which can be summed up as 
reassuring when seen against the growth rates of most 
developed and developing nations.

As per RBI, a total FDI inflow of  USD 74.01 billion has been 
reported in the calendar year 2021, as compared to 
USD 87.55 billion in the calendar year 2020.

The average annual CPI inflation for FY22 came in at 
5.51%, higher than RBI’s projection of 5.30%.

Fiscal deficit was tad higher at 6.9% for 2021-2022, and 
at 6.4% for 2022-23, but given the 35% increase in capital 
expenditure, government has chosen to be pro-growth 
and refrained from undertaking aggressive fiscal 
consolidation at this early stage of economic recovery.

Food price inflation in rural areas more than doubled, 
from 3.94% in March 2021 to 8.04% in March 2022.

Retail inflation showed trends of what was to come in 
the next year with a steady increase in all indices.

Impacted by the overall crude and edible oil prices, 
India’s trade deficit rose by 87.5% to USD 192.41 billion 
in 2021-22, as against USD 102.63 billion in the previous 
year.
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The total development expenditure by the government 
for the year 2021-22 was around Rs. 16,35,631 crore, of 
which social services included around Rs. 2,18,088 crore 
and economic services included Rs. 10,77,858 crore. 
(RBI, 2021-22).

By September 2021, total unemployment rate in India 
was 8.30%; For urban India it was 9.70%, while the same 
for rural India was 7.7%. (Centre for Monitoring Indian 
Economy)

India’s informal economy shrunk to 15-20% of the GDP in 
2020-21, from 52% in 2017-18. This has been indeed one 
of the biggest blows to the very structure of the Indian 
economy in the post Covid scenario. In a quick GOI 
response, we saw the budget allocation for MSMEs in 
FY22 more than doubling to Rs. 15,700 crore (US$ 2.14 
billion) vis-à-vis Rs. 7,572 crore (US$ 1.03 billion) in FY21.

Indian start-ups have increased from 733 in 2016-17 to 
over 14,000 in 2021-22

In a heartening development, about 65% of the 
companies spent more than their prescribed CSR 
Budget during 2021-22, with most of the increase being 
on health and medication in the post Covid scenario.

The Global Gender Gap Report 2021 concluded that 
the gender gap in India had widened to 62.5%.

The scary rise of inequality at the global level and scale 
was found to have engulfed India too, with Oxfam 
International showing that India’s top 1% owned about 
77% of the country’s wealth in 2021.

The Infant Mortality Rate (IMR) in urban areas was at 
26.6 while in rural areas it was at 38.4. Moreover, in rural 
areas approximately 21.2% women had BMI below the 
normal levels as against 13.2% in urban areas. (2019-21)

The growth rate of the agrarian sector was 3.9% in 2021-
22.

India’s agri exports crossed USD 50 billion for the year 
2021-22.
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Budget for 2021-22
The Union Budget 2021-22 was the first-of-its-kind in 

numerous ways. It focused on six pillars for reviving the 
economy:

1. Health and Well-being
2. Inclusive development for aspirational India
3. Physical and Financial Capital and 

Infrastructure
4. Reinvigorating Human Capital
5. Innovation and R&D 
6. Minimum Government and Maximum 

Governance

Health at the forefront
The pandemic has proven to be climacteric in 

emphasizing the need to develop, and enhance, the 
overall health infrastructure in the country, particularly in 
rural India. This need was acted upon by the government 
to a large extent and reflected in the allocation of Rs 
2,23,846 Crore in the budget for 2021-22, with a 
137% increase from the previous year. In addition 
to this, there has been an allocation of around Rs. 6 crore 
to the Pradhan Mantri Aatma Nirbhar Swasth Bharat 
Yojana to ramp up the primary, secondary and tertiary 
level care institutions, existing national institutions, and 
create new institutions to cater to the detection and 
cure for new and emerging diseases in the coming six 
years. The budget has also identified the significant lack 
in the rural health infrastructure facilities. Consequently, 
the budget shows the target of improving around 17,000 
rural health and wellness centres.
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Covid as a continuing priority 
Covid vaccination continued to be one of the key 

priorities of the health sector. With a Rs. 35,000 crore 
allocation for promoting vaccination for the 1.3 
billion population, India’s covid vaccination 
drive emerged as the largest vaccination drive 
in the world. 

A key factor in promoting the adoption of the 
vaccination was also effectively tackling the bogey of 
fears, myths and ill-conceived notions relating to Covid 
vaccination in rural areas. On-ground analysis found 
that apart from shortage of supplies, preconceived 
notions pertaining to the vaccination appeared to 
be a major hurdle in vaccine adoption by rural India. 
This was further validated through evidence which 
showed that as of May 14, 2021, despite 60% of 
the cases arising from rural India, only 15% of 
the rural inhabitants had received the first shot 
of the vaccine, in contrast to 30% of the urban 
inhabitants. Moreover, in May 2021, 30.3 doses of the 
vaccine were administered per 100 persons in urban 
areas as opposed to 12.7 in rural areas. 

Herein technology-driven and innovative 
information dissemination mechanisms were actively 
taken up by the government to raise awareness. 
One such example is changing of caller tunes across 
the country to give messages about covid and the 
vaccination to the caller. 

Emergence of Telemedicine 
WHO norms specify the need for 1 doctor for every 

1000 people. However, in India, there is an average of 1 
doctor for 1511 people. In rural areas, the situation 
is significantly more grave wherein the doctor-
patient ratio is as low as 1 doctor per 25,000 
citizens. Studies highlight that although nearly 70% 
of Indians live in rural villages, more than 75% of Indian 
doctors and healthcare providers are based in cities, 
leaving around 620 million rural Indians without access 
to basic healthcare facilities. 

Clearly, in a nation low on health indices, an out 
of the box solution was required and the National 
Telemedicine Service ‘eSanjeevani’ rolled out in 
November 2019 was one such effort. This programme 
aims to implement tele-consultation in all the 1.5 lakh 
Health and Wellness Centres in a ‘Hub and Spoke’ 
model, by December 2022.  Till date, eSanjeevani 
has completed around 2 crore consultations 
with over 1,00,000 patients seeking health 
services on a daily basis in 35 States/UTs. 

 

Source: https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Doctor_attending_by_teleconsultation.jpg
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Those who were neglected
The Infant Mortality Rate (IMR) in urban 

areas was at 26.6 while in rural areas it was at 
38.4. Moreover, in rural areas approximately 
21.2% women had BMI below the normal levels 
as against 13.2% in urban areas. (NFHS, 2019-21) 

The National Family Health Survey 2019-21 shows 
a sharp rural-urban divide in the health indicators of 
women. These indictors have been a clear reflection 
of the impending need to boost health facilities in rural 
areas, particularly for women, whose health is often 
neglected.

On-field studies also urge us to draw our attention 
to the ways in which the pandemic has exerted 
overwhelming levels of strains on the livelihoods on 
women engaged as frontline workers. As a matter 
of fact, in India, women make up the majority 
of the workforce engaged as frontline public 
health workers with professions such as Anganwadi 
workers, nurse midwives, ASHA workers and 
hospital workers. Studies have shown that during the 
pandemic, many of these public health workers were ill-
equipped in terms of knowledge, protective gear and 
protocols for dealing with the situation. In a 2021 article, 
Forbes India brought light to the plight of the ASHA 
workers. The article discusses the lives of several ASHA 
workers who were severely underpaid.



57

GOVERNMENT  EXPENDITURE ON 
HEALTH

Moving Forward
One of the most palpable impacts of the 

pandemic has been the reinstatement of the ‘health of 
the population’ as the underlying driving force of the 
economy.

The 2022 budget presents heavy investment 
in preventive care by fastening the efforts towards 
diagnostics, research, and emergencies. INR 86,200 
crores has been allocated as a budget for the 
pharmaceutical and healthcare sector.

A comparative analysis with the previous years’ 
spending on this sector  and corresponding global 
spending standards, shows us the scope of filling out 
some major gaps that continue to persist in the health 
expenditure spending. The need to strengthen state 
medical infrastructure has been heavily emphasized. For 
example, studies show that out of every Rs. 100 
expenditure on health in Sweden, government 
spends Rs. 84. This share is Rs. 83.6 for Japan, Rs. 
77 for Germany Rs. 77.8 for Thailand, Rs. 83.1 for 
England and Rs. 78.2 in France. In India, it is only 
about Rs. 30. 

While health has finally taken the centre stage in 
our lives and to a large extent in policy design, there still 
remains quite a distance that we need to cover.

Sweden Japan Germany

Thailand England France

India

State expenditure 
on health

Total expenditure 
on health
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Agriculture: The backbone of 
the economy

With an allocated budget of Rs. 1,31,531 crore, 
and growth rate of 3.9% in 2021-22, the agrarian 
sector has been and continues to be, the backbone 
of the Indian economy. In fact, India’s agri exports 
crossed USD 50 billion for the year 2021-22, 
notwithstanding logistic challenges posed by COVID-19 
pandemic in the form of high freight rates, container 
shortages, etc. APEDA (Agricultural and Processed Food 
Products Export Development Authority) scripted a new 
history by exporting USD 25.6 billion worth of agricultural 
and processed food products which accounted for 51% of 
India’s total agricultural exports of USD 50 billion. Moreover, 
the Economic Survey noted that the agriculture and 
allied sector was the largest employer of workforce 
in 2021-22 as it accounted for a sizeable 18.8 per 
cent in Gross Value Added (GVA) of the country.

Key Policy Highlights and pointers 2021-22
Some of the key policy highlights from the Union 

Budget of 2021-22 have modelled the agrarian sector into 
its current shape and positionality. Here is a closer look at 
them: 

• To ensure availability of higher credit to the 
farmers and for animal  husbandry, dairy and 
fisheries sector, the target for agricultural credit 
was increased to INR16.5 lakh crores.

• Enhanced allocation to Rural Infrastructure 
Development Fund from INR 30,000 crores to INR 
40,000 crores, to facilitate availability of additional 
funds for agricultural and allied activities.

• Enhanced allocation to Micro Irrigation Fund 
from INR5,000 crores to INR10,000 crores, for 
mobilization of additional resources for expanding 
coverage under micro-irrigation.

• Expansion of ‘Operation Green Scheme’ to 
include additional 22 perishable products 
providing a boost to integrated development of 
agriculture value chain and exports.

• Integration of 1000 more mandis with e-National 
Agriculture Market with a view to increase 
transparency and competitiveness in agricultural 
markets.

• Agriculture Infrastructure Fund to be made 
available to APMCs augmenting availability of 
funds with APMCs for their infrastructure facilities.

(Source: EY)

RURAL INFRASTRUCTURE 
DEVELOPMENT FUND

INR 30,000 
Crores

INR 40,000 
Crores

2020-21

2021-22

AGRICULTURAL CREDIT 

INR 16.5 Lakh 
Crores

2021-22
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Technology, Agriculture and Farmers
It is estimated that there are about 600 to 700 

agritech startups in India operating at different levels 
of agri-value chains, which have revolutionized the 
agrarian space in a plethora of ways. We find that the 
novelty of startup-led value chain transformation is not 
limited to empowering farmers but also co-opting local 
grocery, mom-and-pop, and kirana stores as well as 
small agrifood businesses that are an integral part of the 
agrifood ecosystem. Several studies even mention that 
“Agritech startups-led e-commerce platforms have the 
potential to steer the shift from government-controlled 
agricultural markets towards more demand-driven 
digital markets.”

Globally, India is competing with the US and China 
in the agri-startup space.  According to Agfunder, India 
witnessed an increase in funding from $619 million in 
2020 to $2 billion in 2021, behind the US ($9.5 billion) and 
China ($4.5 billion). An Ernst &Young 2020 study even 
pegged the Indian agritech market potential at 
$24 billion by 2025, however, it also stated that 
only 1 per cent of this has been captured so 
far. Therefore, the sustainability and scalability of these 
ventures has become critical. 

From the perspective of the budget (2022-23), 
the government stated that it will facilitate a fund 
with blended capital raised under the co-investment 
model through NABARD, which will finance start-ups 
for agriculture and rural enterprise relevant for farm 
produce value chain. The activities of these start-ups 
will include inter-area support for farmer-producer 
organisations (FPOs), machinery for farmers on a rental 
basis at the farm level and technology. According 
to Amith Aggarwal, CEO & Co-Founder, Agribazaar, 
this allocation will  have a tremendous impact on the 
agritech players in the country. 

“The rural agri fund will help drive greater 
outlay and build a world-class agri infrastructure. 
These investments will reduce farm-to-fork 
wastage and usher scientific crop growing and 
post-harvest facilities.” 
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Highs and Lows
The Russia-Ukraine war has brought forth a 

concoction of opportunities and threats for the Indian 
economy, particularly the agrarian space. Food price 
inflation in rural areas more than doubled from 
3.94% in March 2021 to 8.04% in March 2022. 
Additionally, as a result of the war, inflation in ‘oils and 
fats’ rose to 18.79%, pushing the edible oil prices higher. 
Vegetable inflation surged to 11.64% in March, while 
in ‘meat and fish’ the rate of price rise stood at 9.63% 
compared to February 2022. The elevated global oil 
prices to the transport sector could also indirectly affect 
the prices of other commodities, adding to the core 
pressures. 

April 2022 opened a new market for India to 
supply wheat to the entire world but internal national 
dynamics saw this window being closed for the Indian 
farmer almost as soon as it had opened. On the brighter 
side, several international firms have noted that the high 
prices of commodities in domestic and global markets 
may infuse extra Rs 31,000 crore income into the rural 
economy from Rabi crops. In April 2022, the prices of 
wheat in open markets were up by 17%, mustard by 30%, 
barley by 67% and soybean by 36%, in comparison to 
April 2021. Mustard, the second most important Rabi 
crop in India, has seen a 30% higher sowing in FY22 versus 
FY21 and is slated to be the second-largest contributor 
to farm income in the coming year of 2022-23. 

30%

2020-21 2021-22

HIGHER SOWING

MUSTARD
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Livelihoods 
“A livelihood comprises the capabilities, assets, 

and activities required for a means of living. A livelihood 
is sustainable when it can cope with and recover 
from stresses and shocks and maintain or enhance 
its capabilities and assets both now and in the future, 
while not undermining the natural resource base.” 
(Department of International Development 2000)

The pandemic not only led to generation but 
also exacerbation of vulnerabilities. Ergo, in order to 
unpack the gradient of the impact this has had on 
our population, defining ‘livelihoods’ has emerged as 
an integral starting point. A previously used and often 
forgotten definition by the Department of International 
Development, has once again found its utility in 
capturing the essence of ‘livelihoods’ in the aftermath 
of the pandemic. (SOIL, 2021-22). This definition is in fact, 
a guiding principle for all policy-makers and analysts to 
strive for in the design, implementation, and evaluation 
of public policy. 

Informal Workers and the economy 
The pandemic has very evidently had an uneven 

impact on the livelihoods of our population. Some of the 
most affected sectors have been- Tourism, Hospitality, 
Transport, Textiles and Crafts sector, and Construction. 
The pandemic also shed light on some inherently 
vulnerable occupations which were “completely wiped 
out in specific locations and clusters, for example, street 
vendors, waste pickers, performance artists, restaurant 
workers, pastoralists, barbers, artisans. A significant 
portion of this unorganized/informal sector comprises of 
migrant labour. While the informal sector constitutes 90% 
of India’s workforce and contributes to approximately 
50% of the GDP, the labour here lacks social security, job 
security, proper housing and generally depend on daily 
wages.” (SOIL, 2021-22) A report issued by the State 
Bank of India (SBI) in October 2021 estimated 
that India’s informal economy shrunk to 15-20% 
of the GDP in 2020-21 from 52% in 2017-18. 
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National Rural Employment Guarantee 
Act

The Economic Survey 2021-22 observed that 
the MGNREGA employment peaked during the 
nationwide lockdown in 2020. However, an ironic trend 
was observed in many migrant source states like West 
Bengal, Madhya Pradesh, Odisha, Bihar, in which the 
MGNREGA employment in most months of 2021 was 
found to be lower than the corresponding level in 2020. 
In contrast, the demand for MGNREGS employment 
has been higher for migrant recipient states like Punjab, 
Maharashtra, Karnataka and Tamil Nadu for most 
months in 2021 over 2020. During the second Covid 
wave, demand for MGNREGS employment reached the 
maximum level of 4.59 crore persons in June 2021.

Although MNREGA acted as a saviour for many 
rural households, especially in the background of the 
detrimental impact caused by the pandemic, some 
issues have been identified hindering MNREGA from 
achieving its fullest potential. These include issues with 
social auditing. For example: for 2020-21, only 0.65% 
of gram panchayats were audited twice as per the 
prescribed mandate. Further, the wages offered under 
MNREGA continue to be lower than the minimum wage 
limit. While in 2021, the government revised the wage 
rate to increase to about 8-10%, many reports show that 
the revised wage rates continue to remain below the 
minimum wage limit. What also came to light was the 
fact that there was no increase in Kerala’s MGNREGA 
wage rates in comparison to 2020-21. Rajasthan’s wage 
rate increased by just Re 1. In fact, for 24 states, the 
increase in the MGNREGA wage rate was less than 5 
percent.
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Wages and Unemployment
With Covid-19 and the reverse migration, many 

people in rural India were unable to find gainful 
employment. According to Centre for Monitoring Indian 
Economy (CMIE), the country’s rural unemployment 
rate had shot up to about 22.9% in April 2020.  By 
September 2021, total unemployment rate in 
India was hovering at 8.30%.(9.70% for urban 
and 7.7%. for rural). The country’s rural labour force 
participation rate fell from 44% in January 2020 
to about 37.2% in April and remained below the 
2018 levels until mid-2021. 

Additionally, evidence showed that wages had 
begun stagnating before the start of the pandemic in 
rural areas. As per the data provided by Labour Bureau, 
in 2018, monthly farm wages grew at an average annual 
rate of 0.4% in nominal terms and 0.3% in rural areas.  
By 2019, these rates fell to 0.5% and negative 0.03% 
respectively. These declines have been attributed to 
inflation, not only in the country, but globally. The price 
pressures from agricultural goods and crude oil, among 
other goods, have kept overall global prices high. The 
resultant spill-over into domestic markets via trade, 
high input costs and other aspects has also pulled up 
domestic prices.
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Rural prosperity as the way 
forward

Approximately 800+ million people reside in rural 
India. With growing aspirations and potential, the 
NITI Aayog has identified that the growth of the rural 
economy is imperative for the future of the country. This 
growth of the rural economy can be brought in through 
the following ways-

1. Supporting micro-enterprises
2. Ensuring good quality products from rural 

areas are able to tap into major Indian markets
3. Upskilling of rural youth and embedding the 

potential of entrepreneurship within them
4. Ensuring and improving financial inclusion 

to unlock the potential of micro and small 
enterprises and reducing vulnerabilities of the 
rural communities to income shocks

5. Collaboration of the state, market, civil society 
and rural youth to help materialize this vision 
into reality. 
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Education
The Annual Status of Education Report (ASER) 

2021 assessed the impact during the pandemic for 
education sector in rural areas. The report found that 
despite the pandemic, enrolment in age cohort of 15 
to 16 years continued to improve as number of ‘not 
enrolled’ children in this age group declined from 12.1 
% in 2018 to 6.6 % in 2021. However, the report also found 
that during pandemic, children (age 6-14 years) ‘not 
currently enrolled in schools’ increased from 2.5 % in 
2018 to 4.6 % in 2021. 

The ASER report observed that during pandemic, 
children in rural areas moved out of Private into 
Government schools across all age groups. Possible 
reasons suggested for the shift were: shut down of low 
cost private schools, financial distress of parents, free 
facilities in Government schools and families migrating 
back to villages. 

Although the availability of smart phones increased 
from 36.5% in 2018 to 67.6 % in 2021, the report stated that 
students in lower grade found it difficult to participate in 
online activities as compared to higher grade students. 
Non-availability of smart phones and connectivity 
issues were some of the challenges faced by students. 
However almost all enrolled children were provided 
with textbooks for their current grade (91.9%).
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Increasing Income 
Inequalities

Like observed in all nations across the globe, 
different segments of the population experienced 
the aftermath of the pandemic at varying degrees of 
intensity. According to the World Inequality Report 2022, 
the top 10% of Indians had, on average, about 
96 times more income than the bottom 50%. The 
report further elaborated that in 2021, the top 1% of the 
population in India earned more than one-fifth of the 
total national income while the bottom half earned just 
13.1%. This enormous difference in earnings has further 
resulted in excessive strains on low-income households. 
In a landscape of rising inflation rates and declining 
GDPs, the lack of not just economic but also social and 
cultural capital, accords the low-income households 
with exceedingly vulnerable positionalities. 

While India is progressing economically and 
recovering from the aftermath of the COVID-19 
pandemic, the billionaires in the country have increased 
from 9 in 2000 to 140 in 2021. On the surface, this may 
appear as economic progression however, a deep dive 
into the subject shows several structural inequalities at 
play with economic progression of only a select few: 
in 2021, India’s top 1% owned about 77% of the 
country’s wealth. (Oxfam International)

Ironically, the remaining 99% of the population of 
the Indian population, with less than 23% of the country’s 
wealth is the one that continues to contribute the most 
to the GDP, and yet remains at the margins.

77% 23%
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Minding (and mending) the 
Gender Gap

The Global Gender Gap Report 2021 by the World 
Economic Forum remarked that globally, the pandemic 
has impacted women more severely than men, and 
that too, to such an extent that it will take 135.6 years 
to bridge the gender gap worldwide. To quantify 
this gender gap, the report indexed 156 countries on 
4 parameters, namely- economic participation and 
opportunity, educational attainment, health and 
survival, and political empowerment. 

In the report, India attained a rank of 140 out 
of 156 countries, making it 17th from the bottom. In 
comparison to the previous year, India’s rank 
slipped down 28 positions. In fact, India has been 
the third-worst performer among the South Asian 
countries. A historical trend analysis of the report 
showcases that India has been progressively attaining 
lower positions over time, not just overall, but also on the 
sub-indices/parameters. 

The Global Gender Gap Report 2021 concluded 
that the gender gap in India has widened to 62.5%, 
largely due to women’s inadequate representation 
in politics, technical and leadership roles, decrease 
in women’s labour force participation rate, poor 
healthcare, lagging female to male literacy ratio, and 
income inequality. While the 4 indices on the report are 
not all-comprehensive measures of gender equality, 
they do bring to light several key starting points that 
should be taken into account for guiding policy design 
in the country.

The index of economic participation and 
opportunity further brings about questions around the 
female labour force participation (FLP) in the country 
and the scope for utilizing it as the focal point for 
intervention design. The Periodic Labour Force Survey 
2017-18 reports that the FLP Rate in India has declined 
from 33.1% in 2011-12 to 25.3% in 2017-18, thus recording 
a decline by 7.8%. Today, the FLP in India is just 
above 24% as opposed to the global average 
of 45%.  

A report by the ILO even identified unpaid care 
work as the most critical impediment in women’s formal 
employment, since it involves 21.7% of women as against 
1.7% of men. NITI Aayog further reports that globally, 
women invest 3 times more time on unpaid care work 
than men. In India, women spend 9.8 times more 
time on unpaid work, than men.
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Overall, India’s economic inequality has been 
linked as both, the cause and the consequence of 
gender inequality. The World Inequality Report 
2022 sheds light on the fact that today, women 
in India earn only 18% of the total labour 
income, as opposed to the global average of 
34%. However, if significant advances are made, the 
IMF calculates that equal participation of women in 
the Indian workforce can increase the GDP by 27%. 
More importantly, working towards women’s equal 
participation and earning can bring about a domino 
effect on their socio-political status, contributing to their 
overall empowerment.

Housing 
In a country like India, the need to adequately 

house a booming population is imperative for overall 
equitable growth. In 2021-22, the budget allocation 
to Pradhan Mantri Away Yojna (PMAY) rose from 
Rs. Rs 8,000.00 crore to Rs. 48,000 crore for the 
FY 2022-23. With a goal for ensuring ‘housing for all’ 
this scheme announced 80 lakh homes to be built by 
2023 both in rural and urban areas. 

The government has also integrated other central 
and state/UT schemes for the overall welfare of 
households by providing LPG connections under the 
Pradhan Mantri Ujjwala Scheme; electricity connections 
and safe drinking water access under the Jal Jeevan 
Mission; support unskilled labour wages under Mahatma 
Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Scheme 
(MGNREGS), etc.
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Rural India 
Status: Online

In a world where social distancing became our 
reality, technology emerged as the pivotal, and many 
times, the sole medium of maintaining connection. 
While existing government initiatives such as ‘digital 
India,’ had already encouraged wide-scale adoption 
of technology in India, the pandemic accelerated this 
adoption like never before. Rural India, particularly 
today, has undergone a series of changes in their 
perception and utilization of technology, including 
social media.  Here is a closer look at the social media 
usage, rural-urban dynamics and gender trends: 

The Indian WhatsApp users statistics showed a 
100 percent increase in rural areas, showing that this 
messaging service’s reach has widened beyond the 
urban areas. Aside from the popularity of WhatsApp in 
rural areas, Instagram is also seeing a larger rural Indian 
audience. 

In terms of the rural-urban divide, Nielsen’s Bharat 
2.0 study reveals a 45% growth in active internet 
users in rural India since 2019. This growth rate 
has outshone the growth of active internet users 
in urban India, which currently stands at 28%. 
As of December 2021, rural India registered a presence 
of 352 million internet users, which is almost 20% higher 
than urban India. In the study, mobile phones were 
observed as the key device for all internet usage across 
sectors. 

The female users’ growth in the last 2 years is a 
whopping 61% as compared to male users who grew at 
24%. Moreover, today, 1 in every 3 female internet users 
in rural India is actively using the internet. 

With regards to exploring the post-pandemic 
impact on consumer behaviour and purchase patterns 
across rural India, the 3rd edition of the Rural Barometer 
Report (2021) found that our rural citizens are more 
vigilant about their consumption patterns. 

The report mentioned that digital consumption 
in rural areas has shifted above and beyond basic 
services such as entertainment and social media to 
more economically valuable information and services. 
Although entertainment and social media remain the 
dominant factors of internet usage, more vocational 
information is being consumed via the internet. As 
an extension of this, there has been an emerging 

constituency of technology-enabled farmers, who 
are using digital apps to track their crops. According 
to the report, 5% of Farmers were using Crop 
Monitoring Apps and this digital adoption for 
crop monitoring is the strongest in the states of 
Karnataka, Punjab, Haryana, and Gujarat.

“Rural India is more confident in recovery and 
adopting new technology and putting it to the 
right use. There are existing concerns like nutrition 
and health of children in rural areas but thanks to 
Government intervention, rural purchasing power has 
improved. Close to a fifth of Rural India is concerned 
about the health parameters of their children. We’ve 
also witnessed rebalancing in FMCG spending. With 
technology penetrating further and rural consumers 
evolving in this digital and e-commerce led era, we see 
a brighter tomorrow in rural regions.”

Findings also show that rural India is on the 
periphery of an e-commerce revolution since there 
has been a massive increase in the number of users of 
e-commerce apps in the last 6-8 months. Digital financial 
inclusion continues to see a growing footprint. Payment 
apps, especially, have created a fertile ground for the 
advancement of e-commerce in rural hinterlands. 
While the usage is higher in urban areas, 46% of online 
banking/digital payment users are from rural India.

In the light of designing awareness generation 
interventions for rural India, it has been revealed that 
close to 440 million users watch videos on the internet, 
of which 54% are from rural India: This statistic becomes 
a guiding principle for understanding the role of 
videos/films as communication vehicles for spreading 
awareness in rural India.  

While all these findings paint an extremely vivid 
picture for rural India and the course of its growth, it has 
been found that over 60% of the rural population is still 
not actively using the internet. Moreover, a less frequently 
discussed, but inextricably related subject is that of 
inequalities in electricity consumption. The NSS-68 data 
on the annual per capita electricity consumption and 
annual expenditure for urban and rural areas showed 
that that more than 50% of the rural population 
consumes less than bare minimum electricity- 
the consumption of the richer rural decile is 
comparable with that of just the sixth lowest 
urban decile. Therefore, there is quite a headroom for 
further growth and technological penetration. 
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Social Sector Spending 
The total development expenditure by the 

government for the year 2021-22 was around  Rs. 
16,35,631 crore, of which social services included around 
Rs. 2,18,088 crore and economic services included Rs. 
10,77,858 crore. (RBI, 2021-22)

During the last five years, Social Services accounted 
for about 25% of the total government expenditure. 
However, in 2021-22 it was 26.6% of the total government 
expenditure. Additionally, the RBI report for 2021-22 
shows that over the last 8 years, the government has 
spent Rs 91 lakh crore on social sector programmes and 
infrastructure development.

Keeping with the spirit of financial inclusion and 
increased social sector spending, in September 2021, 
SEBI approved the creation of Social Stock Exchanges 
(SSE). The idea of SSE prioritizing impact investment 
and social returns was first floated in India in the 2019-
2020 budget, however, it gained momentum during the 
pandemic, bringing the spotlight on the need for social 
capital to relieve the adverse effects on the vulnerable. 
The SSE is projected to emerge as an enabler of capital 
access for social enterprises that often struggle with 
funding support.
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MSMEs, FMCGs and Start-ups
India has seen a massive rise in start-ups in the last 

few years. The Economic Survey 2021-22 stated that the 
number of new recognised start-ups has increased from 
733 in 2016-17 to over 14,000 in 2021-22, with majority of 
these belonging to the services sector. Further, a record 
44 start-ups have achieved ‘unicorn’ status in 
2021, taking the overall tally of unicorns in India to 
83, with a total valuation of $277.77 billion. Today, 
India has overtaken UK and emerged as the third highest 
country in ‘number of unicorns’, after USA and China. 

Consequently, the Budget 2021-22 has placed an 
increasing degree of focus on the Make in India initiative. 
Moreover, to encourage the start-up ecosystem in the 
country, the government has introduced flexible policies 
such as the usage of drones and the promotion of fintech, 
and technology-based development to help the economy 
gain pace and create better job prospects for individuals. 

The FMCG sector is the 4th largest sector in the country 
today. This sector has witnessed increasing digitization with 
companies in this sector partnering with e-commerce 
websites such as Flipkart, Groffers (Blink-it), and BigBasket 
to deliver products to consumers. According to the 
Rural Barometer Report for 2021, the rural FMCG sector is 
expected to grow upto 220 billion USD by 2025, with some 
top FMCG companies like Unilever and Dabur presently 
generating about 35-45% of their revenue from Indian rural 
markets. 

India has approximately 6.3 crore Micro, Small and 
Medium Enterprises (MSMEs), and as of May 2021 the 
number of registered MSMEs stood at 30 lakh units. In July 
2021, the Indian government announced inclusion of retail 
and wholesale trades as MSMEs to strengthen the sector 
and boost economic growth. Budget allocation for 
MSMEs in FY22 more than doubled to Rs. 15,700 
crore (US$ 2.14 billion) vis-à-vis Rs. 7,572 crore (US$ 1.03 
billion) in FY21. The government also announced Rs. 3 lakh 
crore (US$ 40.85 billion) collateral-free automatic loans for 
businesses. As the budget increased over Rs.15,000 crore, 
there was an increased focus on ensuring schemes for 
street vendors as well as other micro entrepreneurs. 

Moreover, in an attempt to boost local manufacturing 
and promote self-reliance, the Finance Minister, Smt. 
Nirmala Sitharaman extended the Emergency Credit Line 
Guarantee Scheme (ECLGS) up to March 2023 to support 
the MSME sector and revive industrial activities.
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Climate Change and 
Sustainability 

The pandemic has magnified the vulnerability of our 
environment and the pervasiveness of the tumultuous 
consequences that arise from our ignorance towards 
it. As temperatures continue to rise and resources 
continue to shrink, immediate climate action is the 
only way forward. Therefore, today, our understanding 
of development and the mechanisms for pursuing it 
cannot occur without embedding sustainability at their 
very core. 

Biomedical Waste
Pre-pandemic, biomedical waste generation in 

the country was limited to pathological labs and health-
care facilities. However, during covid, it was generated 
at households, and even rural areas wherein collection 
and disposal of bio-medical waste was initially non-
existent. According to the Ministry of Environment, 
Forest and Climate 2021, India generated 
56,898.4 tonnes of Covid-19 biomedical waste, 
between June 2020 and June 2021. This led to an 
increase in the overall biomedical waste generation 
in the country by 21%. In fact, India’s covid-19 infected 
waste is over 100 times its non-covid biomedical waste. 
What further adds to the horror story is the state of the 
infrastructure for treating bio-medical waste in the 
country. At present, Karnataka and Maharashtra have 
the highest number of bio-medical waste treatment 
facilities and also the most number of incinerators and 
autoclave machines. These two states account for 
over 25% of the infrastructure for bio-medical waste 
treatment. On the other hand, the North-east has a 
cumulative infrastructure of less than 2% of the country’s 
overall bio-medical waste treatment infrastructure. 
Additionally, at least 8 states/UTs do not have any 
infrastructure for biomedical waste management. 

By early January 2022, India had administered 1.46 
million vaccine doses. While it is truly commendable to 
see the pace at which India has administered vaccines 
to its population, reaching even the most interior parts of 
the country, there is also a flipside to this. An anonymous 
member of the Common Bio-medical Waste Treatment 
Facilities (CBWTFs) stated that:

“Covid-19 vaccination related bio-medical waste 
never reaches authorised facilities and is sold from 
healthcare facilities and makeshift vaccination camps 
to the informal sector waste aggregators. They sort it and 
send it for recycling obviously without pre-treatment. 
These statistics and situations have shed light on the 
need for sophisticated technologies to be introduced 
within the waste management sector to ensure that 
land-based pollution is not converted into air and water 
pollution. Proper tracking mechanisms also need to be 
introduced.”

(Down to Earth 2021-22)
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Planned Obsolescence 
With an ever-advancing digital industry and the 

penetration of various kinds of digital technologies into 
the remotest parts of the country, another topic that is of 
relevance to the development sector professionals and 
environmentalists is that of ‘planned obsolescence’ and 
its impact on e-waste generation. In 1928, Justus Geogre 
Frederick coined the term ‘planned obsolescence,’ 
which he defined to be a trick used by the companies 
to turn you into a repeated customer, with or without 
your knowledge. According to him, electronics 
manufacturers use planned obsolescence to increase 
consumerism by making products that do not last 
long and have to be discarded after a short period of 
time. While the National Policy on Electronics (NPE) in 
2019 envisioned India’s positioning as a global hub for 
electronics system design and manufacturing, reports 
highlight that by 2020, the generation of electronic 
waste has been increasing faster than plastic waste, with 
e-junk witnessing 31% annual growth in India. This opens 
an integral pathway for dialogue with consideration to 
sustainability in the future. 

Sustainable Development Goals 
In reference to SDGs, Grasim Industries has been 

ranked number one in the debut 2021 Capri Global 
Capital Hurun India Impact 50, a list of top 50 companies 
headquartered in India, based on their alignment with 
the 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). With a 
cumulative sustainability score of 47, Grasim Industries 
emerged as India’s most sustainable company. Tech 
Mahindra came second with a score of 46, followed 
by Tata Power Company and Wipro with 45 each. 
The knowledge and celebration of these rankings are 
imperative for us as citizens to be more aware about the 
sustainability of the companies that we engage with 
and how effectively they are aligned with the goals of 
ensuring a sustainable future. 
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Moving Ahead
With around 69% of the country’s population directly 

dependent on natural resources for livelihood, farming, 
animal husbandries, fisheries, forest produce, tourism, and 
food, it is imperative for us to comprehend the extent to 
which our population is dependent on the environment.  
A report by Council on Energy, Environment and Water, 
New Delhi, in 2020, cited that more than 75% of the districts 
in India are now extreme climate event hotspots. Studies 
predict that this can have a disastrous impact on rural 
livelihoods, destroying livestock, and significantly affecting 
food production capacity. 

According to Deloitte Economics Institute, if India 
effectively adopts policies to take care of climate 
change threats and pursues alternative approaches to 
development, it can add $11 trillion to its economy in the 
next 50 years. However, if climate action is not taken, it can 
suffer losses worth $35 trillion across sectors.
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CSR and ESG 
There has been an overall trend of increasing CSR 

expenditure during the last three years with an amount 
of Rs. 1000+ crore per year. For 2021-22, about 65% of 
the companies spent more than their prescribed CSR 
Budget, 10.6% have spent the same amount that was 
prescribed CSR requirement while 24.3% of companies 
have spent less than the prescribed budget. 

Some key trends from the CSR sector in India for 
2021-22 are as follows: 

• Maharashtra, Gujarat, and Odisha received 
nearly 1/5th of India’s total CSR fund

• Poverty Alleviation, Healthcare & WASH; 
Education & Skills; and Rural Development 
emerged as the focused thematic areas which 
jointly cover 70% of India’s total CSR fund

• About 8% of the total CSR projects are 
implemented in collaboration with 
Government entities.

• Regional distribution in CSR spending shows 
that the North-East region received the least 
amount of CSR funds at Rs. 283.24 crore, which 
accounted for 2.33% of the spending; whereas 
the West region accounted for the maximum 
amount of CSR spending at Rs. 2343.14 core 
which accounted for 19.23% of the spending. 

• The SDGs that received the maximum CSR 
funding were SDG 3(Good Health and Well 
Being), SDG 4(Quality Education) and SDG 
11(Sustainable Cities and Communities)

(Source: CSRBOX Report 2021-22) 

In the last 3 years, with the mandates and growing 
concerns about climate change, the job demand in 
the environmental, social and governance (ESG) 
sector has grown over 468 per cent in India. The 
most significant increase in demand was witnessed 
during the last year, between April 2021 and April 2022 
on a job website wherein the number of job posts in this 
category grew by 154% as opposed to last year where 
they grew by 97%. This increase in job postings for ESG 
can be tied to the ever-increasing popularity of letting 
values guide a company. 

Being in line with this chain of thought, in May 2021, 
the Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) issued 
a circular implementing new sustainability-related 
reporting requirements for the top 1,000 listed companies 
by market capitalization. This new disclosure is said to 
be made in the format of Business Responsibility and 
Sustainability Report (BRSR). This is a notable departure 
from SEBI’s existing Business Responsibility Report and a 
significant step toward bringing sustainability reporting 
up to existing financial reporting standards.



Conclusion and Way Forward
What we see today is the real-life manifestation 

of the ‘yin and yang’ principle wherein we are being 
compelled to appraise the vicissitudes of life as 
opportunities for a more re-directed, and sustainable 
development trajectory. While the pandemic wildfire 
burned down Indian livelihoods, the ashes from the 
aftermath continue to serve as reminders and guiding 
principles for our public policies now, and in the years 
to come. The question is- can we, through our learnings, 
re-evaluate, re-structure, re-invent and re-draw our 
development projects to look after and adequately 
respond to the needs for our population?
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NABFOUNDATION in 
the year 2021-22

Chapter 5:

Compiled by Team NABFOUNDATION: 
Sudha Varghese, Harsh Deshmukh, Ishita Meshram, Mamtha Mallesh, Emaran Tiwale and Stuti Banga



81

Intervention Areas
In the year 2021-22, NABFOUNDATION’s development projects were spread across five broad thematic areas, 

namely- WaSH, Entrepreneurship, Farm Sector, Off-farm sector and Covid-19 relief. With livelihood generation and 
innovation being the core driving principles behind project development within NABFOUNDATION, each project 
brought forth a unique amalgamation of these broad thematic areas.

My Pad | My Right
• With livelihood generation and innovation at its 

core, this project combines interventions grounded 
in WaSH, Entrepreneurship and Covid-19 relief. 

Northeast Region Entrepreneurs’ World 
• This unique, technology-driven project is an attempt 

to address the gaps in entrepreneurship and 
livelihoods in North-east India. It also responds to 
the Covid induced disruptions. 

Promotion of an OFPO in Meghalaya
• This project combines interventions grounded in 

entrepreneurship and off-farm sector, impacting 
livelihood generation, building institutions and 
product innovation. 

Strengthening and Broad-basing Pashmina and 
Wool value chain in Ladakh 
• This project celebrates ancient trade routes and skill 

sets in the remotest villages of Ladakh and stresses 
upon empowerment of tribal women. 

Aapno Anaaj 
• The focus here is upon bringing the marginalized 

farming communities of tribal Rajasthan closer to 
online markets in a real sense, on real-time basis.

Baazar Connect
• This project is a huge affirmative ‘yes’ to the scope 

of bringing the last mile farmer closer to markets, 
cutting out layers of agents and sub-agents in the 
agri-marketing and value chains. 

Aapno Paani 
• Grounded in the basic aspirations of WaSH, the 

project comes as a ray of hope to water starved 
regions in the country.
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• My Pad | My Right

• Northeast region Entrepreneurs' World

• Promotion of an OFPO in Meghalaya

• Aapno Paani

• Aapno Anaaj

• Baazar Connect

• Strengthening and Broad-basing 
Pashmina and Wool Value Chain

• My Pad | My Right

• Northeast region Entrepreneurs' World

• Promotion of an OFPO in Meghalaya

• Aapno Paani

• Aapno Anaaj

• Baazar Connect

• Strengthening and Broad-basing 
Pashmina and Wool Value Chain

Geographies Covered
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The Women Labour Force Participation Rate (LFPR) 
in India, as per a survey conducted in 2018-19, was 
just 18.6% as compared to 55.6% for men.  Surprisingly 
the LFPR among rural women is higher than that of 
the urban women, simply because of their significant 
contribution in the agriculture sector.  This skewed ratio 
in LFPR has always been a major concern within the 
Indian Government and major programmes have been 
developed to improve the participation of women in 
the economic development of the country.  

NABFOUNDATION’s pan-India project ‘MY PAD|MY 
RIGHT,’ the largest livelihood programme undertaken by 
any one organization, was an attempt to bring maximum 
number of rural women into the workforce community.   
Though Phase-I of the project was implemented against 
the backdrop of the pandemic, it created direct 
livelihood opportunities to 300+ rural women 
across the country.  The entrepreneurial skills 
developed by these women through this 
project are a testimony to the sheer 
resilience of the Indian rural woman, 
or, in fact, of rural women all over the 
world.

Highlights of the project 
during 2021-22

I m p l e m e n t a t i o n :  
Production started in 32 out of 
the 34 units installed.  Women 
who were content cooking 
for the family, bathing cattle 
and working in the field, were 
now producing their own pads 
and selling them.  There was a 
sense of hesitation initially as 
they were unsure of their ability 
to work on machines.  But with 
the training and raw material 
provided by NABARD, they were 
able to learn the nuances of 
production and started making 
pads in full swing.  During the year, 
the groups have produced around 
2.75 lakh pads of which 1.22 lakh pads 
have been sold and generated income of 
around Rs.5.71 lakh.

Increased Menstrual Awareness:  26 medical camps 
were conducted across the country where reputed 
doctors from district hospitals were invited to spread 
awareness on menstrual hygiene and the significance 
of shifting from traditional methods adopted during 
menstruation to the use of a clean, hygienic, sanitary 
pad.  Free pads were distributed among the women to 
introduce them to the concept of a pad and the ease of 
using one.  As per the M&E study conducted by a third-
party, in the districts were the project is implemented, 
atleast 50% of the women who were using cloth earlier 
have now shifted to pads.  The project has created 
massive impact on the awareness quotient in rural India. 

MY PAD| MY RIGHT
‘When women thrive, all of society benefits’ – Kofi Annan
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Smt. Sudha Varghese, AVP, NABFOUNDATION, on a pre-implementation field visit
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Marketing and sales strategies:  One of the major 
challenges faced in the project was the sale of the 
pads, which called for designing a definite marketing 
strategy. NABFOUNDATION took up various Initiatives to 
increase visibility of the pads being produced at these 
units.

i. Reaching out to other foundations:  In an attempt 
to support these units to sell their product, 
NABFOUNDATION reached out to various other 
organizations working in the field of menstrual 
hygiene to procure pads from these units for all 
their free pad distribution campaigns. One such 
NGO ‘Hidden Pockets’ procured around 5000 
pads from our unit in Darbhanga, Bihar for their 
free distribution campaign.

ii. Discussion with district level authorities:  
NABFOUNDATION held discussions with various 
district level authorities and have also written to 
a few of them to associate with the MPMR units 
in the district for procurement of pads for the 
District hospitals, PHC centres etc.

iii. Brochure to promote the pads:  In 
a bid to widen the scope 
of marketing options 
and increase 
visibility of the 
pads, a chic and 
classy brochure 
highlighting the 
benefits of the pads was 
designed and supplied 
to all the groups under the 
project.  The brochure was 
also distributed among other 
NGOs, CSR units of corporates, 
district authorities etc. where 
there was a scope for bulk orders.

iv. Social media outreach: NABFOUNDATION has 
been actively promoting the project and the 
sanitary pads produced by the SHG members 
on different social media platforms such 

as Instagram and 
Facebook. This has 
generated promising 
interest, goodwill and 
recognition for the 
project.

v. Competitions for the SHGs:  In an attempt to 
further motivate the SHGs in their endeavour to 
create their own space in the entrepreneurial 
world, NABFOUNDATION organised a 
competition on creating an exclusive slogan for 
MPMR as well as the best marketing strategies 
that could be adopted and replicated.   The 
SHGs participation in the competition was 
remarkable and the winners were awarded cash 
prizes.  The slogans and strategies received will 
be an integral part of our marketing strategies 
for the next phase of the project.  

 Best slogan-  Rajnandgaon unit-

 मैं शिक्त , रचती नया संसार 
 है मेरा पैड | मेरा शिधकार ||
 Best Sales strategy- Rajnandgaon unit-   

Women will be asked to fill out a subscription form 
and they receive one packet of MPMR pads per 
month for an annual subscription of Rs.300/-
.  The benefits include creation of a database 
about the number of menstruating women and 
girls in the district, how many of them use pads 

during periods, membership to act as sales 
agents etc.

vi. Video-making Competition for young 
girls:  A pan-India video making 

competition was organized for young 
girls between the age of 13-18 years 

to stand up and talk for their right 
to a clean sanitary pad and a 
hygienic period.  The response 
was overwhelming and we 

even received international entries 
from students in Kenya and Nepal.  

Several top-level organizations such as 
American India Foundation (AIF), Sulabh School 
Sanitation Club, Womenite, ActionAid India and 
Nagrik Foundation partnered with us under 
the competition to spread awareness in the 
remotest corners of rural India and empower 
young rural girls to participate.  

  An advertisement for the competition was 
also featured on the first page Dainik Bhaskhar. 

  The 20 top entries have been selected and 
the prize money and certificates are being 
forwarded to the winners.  



87

Rural girl putting up a poster in her school about our 
MPMR video-making competition



88

NABFOUNDATION Annual Report 2021-22

Extensive Outreach:  One of the biggest achievements of NABFOUNDATION’s social media strategy has been 
that project MPMR has reached users not only in India but across the globe.  

i. International outreach: Olam Group from Nigeria connected with NABFOUNDATION commending its 
workings and approach around the project. Inspired by MPMR, the group is aiming to replicate a similar 
project in Nigeria.

ii. Project in Kargil:  NABFOUNDATION’s project in Leh has been a huge inspiration for not only the SHG 
groups there, but has also been noticed by the District Administration which approached the Foundation 
to implement the same in every village of the UT.  NABFOUNDATION has already placed the order for 
the machine to be installed in Kargil and the unit will be functional soon.  With this, NABFOUNDATION 
has been able to successfully implement the project in both Kargil and Leh, the two districts of the newly 
carved out UT of Ladakh.  It is also one of the most difficult and remotest terrains in the country.

iii. Government of Goa:  The Tribal Welfare Department, Government of Goa has earmarked Rs.5 crore 
towards menstrual hygiene and has requested NABFOUNDATION to implement the project for the 
Government of Goa. Discussions are on with the Government of Goa on the detailed terms and conditions 
of the collaboration.

iv. MPMR in Dimapur Central Jail:  NABFOUNDATION has been approached by the Central Jail authorities in 
Dimapur to implement the project in the Central jail to help the inmates earn a livelihood during their trial. 
The project is being funded by NABFINS.

Free pad distribution campaign under the project

Girls in rural India spreading awareness about our 
MPMR video-making competition

Pad production process

Team NABFOUNDATION’s meeting with the Tribal Welfare 
Department, Goa
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Our rural women in the pad production process

Menstrual hygiene camp under the project

Dr. G R Chintala, Chairman, NABARD visits our MPMR unit 
in Andhra Pradesh

MPMR pad distribution campaign

Our field Experience:  We strongly believe that Phase-I of the project has been a successful journey in terms 
of creating a unique space for ourselves in the development landscape. The last year has been an enriching 
experience for us by way of learnings.  The whole project was designed on the concept of providing the rural 
women with what they ‘NEED’ the most- a clean, hygienic, bio-degradable pad.  After a year, we have learnt that 
to make the project sustainable, the women have to be provided with what they ‘WANT’- longer winged pads 
with higher absorption capacity. Therefore, our interaction with the stakeholders and beneficiaries at the base has 
revealed ground level realities, which will empower us to address all the shortcomings faced during Phase-I of the 
project and develop a stronger sustainable model in the next phase.
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Meet our new entrepreneurs

NABFOUNDATION takes pride in introducing two new 
rural entrepreneurs who have been doing exceptionally 
well in the project.  They have taken the initiative to a 
level where these units can be showcased as pilots to 
other aspiring groups.  These groups can also graduate 
to become trainers to the new SHG groups looking to 
take up this activity as a livelihood opportunity.

i. Jalgaon unit:  The Zashichi Rani Swayam Sahayata 
Mahila Bachat Gat from Jalgaon, Maharashtra 
showed its mettle from the word go. Its first year 
of operations was a virtual roller coaster with self-
taught management lessons, business planning 
and innovative marketing which would make an 
MBA take a step back in admiration. Here is why:
• The group modified its existing machine to 

increase the length of the pads and started 
producing maternity pads which have been 
a big hit among the female population in the 
district.  The pads are being sold at Rs.40.00 per 
pad and the demand for these pads is huge.

• As a part of their marketing strategy, they 
announced various incentives like free English 
speaking course, Yoga course etc for investing 
in the pads for 6 months.  

• They placed these pads at beauty parlours, 
ladies tailoring units, medical counters, kirana 
stores, schools etc which fetched the pads a lot 
of publicity as well as sales.

• The group, with funding support from its 
founder The Jalgaon Janata Sahakari Bank, 
has purchased a semi-automatic machine 
and are now producing ultra-thin, long, winged 
pads which has a huge demand in the market.

• The group won the best SHG selling sanitary 
napkins at “UDYOGINI MELAVA” held at 
Jalgaon

• This group has taken up the venture on a full 
time basis and is putting in all efforts to make it 
a successful business model.

• NABFOUNDATION proposes to conduct field 
visits for other SHG groups to visit the Zashichi 
Rani Swayam Sahayata Mahila Bachat Gat as 
a part of our capacity building programme.

Our SHG women from Jalgaon, Maharashtra, in action
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Outreach program led by the SHG for building 
awareness among rural girls in Chhattisgarh. 

Our SHG women from Rajnandgaon, Chhattisgarh, in action

Smt. Sudha Varghese, AVP, NABFOUNDATION at the 
MPMR stall, Raipur Trade Expo

ii. Rajnandgaon unit:  The SarvaNari JanKalyan 
Samiti is working in Rajnandgaon, Chattisgarh, 
one of the most backward and difficult districts 
of India.  This is a classic example of a dedicated 
woman leading a strong group to work against 
all odds and make the best of the available 
resources.  The SHG leader, Smt. Kavita Nishad is 
a true inspiration to all other women in this project 
for her commendable will power to do something 
worthwhile for a cause very close to her heart. We 
call her SuperWoman. Here is why. 
• The group introduced the concept of 

subscription to the pads.  They collect data on 
a sheet of paper as subscription forms which 
helps create a database of women using the 
pads and those not using them.  The annual 
subscription ensures sales for the whole year as 
well as benefits the women who can buy the 
pads at discounted rates.

• The group has been actively approaching 
local schools and encouraging girl students 
to start using pads.  They have also promised 
to approach the local panchayats to declare 
awards and certificates for schools that are 
‘100% cloth free during periods’.

• The group has developed a very good strategy 
for production and sales where they first study 
the market and then produce the pads as per 
market requirement, ensuring 100% sale of the 
manufactured pads.

• The sales have been very good for the group 
and they are unable meet the demand with 
the manual machine.  The group hopes to 
take a loan to upgrade the machine to a semi-
automatic one to spur up production.

• The tribal belt in Rajnandgaon has definitely 
benefitted from the project which proves that 
the project has achieved the purpose for 
which it was designed.
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Our SHG women from Rajnandgaon, Chhattisgarh 
producing the MPMR pads
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Way Ahead

NABFOUNDATION is now ready to take up Phase II of the project.  We plan to do this in a phased manner, by 
first concentrating on the aspirational districts in the country.  The learnings from Phase I are being incorporated in 
Phase II.  The next phase will see:

• Semi-automatic machines
• Improved market friendly pads
• Extensive training for production and marketing strategies
• Field visits for the SHG groups
• Project in partnership mode for better involvement of all stakeholders

We envisage this project to work towards emerging as a 
community-led programme with maximum participation 
of SHG members and creation of a ‘PERIOD REVOLUTION’ 
in the country. This project is nothing but a re-emphasis 
on the need for an India where no rural woman is 
deprived of her right to use a clean sanitary pad. For Her 
Pad is Her Right.

Rural women with MPMR pads during regional pad distribution campaigns  
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1. The need for intervention in NER

A global biodiversity hotspot, the North East Region 
fosters a unique blend of flora and fauna. Rooted in 
diversity, the NER is endowed with huge untapped 
natural resources and is recognised as the eastern 
gateway for the country’s ‘Act East Policy.’ 

Despite the massive proliferation of infrastructural 
interventions in the region, the number of out-migrating 
youths have been increasing. The Northeast region 
accounts for 4% of the total youth population (between 
15-35 years) in the country. However, paradoxically, 
a relatively higher proportion of unemployment (in 
comparison to all India levels) in the same age group, 
is a major cause of concern for the youth here. The 
spread of Covid-19 pandemic added to the number of 
challenges in the region and youths were at the centre 
of it all. Jobs evaporated, youths returned from big cities 
due to reverse migration, and there was nothing to hold 
onto. 

At NABFOUNDATION, we realized it was critical to 
take up a strategic exercise to truly understand what the 
youth of the north-east wants to do, what it aspires 
to be, and how we can be a part of that story. 
Most importantly, we recognized that this 
could be in areas as diverse as agri-
allied food processing, handicrafts 
and handloom, tourism/ hospitality, 
sports and entertainment and so on.

2. Embarking on NEW Horizons

Against this backdrop, NABFOUNDATION 
developed ‘Project NEW,’ that is, Northeast Region 
Entrepreneurs’ World; a first-of-its-kind technology-
based initiative which aims to capture data to map 
business aspirations and identify skill gaps amongst the 
aspirational youths of Northeast Region. 

Project NEW is a holistic approach to provide 
end-to-end solutions that will address the persistent 
enterprise and entrepreneurship related challenges in 
NER. It aims at identifying aspirations, providing required 
skill sets, and building an eco-system through which the 
youths can emerge as self-reliant individuals with their 
own business ventures. 

Keeping with NABFOUNDATION’s mandate of 
technological advancement and innovation, a user-
friendly website and mobile application have been 
specifically designed for the project. This website 
and mobile application will capture data of the 
NE youth across 3 parameters, namely- personal 
details, occupational details and aspirational details. 

The collected data will be collated and 
segregated into state/district/block-wise 

skill aspirations, and then be shared with 
all the interested stakeholders such 

as bankers, NABARD DDM offices, 
NGOs, central/ state government 
ministries and so on. 

Northeast Region Entrepreneurs’ World
Embarking on a NEW beginning
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For, of, and by the North-East
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3. Transformation through Technology

The entire stress in the project has been laid upon simplicity. Interested youths can simply log onto the website 
www.thenew.nabard.org and fill the NEW Registration Form; or can download the app available on Play store and 
complete the registration process. Registration process can be completed by providing the following information:

The project will run in two distinct phases: Phase 1 and Project 2. 

Phase 1: 
● Interested youths will fill out the NEW Registration form. This form will record their aspirations and requirements 

relating to skilling, credit linkage and networking.  
● The data collected will be collated and disaggregated into state, district and block level wise ‘Aspiration 

list’ showing who wants to take up what kind of skilling information. 
● It will be a bottom-up approach using technology. The collated data will be analysed to develop district 

and state specific training programmes. 
● Data collation will continue and the system will keep on disaggregating the incremental data in a seamless 

manner. 

Phase 2:  
● Skilling programs, credit linkages and networking opportunities will be facilitated for the registered youths 

of Northeast based on the data recorded in Phase 1. 
● NABFOUNDATION will map the skills and aspirations and design short duration skilling courses in association 

with interested and qualified skilling institutions.
● Simultaneously efforts will be made towards cementing credit linkages for the skilled youth. Credit related 

information (financial literacy) will be a core component of all the skilling programmes. 
● Marketing tie ups will be made for all the projects where it is possible. Networking support to help in the 

growth of a venture will be facilitated. 

Smt. Mamtha Mallesh, AVP, NABFOUNDATION with the 
team of YouthNet in Nagaland

Smt. Mamtha Mallesh, AVP, NABFOUNDATION with the 
team of SeSTA in Assam
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4. Mapping Impact with SDGs

With immense potential in natural resources, water, agriculture, and horticulture, NER can be developed into 
a hub of sustainable tourism, medicinal plants, and a vibrant arts and handicraft sector. 

The North Eastern states of India have their unique requirements of skill-needs depending on the natural 
resources, industry and native trades. The project embarks on relevant skill development to meet the aspirations of 
youths through training and enhance employability in the region.

Project NEW in collaboration with Nagrik Foundation and SDG Choupal, aims to highlight UN’s Sustainable 
Development Goals and raise awareness about the same among the youths. The idea is to make them more aware 
of their rights and responsibilities and thus promote SDG implementation on-ground.

3 TARGET AREAS 
TO ACHIEVE ONE GOAL

SDGs covered under Project NEW
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5. Power of Convergence

Given the difficult terrain and infrastructure 
related challenges, we understand that there is 
greater effort and success in collaboration. The goal 
is to encourage collaboration among individuals, 
agencies, organizations and community members 
to systematically address the current challenges. 
Accordingly, NABFOUNDATION aims at integrating and 
collaborating with like-minded partners by creating 
opportunities and capturing strategic possibilities. 

In this project, NABFOUNDATION has partnered with a 
host of stakeholders-

• NABCONS, NABFINS, NABSAMRUDDHI and 
Dalmia Bharat Foundation are the funding 
partners for the project. 

• SeSTA, Leaders Connect (YouthNet), NELC 
(North East Leaders Connect)-YouthNet, 
Tharthilthlentu (TiLi) are the implementing 
partners for the project. 

• East Mojo is the branding partner for the 
project. 

• Nagrik Foundation is the sustainability partner 
for the project. 

• NABFOUNDATION is the primary ideation and 
managerial agency for the project. 

Funding partners

Implementing partners

Sustainability partner

Youth of NER
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Capturing NER through photos 
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Capturing NER through photos 
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Smt. Mamtha Mallesh, AVP, NABFOUNDATION, with NER entrepreneurs.
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Shri Dr. Himanta Biswa Sarma, 
Hon’ble Chief Minister, Assam

Shri Prem Singh Tamang, 
Hon’ble Chief Minister, Sikkim

Shri Conrad Sangma, 
Hon’ble Chief Minister, Meghalaya

I would like to congratulate 
NABFOUNDATION for coming 
up with this unique project 
initiative- Project NER 
Entrepreneur’s World (NEW). It 
is time for our youth to change 
their destiny-from being 
job-seekers to becoming 
job-givers by investing their 
energy, skill and abilities into 
entrepreneurship.

Project NEW is a unique 
opportunity and an attempt 
to help our youth achieve their 
goals! Together, the youth 
of the NorthEast can bring 
about a colossal change in 
the economy and become 
model entrepreneurs not just 
for India, but the whole world.

Project NEW is here just for 
you. Your new venture can be 
anything- be it agriculture, 
handloom, or tourism- the 
options are endless and the 
time is now.
Get ready for the NEW vision, 
NEW India and a NEW you.

I believe that to be an 
entrepreneur, you only need 
a plan and conviction to turn 
that plan into reality. If you 
fall, you rise again, knowing 
someone is there to hold your 
hand. Project NEW is here to 
help, support and handhold 
the youth of North-east. This is 
your time, go for it.

Shri Pema Khandu, 
Hon’ble Chief Minister, Arunachal Pradesh

Dr. G R Chintala, 
Chairman NABARD & NABFOUNDATION

NABARD has been working 
towards bringing prosperity in 
this region through a plethora 
of interventions. We believe 
Project NEW will bring a 
revolution in the north-east 
region. I request you all to 

register and take project 
NEW in your stride.

Shri Kiren Rijiju, 
Hon’ble Union Minister of Law and Justice 
of India and Member of Parliament from 
Arunachal Pradesh

I encourage all North-East 
budding entrepreneurs to 
register themselves on the 
NEW portal. Project NEW will 
enable the North-east to 
become the next start-up hub, 
accelerate India’s Act East 
Policy and be building blocks 
for ‘atmanirbhar bharat’- A 
NEW India in the future.

Shri G. Kishan Reddy, 
Hon’ble Union Minister of Tourism, Culture and 
Development of North Eastern Region of India
The ‘Yuvashakti’ of the North-east can bring double 

digit growth for the region. 
The road to India becoming 
a ‘Vishwaguru’ passes 
through the prosperity and 
development of the NE region. 
I thank NABFOUNDATION for 
encouraging skilling in the NE 
region through Project NEW 
and bringing opportunities for 
our youth.

Shri Biplab Kumar Deb, 
Hon’ble Chief Minister, Tripura

Project NEW, is a much-
needed effort to map the skill 
gaps among the aspirational 
youths of Northeast Region, 
provide the required skill sets 
and then build an eco-system 
in which these youths can set 
up their own ventures.
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6. Key Milestones

Due to its vision and purpose, project NEW has 
resonated well with the stakeholders across all levels.

One of the biggest milestones for us at 
NABFOUNDATION was receiving the support of Chief 
Ministers from five states of NER, three Union Ministers, 
and key personalities from the NER, in the form of video 
messages, encouraging the NER youth to sign up for the 
project and embrace their entrepreneurial capabilities. 

Shri Kiren Rijiju, Union Minister for Law; Shri 
G Kishan Reddy, Union Minister, DONER, and Shri 
Rajeev Chandrasekhar, Union Minister of State for Skill 
Development and Entrepreneurship and Electronics 
and Information Technology, have stepped forward with 
their support for the project and its natural alignment 
with the policy landscape today. 

Alongside this, Shri Dr. Hemant Biswa Sarma, 
Hon’ble Chief Minister of Assam; Shri Pema Khandu, 
Hon’ble Chief Minister of Arunachal Pradesh; Shri 
Conrad Sangma, Hon’ble Chief Minister of Meghalaya; 
Shri Prem Singh Tamang, Hon’ble Chief Minister of Sikkim; 
and Shri Biplab Kumar Deb, Hon’ble Chief Minister of 
Tripura, have come forward with motivational messages 
for the youth.

Shri Bhaichung Bhutia, the torchbearer of Indian 
football in the international arena, has also shared his 
vision behind the progress of NE and the role of project 
NEW in facilitating this.

Another key milestone for us at NABFOUNDATION 
was collaborating with eminent musicians from eight 
states of Northeast to create a theme song which 
encapsulates the rich and unique culture of the region 
and encourages the youth to be part of the initiative. 
This theme song has been developed in collaboration 
with our branding partner- East Mojo, and as a part 
of the project, will be released across all social media 
platforms to raise awareness among the youth. 

Project NEW will work towards re-imagining the NER 
landscape to emerge as a centre for fostering and 
facilitating the spirt of entrepreneurship.

Youth of NER
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1. Background 

The abject poverty, lack of infrastructure and 
livelihoods in almost entire North East Region has been 
notified by multiple sources. At the same time, multiple 
opportunities exist within the off-farm 
sector ecology here with resources, 
inherent skills and aspirations of the 
local tribal populations. The challenge 
is to discover these options and then find 
the right partner agencies to make a 
difference. This project has been designed 
and undertaken by NABFOUNDATION to 
leverage these hidden opportunities and 
talents.

2. Contextualization in the Indian 
Setting

Meghalaya is an agriculture-
dominated state with about 81% of its 
total population depending entirely 
on agriculture for its livelihood.  With 
just about 12% cultivable land, the hilly 
terrain and land conditions of the state 
do not offer much scope in bringing 
additional area under irrigation.  Broom 
grass is an important non-timber forest 
product which grows in almost all parts of 
Meghalaya. North East Region produces 
1,25,000 metric tons of broom grass annually 
and, out of this, Meghalaya accounts for around 
30,000-40,000 metric tons followed by Sikkim and 
Nagaland. In fact, Meghalaya is known as 
the ‘Jharu capital’ i.e., ‘Broom Capital 
of India.’ Broom grass grows all over 

the state and estimates show that its cultivation benefits 
nearly 40,000 families! This gains significance when seen 
against the backdrop of the total population of the 
state being over two million. 

Interestingly, we observe that almost 
90% of the broom grass is exported outside 
the state to states like Rajasthan, Andhra 
Pradesh and Tamil Nadu each year, and 
only 10% caters to the local market of 

Meghalaya. These traders transport the 
grass back to their states and employ 
labour to make broomsticks out of 
this grass. Out of 1 kilo of dry broom 
grass, 4-5 broomsticks can be made. 
These broomsticks are then sold in retail 

market for as much as Rs. 120-160 
per broomstick. Thus, the Rs. 50-60 

a kilo broom grass transforms into Rs. 
800 or so, in a matter of just 2 months.  

This turns out to be severely unfair to the 
local tribals who are unaware about the 

final price of their produce and about 
the entire value chain management 
required to earn 4-5 times for the 

same produce. This project has been 
designed to improve the situation by 

empowering the tribal communities to 
collect, sort, grade broom grass locally 

and enhance their income through, both:
A. Sale of broom grass to leverage high 

rates during September-October 
B. Manufacturing broomsticks within 

Meghalaya. 

Promotion of an OFPO in Meghalaya: 
Basuba Brooms Producer Co. Ltd.
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Our OFPO- Basuba Brooms Producer Company Ltd., with their brooms in Meghalaya 

Design Development Training
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3. Project Rationale

The project has been conceptualized to promote 
value addition of the broom-grass grown by the farmers 
of Bhoirymbong Block of Ri-Bhoi District in Meghalaya 
by organizing them into a Producer Organization, i.e., 
OFPO. Broom-cultivation is one of the major activities 
providing employment and returns to the farmers. The 
total raw hill broom grass production of Meghalaya 
is 40000 MT, out of which 155 MT is produced by the 
Bhoirymbong cluster. The demand for these brooms 
has also been on a rise. A rise in demand and positive 
returns has induced a large number of farmers to take 
broom cultivation resulting in increased production.  
On the demand side, since broom sticks are used in 
almost every Indian household, there is a great scope 
for broom processing both within and outside the state. 

Additionally, the project will also involve marketing 
produce of the OFPO in organized settings, enabling 
them to bargain better prices for their products and 
eliminating middlemen. 

This has immense potential to provide employment 
and revive the local economy by improving the income 
of the tribal farmers and continuing sustainable farming 
in a professional manner.  

The project aims to provide a better opportunity 
for the framers to come together under an organization 
of their own, through collective efforts. It is indeed 
a matter of concern that in-spite of being a major 
producer of broom grass, this region has no processing 
or manufacturing units. The aim of the OFPO is to 
collectivize the farmers in the cluster and facilitate 
them in manufacturing and processing broomsticks for 
suitable remuneration. 

The OFPO will be a hard-core business entity – 
thinking and operating like a typical business trader. 
The only difference will be that at the end of the year, 
the profits will be shared by the community and not 
one single individual. Interested tribal members of the 
district will be trained in the production of broom sticks 
on a community basis, bringing broomstick making as a 
complete livelihoods-based activity.

4. Project Milestones

A. Undertook community mobilization work with 
enrolment of over 250 share members. 

B. Finalized the formulation of the OFPO with a 
representative Board coming from community 
leaders in the region. 

C. Finalized a plot of land on lease from the 
community members. Took up the entire 
registration work through a CA.

D. Roped in multiple stakeholders for training 
of the Board Members; hired a professional 
branding agency.

E. Undertook basic marketing research. Tied 
up with an agency which will teach broom 
making and source it as well.

F. Establishing Basuba Brooms as a brand and 
designing logo for the same. 

G. Ongoing construction of Common Facility 
Centre with steel being supplied by JSW 
Foundation under their CSR. 

Establishing strong market linkages- signing MoU 
with buyer Procurement of broom grass in process
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5. Expected Project Outcomes

• OFPO Turnover: OFPO turnover is expected to 
reach Rs. 1.55 crore in the 5th year. 

• Incremental income of individual producer/ 
artisan: At present, farmers are not able to 
reap the benefits of selling broom grass when 
the rates go up around Diwali. The project will 
enable the farmers to hold onto their produce 
till the prices rise and thus earn what they 
deserve. 

• Bringing value addition into broom processing: 
As mentioned earlier, 90-95% of the produced 
broom grass is being sold by the farmers without 
any value addition. The OFPO has a clear 
mandate- encourage and establish broom 
production as an activity in Meghalaya.

• Creation of infrastructure: The project will 
establish a modern CFC which will enhance 
efficiency and productivity of the cluster units. 
The structure will provide in-house capacities 
for quality assurance, raw material availability, 
market information and training. Additionally, 
it will allow broom workers to experiment, 
innovate and keep themselves abreast with 
the new techniques and practices.

• New Product and Design Development: The 
project will ensure a continued dialogue with 
designers who are willing to help and work 
along with the tribals.

• Mobilization of share capital: Shares of Rs. 1000 
will be collected from each artisan which will 
serve the working capital need of OFPO and 
75% profit will be shared amongst the artisans 
as dividend.

• Credit Linkage: NABFOUNDATION with the 
help of local NGOs, will support the OFPO 
to establish credit linkages with local banks. 
NABFOUNDATION will develop a mechanism 
to assess the credit need of the producers and 
negotiate with banks and financial institutes 
on behalf of the OFPO, until the organization is 
empowered to handle this on its own.

• New Marketing Initiatives: The project aims to 
create new marketing avenues and marketing 
interventions such as buyer-seller meets, 
e-commerce platforms and export linkage.

A meeting with stakeholders in Meghalaya 
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6. Sustainability of the Project 
The project has been designed as per a need-

based analysis which was conducted in consultation 
with the community. The sustainability of the project 
will depend on the capacity level of the OFPO and the 
availability of infrastructure. The project will capacitate 
the OFPO in various aspects, where infrastructure and 
required inputs will be put in place for achieving long 
term sustainability. The OFPO will be linked with the 
market, line departments and financial institutions 
for sustained credit availability and to expand their 
activities. With the storage facilities, the OFPO will have 
bargaining power to sell its product at better rates. This 
will ultimately sustain the OFPO and also achieve the 
medium- and long-term goals of the project.

This project will work towards re-establishing power 
structures by ensuring ownership of broom grass 
produce by the tribal farmers and bringing end-to-end 
value addition activities at their level.

Establishing strong market linkages- signing MoU 
with buyer Procurement of broom grass in process

Making of Basuba Brooms
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1. Background 

Water scarcity, as a problem has stricken every 
continent in the world, irrespective of economic 
conditions. Internationally, close to one-fifth of the 
population resides in areas with scarcity of water 
and around 500 million people are estimated to be 
approaching a similar situation.1 With water being an 
elemental aspect of production, limited or supply of 
unhealthy water translates into sluggish economic 
activities. Economic water shortage, which is said to 
occur when countries lack the infrastructure to provide, 
extract or deliver water, affects another 1.6 billion 
people globally. Due to water supply and availability 
being a deciding factor for various other benchmarks, it 
dictates employment opportunities, poverty alleviation, 

education, sanitation and hygiene, and 
also a decent standard of living.2

Uneven distribution of water: A joint report by tWHO 
and UNICEF in 2015 revealed that 663 million people 
lack proper and hygienic access to water, forcing 
them to resort to unprotected springs, surface water 
of rivers, lakes, ponds, tanker water, vendor-provided 
water, etc. As there are many demands made upon 
water resources, such as for drinking, hygiene, energy, 
industrial, and food purposes, the problem lies in its 
uneven distribution.

2. Contextualization in the Indian Setting

Lack of safe and contamination-free water at the 
bottom of pyramid

In India, the problem of water availability is far 
more acute. Around only 50 per cent of the population 
in India has access to safe drinking water. According to 
the World Resources Institute, India is ranked 13 out of 17 
worst affected countries by water shortage, labelling it 
to have ‘extremely high water-stress’. Many rural villages 
which are situated on the outskirts of metropolitan 
cities have no access to safe drinking water. The 
communities have no choice but to either rely upon 
dirty and harmful water bodies or explore possibilities 
of exploiting groundwater sources. India has become 
the concentrated centre of global water and sanitation 
crisis, as only 16% of India’s rural families have access 
to piped water. Water, sanitation, and hygiene are 
perhaps the biggest missing links across lakhs of villages 
in India. 

AAPNO PAANI
Creating a ripple effect

1.  http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/reports/267/hdr06-complete.pdf
2. https://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/hygiene/sanhygpromo3.pdf?ua=1
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Drudgery crises: The Gender Conundrum 

Bereft of this simple facility, people across the 
country, especially women, go through multiple hurdles 
to source water from contaminated water-bodies, 
facing discomfort each day. Thousands of acres of land 
become storehouses of viruses and bacteria, harmful 
for both humans and animals. Children, burdened with 
the diseases are unable to go to schools. The problem of 
unavailability or limited access to water affects various 
groups and classes disproportionately. Since women 
are largely made responsible for collecting water, they 
are burdened with travelling for longer distances and 
carrying heavy containers. Inadequate water and 
sanitation locks women in the loop of patriarchal and 
unequal gender dynamics that negatively impacts their 
lives, throwing them in a constant cycle of poverty. 

Project State: Rajasthan 

Rajasthan, with 70% of its land classified as arid and 
semi-arid region, contains  just 1.16% of surface water. 
It fares far worse than the rest of India, with only 44% 
of rural habitations receiving water supply. Readily 
available water from water bodies in Rajasthan is not 
entirely fit for consumption as well. The incidence of 
water-borne diseases is also high in Rajasthan, with over 
47,000 deaths being caused by diarrhoea and intestinal 
infections, accounting for 8.7% of all deaths in the state 
in 2016.

We selected Kharabera Bheemawatan village of 
Luni block in Jodhpur district of Rajasthan to showcase 
a technology which holds huge potential for the whole 
state. The village is indeed representative of the acute 
drinking water shortage faced by almost all the villages 
in the region.

We observed that NABSAMRUDDHI, 
a subsidiary of NABARD, had listed ‘Safe 
Drinking Water and Sanitation’ among its key 
CSR objectives. Against this background, we 
approached NABSAMRUDDHI. After seeing 
merit in the project, they stepped forward to 
support this project.

Women drinking water from the local pond
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3. About the intervention and status today

A. NABFOUNDATION installed a central solar 
power set-up which runs an RO-UV filtration 
system by sourcing water from nearby water-
bodies in the Kharabera Bheemwatan region. 
The project has been taken up in association 
with Grassroots and Rural Innovative 
Development (G.R.I.D), our implementation 
partner in the project. The filtration system will 
provide 6,000L of drinkable water each day to 
the 325 households in the region.

B. A unique ID-based water delivery system has 
been set-up to assist in self-collection and 
home-delivery of water to both domestic and 
commercial clients, for which electric vehicles 
are to be used, powered by the centralized 
solar grid. 

C. The water will be provided at minimal rates of 
Re. 0.5/L as opposed to Re. 1/L paid for water 
campers.  

D. Gram Aapno Paani Samiti- a registered village 
level institution with female representation, is 
responsible for supervising the delivery system, 
quality of water and maintenance of the 
filtration plant.

E. Ownership of the entire project is with this 
village-level committee. The committee 
was formed with the support of the District 
Development Manager (DDM), NABARD and 
NABFOUNDATION.

4. Key Milestones

• Solar infrastructure, UV-RO system optimised 
to run water purification system and batteries. 
e-Vehicle to enable the setup during less 
sunlight days and at night when required has 
been set up at the project site.

• Bank account opened for Gram Aapno Paani 
Samiti.

• Customised RO system set up with 2000 litre 
per hour capacity, purchase of UV system for 
water purification and 20 litre capacity high 
quality BPA free bottles for storage of water.

• Customised Electric Vehicle to carry 20 litres 
bottles for water delivery, purchase of tablets 
for digitisation and data entry during sales 
collection.

• Sustained awareness campaign on the use 
of the UV-RO water to promote and stimulate 
demand. 

5. Learnings 

Caste Dynamics: During the interaction with 
women on the field, it was found that caste dynamics 
have neither abated nor shows any signs of abating. 
The women from the Scheduled Caste (SC) and Other 
Backward Classes (OBC) were found to be spending 
roughly 5 hours fetching water. While on the other hand, 
women from the upper castes depended on the water 
tanker for meeting their drinking water requirements. 
Each project working in rural India must at least attempt 
to make a dent in the caste structure.  Our naming the 
project ‘AAPNO PAANI,’ meaning ‘OUR WATER,’ was 
a subtle effort to show that water was finally being 
supplied without any discrimination based on caste or 
religion.

Interaction with the villagers to understand challenges Understanding the issues faced by women
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6. Expected Project Outcomes

• Addressing clean and hygienic water related 
problems for 325 households by setting up 
a centralized solar-powered RO-UV water 
filtration system. 

• Opening up avenues for providing clean water 
to nearby villages as well.   

• In the short-run, the project will directly be 
contributing to reducing water-borne diseases 
such as diarrhoea, typhoid, etc. In the long-
run, it will attempt to target women’s health 
and fertility, longer life expectancy and better 
quality of life.  

• Increasing employment opportunities for 
women along with reducing time poverty, 
as women spend a lot of effort and time in 
making long journeys to source drinking water. 
With the filtration unit, their time and drudgery 
will be saved. 

• The project will also contribute to infrastructure 
development by directly setting up a solar-
powered centralized grid. This will promote 
renewable and sustainable energy, provide 
protection from rising utility costs to the 
villagers, and will not result in air and water 
pollution as there are zero carbon emissions. 

• The ownership of the filtration plant which is 
with the village-level committee, i.e., Gram 
Aapno Paani Samiti, will empower the villagers 
economically and financially. 

This project will work towards re-energising the entire 
ecosystem in this village of Rajasthan, not only through 
water, but also through empowerment of the village 
level institution in taking ownership of the water. 

Shri Sanjeev Rohilla, CEO, NABFOUNDATION discussing the project with key stakeholders
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Aapno Anaaj: 
An initiative to strengthen the livelihoods of the farmer 

community in Kharabera Bheemawatan village of Jodhpur

1. Contextualization in the Indian Setting 

Aapno Paani was designed as a pilot by 
NABFOUNDATION to showcase a community-based 
effort to address the energy and water crises in 
Kharabera Bheemawatan village. This village is one 
of the most distressed villages of the Rajasthan where 
almost all households depend on makeshift water 
tankers due to the acute shortage of clean drinking 
water. What compounds the issue is the fact that the 
main village pond is also used by both humans and 
cattle. This project aims to set up a central solar power 
-based RO-UV filtration plant in association with the 
implementing partner through grassroots and rural 
innovation development by sourcing water from 
nearby borewell and other water bodies in the 
Kharabera Bheemawatan region. 

While Project Aapno Paani 
looked at solving the water 
related challenges, we at 
NABFOUNDATION went ahead 
to undertake a baseline survey 
to gauge the other challenges 
being faced in this village of 325 
householders and a population 
of 2500. One such major 
challenge turned out to be the 

marketing of agri-produce such as Jowar, Bajra, and 
Moong, which was being marketed at an extremely 
low-price range of Rs. 20-25 per kg. Lack of awareness 
of processing also left the villagers with no regular 
source of income. 

Against this background, NABFOUNDATION 
designed an intervention along with INNOTERRA, to 
broad-base and support the farmers market their 
produce by undertaking activities such as primary 
grading, cleaning, sorting, packaging, and marketing. 
‘Aapno Anaaj’ aims to provide an end-to-end 
marketing support for the millets grown in the village. 
The raw material will be procured from the local farmers 

and will be packed into 1kg and ½ kg packets 
after a thorough cleaning and 

sorting. This initiative will 
help in contributing 
towards a sustainable 
livelihood for the 
villagers by providing 

a steady income. 
Once the desired 

impact is achieved, similar 
interventions are proposed 

to be replicated in the nearby 
villages.
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2. Focus areas 
NABFOUNDATION is undertaking the following interventions:

Procurement:
In the pilot, initial procurement will be 13 quintals which 

will be stored and primary processing will be 
undertaken.

Primary processing:
• Cleaning: Removal of stones, unwanted materials, 

dead leaves from the raw material
• Dehulling: Removal of outermost layer from grain 

for the grading process
• Packaging: Packing in 1 and 1/2 kg packets

Branding and labelling: Brand name: Aapno Anaaj

Packaging and marketing: A thorough understanding 
of existing nearby markets and exposure to marketing 
channels including retail outlets, e-commerce, large-
scale events.

Procurement Primary processing Packaging and 
labelling

Marketing
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3. Our Field Experience 

• Each village presents itself as a unique eco-
system requiring a mix of interventions. We 
need to look beyond what is obvious on the 
surface.  

• All community based projects must have 
collectivization of farmers as the very basis of 
policy framework. This alone can generate 
additional revenues on a sustained basis.

• There is a need for building village level 
organizations for a more transparent and 
empowering user experience. The village level 
samiti by NABFOUNDATION is a step in the 
same direction.

• Convergence among various stakeholders 
is going to be an absolute must as more 
and more specialized players join in the 
development eco-system. Roles of each 
player will have to be laid out in the planning 
stage itself. Our convergence with Innoterra, 
a Swiss-based agency to bring on board their 
technical expertise in executing the project 
was a step in this convergence.

4. Overall Outcomes

• Enhanced and sustained income through 
maximum utilization of local resources.

• Introduction of farming community to basic 
post-harvest value addition. 

• Ensuring market readiness of the farming 
community.

• Livelihoods with dignity which come along in 
the form of a brand and a scalable, tangible 
and quantifiable project.

• Mainstreaming of farmers with mainland 
markets.

This project will work towards re-addressing the 
needs of the farming community in the village and 
building a comprehensive intervention to enhance their 
livelihoods from within.
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Strengthening and Broad basing Pashmina and 
Wool Value Chain in Ladakh

1. Background and gamut of geospatial 
challenges

Ladakh comes with hundreds of happy touristy 
images of rugged valleys, snow-capped brown 
mountains, and winding roads coupled with vibrant 
cultural life. However, Ladakh also has another side, 
the very opposite of this: acute poverty, inclement 
weather, difficult topography, lack of infrastructure 
and lack of livelihoods. Ladakh is indeed a hugely 
backward region which demands close attention of 
policy framers viz. development organizations, civil 
society organizations, and so on. 

Our research has shown that although the 
region may be disadvantaged on the farm sector 
front, it has promising opportunities within the off-
farm sector ecology. These off-farm opportunities 
emerge from historical trade routes, available 
resources and the inherent skills and aspirations of 
the local population. Development of Pashmina 
and Yak wool value chains emerged as two 
areas which had immense potential for further 
development and expansion. 

2. Scope of textile cluster in Ladakh: 
Pashmina and Yak wool

As per the latest Handloom Census 2019-20, out 
of the total handloom/ handicraft households in India, 
23,068 (0.73%) reside in erstwhile Jammu & Kashmir 
state. In addition to this, about 71% of these households 
work on woollen yarns (including pashmina, yak and 
sheep wool) employing more than 90,000 artisans 
(almost one-third of the UT’s population). Almost 68% 
of these households in erstwhile J&K own a handloom.

The Changthang region of Ladakh produces 
between 35,000 to 50,000 kg of raw pashmina annually 
which is the primary source of livelihood in this region. 
At least 55% of the households depend on the income 
generated from sale of raw Pashmina and thus, the 
Pashmina industry in Ladakh remains a raw material-
based industry. 

Most of the profit margins in the Pashmina 
trade come in through value addition after sale 
of de-haired wool. The Ladakhi herders/ producers 
are not a part of this value creation with just less 
than 1200 kg of raw pashmina being processed 
into finished products within Ladakh.

More than 95% of raw Pashmina is supplied 
outside Ladakh to different textile c l u s t e r s . 
Ladakh pashmina is largely supplied as 

raw, dehaired wool in bulk to the 
cashmere industry 

that Kashmiri artisans, 
traders and merchants have brought to the attention 
of the world with their exquisite finished products like 

shawls and other apparel. With many luxury brands 
promoting Pashmina, Cashmere and Yak 

wool products in the global market, the 
demand for these products is seeing 

an upward trend. 

Unfortunately, even today, there 
are no adequate processing and 

value addition facilities for Pashmina 
in Ladakh. The traditional Ladakhi Art of 

spinning and weaving Pashmina is dying 
due to migration and reluctance of younger 

generation to take it forward. 

At NABFOUNDATION, we realized that this could 
change if we are able to bring value addition into 

the sector which favours the producers.
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3. OFDD-NABARD, NABFOUNDATION and 
LLWC - Leveraging the power of convergence

To take this journey forward and build a value 
chain in the region, NABFOUNDATION prepared a DPR 
(Detailed Project Report) with a total financial outlay of 
Rs. 1.19 Crore and approached Off Farm Development 
Department (OFDD), NABARD for sanctioning of this 
project. 

The project will be implemented through Looms of 
Ladakh Women Cooperative (LLWC) in Chushul village 
of Changthang region. To contextualize, Chushul 
village in Changthang region is the prime source for the 
finest pashmina wool.  The village is small, but located 
at a very critical junction in the region and acts as a 
decentralized hub for the members of villages of this 
region.

Our partner agency, LLWC, is a dynamic 
organization engaged in Pashmina value chain for 
nearly five years. Its vision is to make Looms of Ladakh 
Cooperative an exclusive global brand standing for 
ecologically and culturally sustainable fiber.  It aims to 
bring economic benefits to the herders and artisans 
of Ladakh by developing a holistic value chain for 
Pashmina and Yak wool at its origin. The Cooperative 
was established in 2017 in Leh, and, since then, has been 
working closely with local women artisans to revive the 
dying art of spinning and weaving Pashmina. The effort 
is not just limited to spinning and weaving. In fact, equal 
stress is laid upon natural dyeing, designing, tailoring, 
branding, and marketing.

Under this OFDD-NABARD sponsored project, 
LLWC members are being trained by professional 
trainers and industry experts to create a pool of quality 
spinners, weavers, natural dyeing experts, designers 
and industrial tailors. Branding and marketing of the 
products has been kept at the centre of the intervention. 
NABFOUNDATION is also helping LLWC mobilize more 
members in the region and increase its presence.

Members of the Looms of Ladakh Women Cooperative



121

Ladakhi yak 

Shri Harsh Deshmukh, AVP, NABFOUNDATION, with the members of the Looms of Ladakh Women Cooperative

Product shoot 
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4. Building a work studio cum training centre

At NABFOUNDATION, we realized the clear need 
for developing necessary infrastructure in the form of a 
community-based workshop cum training center, which 
will allow women to work in the harsh October- March 
period when Chushul stays mostly cut off. The current 
working space for women members of LLWC, Chushul 
is a poorly designed concrete work shed, wherein 
they spin, weave, design and stich the apparels. In the 
severe winters of Chushul, the concrete workshed gets 
extremely cold and hinders the members in performing 
their tasks.

The support provided by OFDD, NABARD to 
NABFOUNDATION will help in building a Passive Solar 
Heated Work Studio cum Training Centre to provide a 
warm and comfortable work space to the members. 
This energy efficient workshop with restrooms for women 
is being setup here, in partnership with the legendary 
innovator Shri Sonam Wangchuk. 

The Centre will also act as a Nodal Training Centre 
for the members. The professional trainers, faculties and 
experts will be visiting this Centre to train the members 
in various disciplines of the industry.

Chushul is also symbolic as the pastoralist 
Changspa tribe halts in Chushul near the water bodies 
for a fortnight during their transhumance each year. The 
proposed Centre in Chushul is located near a flowing 
stream and has the potential to host the nomads and 
engage in exchange of knowledge through various 
means, without any disruption to their lives. 

In a nutshell, this will be a holistic project covering 
training to Ladakhi women of LLWC in capacity building 
activities such as weaving, dyeing, designing, and also 
development of physical infrastructure in the form of a 
work studio cum training centre at Chushul. 

Members of the Looms of Ladakh Women Cooperative
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When completed, this project would have touched 
one of the most isolated and inhospitable places in 
India, once again re-affirming the special place hilly 
regions have in the policy framework of NABARD.

Members of the Looms of Ladakh Women Cooperative

Members of the Looms of Ladakh Women Cooperative
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Project Bazaar Connect
SMALL FARMS, BIG OPPORTUNITIES: Linking FPOs to Markets

7500
FPOs 

1. Background 

Farmer Producer Organisations (FPO) 
became popular after 2013 when successful 
demonstrations were documented in few pockets. 
This initiative spearheaded by NABARD and Small 
Farmers’ Agribusiness Consortium (SFAC) has, 
till date, promoted 73741  FPOs in the country. 
However, majority still lack access to marketing 
knowledge. Many FPOs struggle to find potential 
markets for their produce. Due to this, they prefer 
to restrict themselves to input businesses with their 
shareholder farmers and non-shareholders, as 
it is a low hanging fruit and risk-free. The role of 
marketing becomes extremely important as an 
FPO matures from selling the primary products 
to secondary and tertiary products or processed 
goods.   

India has a potential of 1,00,000 odd Farmer 
Producer Organizations (FPOs) or roughly one 
FPO for 6 villages each. While this figure may be 
disputable, fact remains that we have just about 
7500 FPOs in the country, 4,000 of which have 
been supported by NABARD. There is clearly 
a huge need for organizations which help in 

formation of more FPOs and GOI’s resolution to 
set up 10,000 new FPOs is a step towards that. In 
addition to this, there is also a need to empower 
existing FPOs. 

Lack of sustainable systems for strengthening 
market linkages of FPOs has been well document-
ed. At the same time, multiple opportunities exist 
within the agri-ecology which can leverage the 
available resources with the help of FPOs. The 
challenge is to ensure market readiness and build 
robust market linkages to generate a sustained 
revenue stream. This project is an effort in that 
direction.

Against this background, enabling 
marketing at remunerative prices is the most 
critical requirement for the success of FPOs. It 
highlights two important points:

• The linkage with industry/other market players, 
large retailers, etc. is necessary for long term 
sustainability of FPOs.
• There is a dire need to ensure that the required 
marketing value chain is owned and managed 
by the FPO.
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2. Project Status

The primary aim of Bazaar Connect is to showcase 
that change is possible in the marketing system 
available to FPOs by strengthening basic market 
related components within the FPO ecosystem. This 
will be achieved by working with 12 FPOs and setting 
up systems- procurement, quality checks, certifications, 
licensing, branding, packaging, labelling, linkages 
with markets etc. The project will provide a sustained 
livelihood to over 10,000 farmer families in the short run 
and will expand in the mid-long term.

3. Main project components

1. Richa Govil, Annapurna Neti and Madhushree R. Rao. 2020. Farmer Producer Companies: 
Past, Present and Future. Azim Premji University, Bangalore, 2020

Geography identification 
(For selection of FPOs)

Designing and 
implementing scope of 

intervention

Shortlisting and finalising 
FPOs based on detailed 

criteria

Capacity building and 
handholding support

Deep databased 
analysis of the FPOs to 

understand and analyse 
existing marketing 

challenges

Project ownership and 
sustainability

Smt. Ishita Meshram, AVP, NABFOUNDATION, on a field visit under the project



126

NABFOUNDATION Annual Report 2021-22

4. Project Methodology

• Stage I: Identification of 12 FPOs (with the help 
of NABKISAN and our Regional Offices)

• Stage II: Co-ideate, co-design and co-
create the project with full participation of all 
stakeholders

• Stage III: Deep data-based analysis of FPOs to 
understand their existing market linkages and 
scope of intervention

• Stage IV: Capacity Building in batches
• Stage V: Establishing marketing network 
• Stage VI: Building core competencies of the 

FPOs to run the project on their own
• Stage VII:  Strengthening systems for sustained 

growth

Guntur Chilli proposed to be covered under Bazaar 
Connect

Pomegranate proposed to be covered under the 
project 

5. Project Coverage: 

12 FPCs –FPOs from Andhra Pradesh, Maharashtra 
and Rajasthan are being covered  

6. Learnings

There ay be a renewed focus on promotion and 
formation of new FPOs in the country but we must not 
let go of the FPOs already in place. Their success will 
decide how the farmer communities will take to forming 
new FPOs. We do not need a study to inform us what 
FPOs need. The writing is very clear on the wall – real 
time market linkages.  The shift in market narrative is 
possible if the FPOs become aware of their marketing 
potential and are supported through more robust 
market readiness systems.
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In a nutshell, this project will work towards re-inventing 
the FPO landscape in the country, one step at a time, by 
bringing in required energy, expertise and direct market 
linkages.

An FPO in Maharashtra being covered under the 
project

Turmeric processing proposed to be covered under 
Bazaar Connect

7. Expected Project Outcomes 
 and Way Aheads

• Reaching over 10,000 farmers in the country, 
equipping them to increase their market 
potential by making them market-ready.

• Creating a brand name for the FPO produce 
and providing visibility to their products in the 
market. 

• Increasing the income of farmer members of 
identified FPOs.

• Strengthening 12 FPOs by providing improved 
marketing services to members.
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NABFOUNDATION as a knowledge-based organization

1. ‘Need for vaccination in rural India’

The second wave of the COVID-19 pandemic severely 
hit the country, particularly impacting rural India. Apart 
from the issues such as the lack of supplies, one major 
development observed across rural India was the 
bogey of fears, myths and ill-conceived notions relating 
to Covid vaccination. The sheer lack of knowledge 
and understanding about the vaccination emerged 
as major hurdle in combating the virus. As a response 
to this widening gap of confusion, NABARD through its 
subsidiary NABFOUNDATION, conducted a quick field 
level research to gain insights about the major fears and 
questions among rural Indians. An 8-minute short 
film titled ‘Need for vaccination in rural India,’ 
was thereafter created, addressing these very 
fears and questions. The film featured a message by 
Dr. G R Chintala, Chairman, NABARD, and Dr. Hemant 
Mankad, one of the most renowned General Physicians 
in Ahmedabad, Gujarat, to demystify the myths around 
COVID-19 vaccination. 

A coordinated effort was made through the national 
level network of NABARD offices and district level 
managers to ensure that the message reaches the last 
village in the country. State Government departments, 
rural financial institutions, civil society, organizations, 
FPOs and SHGs were approached as outreach points 
to ensure the same. Moreover, in order to ensure far-
reaching penetration across rural India, the film was 
made available in 12 different languages, namely- 
English, Hindi, Marathi, Gujarati, Kannada, Tamil, Odia, 
Malayalam, Telugu, Manipuri, Bengali, and Khasi.

The videos have been uploaded on 
NABFOUNDATION’s YouTube channel and 
the entire playlist can be accessed by 
scanning the QR code.
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2. Development Planning in the post-Covid world 
       A national-level conclave

On 22nd June 2021, NABFOUNDATION and NABARD came together to organize a 
national-level conclave around the central theme of ‘Covid-proofing on-going 
and future development projects.’ This was organized against the backdrop of 
the ravage caused by the pandemic which brought thousands of development 
projects across the country to a halt. At NABFOUNDATION, we realized that given 
the possibility of recurrence of pandemic-like events, we needed to work towards 
building a platform for development professionals to collate their experiences and 
learnings for re-modelling and revisiting development projects. This national-level 
conclave was one such attempt in that direction. 

The conclave saw the participation of some of the finest development professionals 
from 22 top-level CSR organizations and CSOs in the country, sharing their 
experiences around development planning in the post-Covid world.  It was chaired 
by Dr. G R Chintala, Chairman, NABARD, who delivered a special address to all the 
participants. 

The conclave was marked as an ‘urgent need of the hour,’ with discussions that 
emerged to benefit and guide the CSR projects of over 1000 CSR implementing 
companies, and over a lakh of NGOs working in the health and sanitation space, 
across the country.

As an extension to this conclave, an 
e-brochure compiling all major discussions 
was also designed and launched by 
NABFOUNDATION. The copy of the brochure 
can be accessed by scanning the QR code.

The livestream footage of the conclave 
has been uploaded on NABFOUNDATION’s 
YouTube channel and can be accessed by 
scanning the QR code.

Covid-proofing 
Development Projects 
under CSR
e-Brochure summarising all discussions from the 
webinar on 22nd June, 2021



130

NABFOUNDATION Annual Report 2021-22

3. ‘Knowledge-convergence through agri-startups’
  A national-level conclave

It has been proven beyond doubt that what saved India from a sure shot catastrophe during, and after the many 
waves of the pandemic, was the phenomenal rally by the agri-sector. Equally significant was the role played by 
agri start-ups, who are said to hold the key to many travails afflicting the Indian agri-sector. Currently, it is estimated 
that there are about 600 to 700 agritech startups in India operating at different levels of agri-value chains. The 
market potential of these start-ups has been estimated to reach $24 billion by 2025. 

Against this background, on 1st September 2021, NABFOUNDATION, along with NABARD and NABVENTURES, 
organized a national-level conclave around the central theme of ‘Knowledge-convergence through Agri- Startups.’ 
The conclave witnessed the participation of 12 of the most promising agri-start-ups sharing their aspirations and 
growth strategies with policy framers in the country. It provided a platform to the representatives of these start-ups 
to collate their experiences and learnings for ensuring scaling up their ventures and connecting with on-ground 
beneficiaries such as FPOs and SHGs, especially in the aftermath of the pandemic.

The conclave was chaired Dr. G R Chintala, Chairman, NABARD, while Shri Anil Agrawal, Additional Secretary, 
Department for Promotion of Industry and Internal Trade (DPIIT), Ministry of Commerce and Industry delivered the 
inaugural speech.

The livestream footage of the conclave 
has been uploaded on NABFOUNDATION’s 
YouTube channel and can be accessed by 
scanning the QR code.
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MoUs in 2021-22

MoU between NABFOUNDATION and 
Central Warehousing Corporation 
(CWC)

On 4th August 2021, CWC and NABFOUNDATION signed 
an MoU to bring scientific storage and warehouse 
facilities closer to farmers affiliated to Farmer Producers 
organizations (FPOs). Shri Sanjeev Rohilla, CEO, 
NABFOUNDATION and Shri Amit Kumar Singh, Director, 
CWC signed on behalf of their organizations. The MoU 
signing ceremony was chaired by Dr. G R Chintala, 
Chairman, NABARD, and Shri Shrivastava, MD, CWC.
The converged efforts of the organizations will make 
state-of-the-art scientific storage facilities accessible to 
over 5000 FPOs across the country.

Need for the intervention
Approximately 7 million tonnes of food grains are lost 
each year simply due to lack of scientific storage. 
The March 2015 ICAR-CIPET Report on the assessment 
of quantitative harvest and post-harvest losses had 
estimated the total volume of losses for all commodities 
to be about Rs 92,651 crore. The wastage and loss are 
more pronounced in perishable items. Additionally, 
the domestic warehousing market is predictably 
highly fragmented with most warehouses having an 
area less than 10,000 square feet. Approximately 90% 
of the warehousing space in the country is controlled 
by unorganized players who manage small-sized 
warehouses with limited mechanization. 
Against this background, the impending need for 
scientific storage facilities for our farmers was evident. 

How will this turn into a reality for farmers?
• NABFOUNDATION will help CWC in developing 

smart communication strategies to bring the 
advantages of CWC schemes to FPOs.

• NABFOUNDATION will create awareness among 
the FPOs/farmers about the benefits of the scientific 
storage through-

• Ground level sensitization drives
• Short film and other online channels
• CWC will provide scientific storage facilities 

to the interested FPOs recommended by 
NABFOUNDATION. CWC will extend the special 
discount of 30% on its published tariff to these FPOs.

• CWC will issue e-Negotiable Warehousing Receipts 
(e-NWRs) to the FPOs for the stored agri-produce.

• CWC warehouses will allow the interested FPOs 
to also use the space for other activities like 
drying, cleaning, processing, grading, assaying, 
packaging, labelling and standardization.

• CWC will  provide the interested FPOs access to air 
cargo operations and handling, and transportation, 
besides pest control services form.

• CWC premises may also be utilized to take-up 
warehouse-based sales activity by the respective 
FPOs through the e-trading facilities.

The pilot is proposed to take place in the states of 
Andhra Pradesh, Telangana and Tamil Nadu.

IMPACT
• Addressing post-harvest losses in the country. 
• Helping in provision of better price realisation for 

the farmers. 
• Addressing bottlenecks in logistics related to 

warehousing in the country. 
• Strengthening of supply chains.
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MoU between NABFOUNDATION and 
Innoterra

On 14th December 2021, NABFOUNDATION entered 
into an MoU with a Swiss-based food, finance and 
technology company-INNOTERRA, to systematically 
address the packaging, marketing, selling and branding 
aspirations of FPOs in an attempt to strengthen their 
market-readiness. The partnership aims to handhold 
the farmers in a very organic manner throughout the 
process and provide capacity building support to them. 
Shri Sanjeev Rohilla, CEO, NABFOUNDATION and Mr. 
Pablo Erat, CEO, Innoterra, signed on behalf of their 
organizations. The MoU signing ceremony was chaired 
by Smt. Suseela Chintala, MD & CEO, NABKISAN Finance 
Ltd.  

Need for the Intervention
Today, there are around 8,000 FPOs in the country. 
However, a majority of them lack marketing knowledge 
which further restricts their access to the markets. For 
this very reason, they prefer to restrict themselves to 
input businesses with their shareholder farmers and non-
shareholders, since it is risk-free. The role of marketing 
also becomes crucial as an FPO matures from selling 
primary produce to value added or packaged/
branded secondary and tertiary products. 

Moreover, amidst the disruption caused by the 
pandemic, the FPOs now, more than ever, struggle with 
finding the right markets. Lack of sustainable systems for 
strengthening market linkages of FPOs has been well 
documented. At the same time, multiple opportunities 
exist within the agri ecology that can leverage the 
available resources with the help of FPOs. The challenge 
is to ensure market readiness and build robust market 
linkages to generate a sustained revenue stream.
Therefore, today, enabling marketing at remunerative 
prices is the most critical requirement for the success of 
FPOs.

How will this materialize as a reality for farmers/FPOs? 
This partnership will entail processes that facilitate the 
FPOs to set systems of procurement, quality checks, 
certifications, licensing, branding, packaging, labelling, 
establishing linkages with markets, etc. The ultimate aim 
is to ensure that the FPO produce is able to harness its 
full marketing potential.

IMPACT
• Ensuring market readiness of FPOs and other 

collectives.
• Mainstreaming of FPOs and other collectives with 

mainland markets.
• Sustained and regular market avenues for the 

farmer households.
• Ensuring market-readiness for the farmers of the 

village.
• Livelihoods with dignity. 
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MoU between NABFOUNDATION and 
nurture.farm)

On 29th October 2022, NABFOUNDATION and nurture.
farm entered into an MoU to put an end to stubble 
burning, and provide livelihoods to SHG women across 
the country. Shri Sanjeev Rohilla, CEO, NABFOUNDATION 
and Shri Dhruv Sawhney, Business Head and COO, 
nurture.farm, signed on behalf of their organizations. 
The MoU signing ceremony was chaired by Shri K V Shaji, 
DMD, NABARD, and received widespread coverage 
in various national and local level newspapers such 
as Dainik Bhaskhar, Navbharat Times, Krishi Jagran, 
AgroSpectrum and so on.
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MoU between NABFOUNDATION and 
Nagrik Foundation

On 10th February 2022, NABFOUNDATION and Nagrik 
Foundation entered into an MoU to take up innovative 
projects that are in alignment with UN’s Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs) and work towards holistic 
rural development. Women and youth from rural India 
will be kept at the centre of these projects. The overall 
aim of will be the to open up pathways for livelihood 
generation, particularly in the aftermath of the 
pandemic. 
Shri Shri Sanjeev Rohilla, CEO, NABFOUNDATION and Shri 
Deepak Dwivedi, Chairman, Nagrik Foundation signed 
on behalf of their organizations.

MoU between NABFOUNDATION and 
ActionAid Association (AAA) 

On 10th February 2022, NABFOUNDATION and ActionAid 
Association entered into an MoU to take up innovative 
projects in the farm and off-farm sector with particular 
focus on livelihood generation for farmers through FPOs 
and for women through SHGs and women collectives. 
Shri Shri Sanjeev Rohilla, CEO, NABFOUNDATION and Shri 
Sandeep Chachra, ED, ActionAid Association, signed 
on behalf of their organizations.
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Our Films
 in 2021-22

At NABFOUNDATION, we believe in the medium of 
visuals as an effective means of communication and 
collectivization. In 2021-22, we released a few films 
related to our work, and the overall progress and 
impact created under our projects.

My Pad | My Right Training Film 
As COVID-19 had restricted movement in almost 
all states, the training of the SHG women members 
under project ‘My Pad | My Right’ was indeed a 
challenge. Therefore, NABFOUNDATION decided to 
make a comprehensive film on all training aspects of 
production, sales, administration and marketing of 
the project to share among the SHG 
members across the country. This film 
was based on the compiled inputs 
received from other SHGs who had 
already run such units before.

NABFOUNDATION- Leveraging the Power of 
Convergence 
This introductory video brings to light the vision behind 
NABOUNDATION’s formulation. It provides a brief insight 
into the scope of work and the projects taken up by 
NABFOUNDATION. Most importantly, the video is a call to 
collaborate with multiple stakeholders 
across the development space to bring 
forth directed on-ground change by 
leveraging the power of convergence!
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NABFOUNDATION celebrates its 2nd Foundation 
Day
Released on NABFOUNDATION’s 2nd Foundation Day, 
this film was built on the premise that we are what we 
repeatedly do, and at NABFOUNDATION, we strive 
to do better every single time. The 
film provides a glimpse into the social 
media imprint of NABFOUNDATION and 
by virtue of that, attempts to capture 
the distance covered by us in a span of 
2 years.

Celebrating one year of My Pad | My Right 
(MPMR)
On 15th October 2021, International Day of Rural 
Women, Project ‘My Pad | My Right’ completed one 
year of operation. Through dedicated efforts, and 
strategic planning, this project managed to reach rural 
women in every state of the country, including remote 
locations such as Ladakh and the NER. 
This film was released as a celebration 
of all the milestones achieved under 
the project and as an attempt to thank 
all those whose support, guidance and 
dedication have made this journey 
possible.

Farm-based Livelihood Education and 
Learning School
In 2020, two subsidiaries of NABARD- NABCONS and 
NABKISAN joined hands with NABFOUNDATION to give 
shape to the future of capacity building in the remote 
Garo Hills of Meghalaya, through Bakdil. The result was 
a farm-based livelihood education and learning school 
that changed the entire landscape of the region. 
After a year of the intervention, this film was released 
showcase the impact generated in the community 
and landscape. 
Despite the pandemic and the difficult 
terrain, these subsidiaries, through their 
CSR support proved that, change is 
sustainable and tangible.
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Shri Sanjeev D Rohilla, CEO, NABFOUNDATION with 
Dr. Karad, Minister of State for Finance.

Shri Sanjeev Rohilla with Shri Kiren Rijiju, Hon’ble Union Minister of Law and 
Justice of India and Member of Parliament from Arunachal Pradesh

Gallery and Events - 2021-22
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Team NABFOUNDATION celebrates its 2nd Foundation Day in the presence of Dr. 
G R Chintala, Chairman, NABARD and Shri K V Shaji, DMD, NABARD
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Shri Sanjeev D Rohilla, CEO, NABFOUNDATION presenting NABFOUNDATION’s 
Annual Report 2020-21 to Shri K V Shaji, DMD, NABARD

Shri Sanjeev D Rohilla, CEO, NABFOUNDATION presenting NABFOUNDATION’s 
Annual Report 2020-21 to Shri PVS Suryakumar, DMD, NABARD
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Shri Sanjeev D Rohilla, CEO, NABFOUNDATION 
with Dr. Alok Mishra, CEO, MFIN

Shri Sanjeev D Rohilla, CEO, NABFOUNDATION with NTPC CSR Team
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Shri Sanjeev D Rohilla, CEO, NABFOUNDATION with 
Shri, Atanu Das, Chairman, Bank of India

Shri Sanjeev D Rohilla, CEO, NABFOUNDATION, was invited as a speaker for a cross-cultural conference 
organized on the occasion of World Menstrual Hygiene Day, 28th May 2021. The conference was 

centered around the theme of ‘Menstrual Hygiene Management and Gender Collective Advocacy,’ 
and saw the participation of over 9 countries, including India. During the conference, Shri Sanjeev Rohilla 
elaborately discussed the realities of period poverty in India, the difficulties faced by our rural women in 
relation to menstruation, and how NABFOUNDATION’s project ‘My Pad | My Right’ has been designed to 

address these very realities.

Events in 2021-22
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On 7th December 2021, Shri Sanjeev D Rohilla, CEO, NABFOUNDATION, was invited as a moderator for 
a panel discussion organized by CSRBOX under their India CSR Summit 2021. The theme for the panel 

discussion was ‘Transforming Rural India and Investing in the local economy: Models and Experiences.’ 
Ms. Tushara Shankar, Head-CSR, Lupin Ltd.; Ms. Niyati Sareen, Project Director, Hinduja Foundation; Dr. 
Dhanalaksmi Ramachandra, CSR Business Partner- Strategic Projects and Stakeholder Engagement, 

Bayer Prayas Association; and Mr. Balaji P., Chief Regulatory and Corporate Affairs Officer, Vodafone Idea 
Limited and Director, Vodafone Idea Foundation had joined the discussion as panelists. 

During the panel discussion, Shri Sanjeev Rohilla not only brought in examples of NABFOUNDATION’s 
work and experiences with the grassroots, but also facilitated the collation of experiences of other 

development professionals who had joined as panelists.
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An interview with 
Shri Monomoy Mukherjee, CGM, NABARD

The NABFOUNDATION team got a wonderful 
surprise during the last year. The surprise was a 
donation of Rs. 1 Lakh from Shri Monomoy 
Mukherjee, Chief General Manager, NABARD. 
The help was so timely because we needed just 
around the same amount to give a closure to a 
unique project in water starved region of Luni 
block in Jodhpur, Rajasthan. His contribution 
also enabled us to help facilitate the villagers 
gain market-readiness by way of selling their 
millets, duly packed and branded, on online 
portals.
We approached him to understand his 
perspective about 
development, and here are 
his thoughts.
 
Question 1: In the many 
years of you working in the 
development sector, which 
project has been the 
closest to your heart which 
you were 
a part of? Why?

In the summer of 2001, some 
20 years ago, I reached 
West Bengal to take up the 
responsibility of being a District 
Development Manager (DDM) 
for NABARD in one of the least 
developed districts of that state. 
Bengal as you know, is divided 
into two regions-North Bengal 
and South Bengal. The south side 
is comparatively more backward, and my district was 
the most backward district of them all. It took me a year 
or so to disaggregate the development eco-system 
of the district. I observed that most NGOs and other 
development agencies in that district were focusing 
mainly on health and nutrition initiatives. However, my 
learnings guided me to understand that the ‘income 
issue’ was central to the entire health and nutrition 
narrative. So, if I have an income- I have nutrition, I have 
health and so on. 

I saw SHGs as central to any meaningful and sustainable 
work in the district and thus started my journey of not 
just forming more SHGs but also roping in the existing 
ones into taking up more and more economic activities. 
The entire focus was on bringing income to the forefront 
– something which we actually formalized in the form 
of SHG 2.0 in the later years. So, that was a deeply 
satisfying experience because it brought me closer to 
hundreds of aspirational rural SHG members and deeply 
committed NGO partners. For sure, the SHG model truly 
helped in shifting the energy of the entire development 

landscape in the district.  

As an extension to this 
economic activity at the 
heart of SHG model, the 
entire system of District 
Cooperative Central Bank 
also underwent significant 
transformation during my 
tenure. You see, the West 
Bengal government started 
a system called ‘SHG as sub-
system of PACS’ wherein they 
allowed SHGs to be nominal 
members of PACS. This helped 
in diversification, resource 
mobilization, and even on-
lending.  And although this 
was just one of the reasons, it 
did push the DCCB towards 
becoming viable again. I 

am happy to share here that the Vaidyanathan 
Committee, quoted this as a viable model for DCCBs 
for diversification and profitability.  

I therefore rate this one as dear to my heart since it 
touched so many aspects of my district.
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Question 2: What was the inspiration behind 
donating towards NABFOUNDATION’s projects?

As a development professional working closely with 
rural India for over 30 years, I have always had the 
inclination to extend my support to organizations whole-
heartedly committed towards the empowerment of 
rural India. After my basic due diligence about this 
organization and other organizations working in and 
for rural India, I decided to donate to NABFOUNDATION 
for a couple of reasons- First, the vision and mission of 
the NABFOUNDATION appealed to me since they were 
in line with the apex development financial institution 
of the country- NABARD. Second, the projects being 
undertaken by the Foundation were not only innovative, 
but also involved different development organizations 
from across the country as stakeholders. Therefore, I 
knew that NABFOUNDATION had the potential to create 
a far-reaching impact. Last but not the least, on the 
personal front, the donation was to provide me with 
some benefits as well. Thus, I wanted to make sure that 
at least 10 times of that reaches rural India. In my heart, 
I knew NABFOUNDATION could help make that possible. 

Question 3: Given your vast experience 
in the development sector, what more do 
you envision for NABFOUNDATION’s growth 
trajectory?

Answer: Despite being one of the youngest subsidiaries 
of NABARD, and starting out right amidst the covid 
storm, NABFOUNDATION is doing a wonderful job. The 
projects being undertaken by NABFOUNDATION are 
unique and spread across both farm and off-farm 
sectors. I believe that its growth trajectory is moving 
at quite a fast pace. If I were to suggest something, it 
would be around the concept of ‘ESG.’ This concept is 
gaining a lot of prominence these days, and it is truly, 
a promising concept too. Perhaps, NABFOUNDATION 
could do something in this space, particularly for the ‘s’ 
factor or ‘social’ factor. 

Question 4: What possibilities in the 
development sector excite you today?

Answer: I believe that the Social Stock Exchange is quite 
interesting and exciting. It is here that NABFOUNDATION 
can carve out a unique role for itself- maybe on the 
capacity building front. NABFOUNDATION can work with 
NGOs and help them create something big, working 
towards being more outcome-oriented in their thinking.

Question 5: In your opinion, what are some 
of the major challenges posing us today as 
development professionals? How can we 
surpass these challenges?

Answer: I think there is an impending need to understand 
‘why’ and ‘what’ FPOs require today. If you take a 
look at the FPO landscape, my clear understanding of 
this subject is that an FPO has to be formed around a 
business proposition. If, and only if, there is a business 
proposition, should an FPO be set-up. You see, formation 
and aggregation are not the only requirements. At 
the theoretical level, it is critical to understand what is 
needed by the organization before creating it. 
An FPO is not simply about farmers growing the same 
crop, coming together. For example, gathering 50 
wheat-growing farmers to come together to sell wheat 
is not going to help. In fact, this is not an FPO in a real 
sense of the word. Quite like putting 15-20 women 
together to get a line of credit is not an SHG. So, clarity 
about our end goals is hugely critical. 

There has to be a value addition and a clear-cut 
business model. So essentially, the ‘need’ should lead to 
organization creation, not the other way around. There 
should be a clear strategy behind why and what we are 
doing, not just running after certain targets. This needs 
to be highlighted and emphasized, otherwise we will 
end up with 10,000 FPOs doing nothing. 
In fact, if we are driven by only ‘meeting targets’ then 
the energy and resources put in will not give us the 
benefits we intended on having. This is the biggest 
challenge today.
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Media Gallery #NFnews
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Building Magahi 
Paan Value 

Chain

The Cheriyal 
Revival Project

Re-defining Agri 
Value Chain with 
SHGs and FPOs in 

Maharashtra

Sau 
Umeedien

Project 
Abhisaran
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Upcoming Projects
2022-23

NABFOUNDATION is currently in the process of 
developing projects that will bring in a renewed focus to 
the development landscape across both, the farm and 
off-farm sectors. These projects will be implemented 
with a host of partners to leverage the power of 
convergence and facilitate broad-basing impact. 

1. Building Magahi Paan Value Chain
The paan farmers in Gaya district, Bihar not only lack 
the skillsets to carry out value addition to their produce 
but are also subjected to exploitation at the hands of 
the middlemen. These farmers have been historically 
excluded from accessing the market directly. Under 
the project, NABFOUNDATION, with the support of 
Bihar Regional Office, will be undertaking training and 
capacity building of Magahi paan farmers in Gaya. The 
project will not only work towards skilling the farmers in 
‘safedi’ technique but will also help them in establishing 
market linkages. The overall aim of the project is to build 
a value chain for Magahi paan in the country. 

2. The Cheriyal Revival Project 
The Nakashi artists in Cheriyal are well regarded for their 
folk paintings as well as dolls and masks made from 
tamarind seed paste and saw-dust. Today, there are 
only a handful of master artisans continuing this craft 
which places this artform in the danger of dying out. The 
Cheriyal Revival Project will work towards the provision 
of a holistic end to end approach to support the existing 
master artisans with design and marketing support, as 
well as skill training of local women from low-income 
families who will be formed into a group enterprise for 
sustained production and income. 

3.  Re-defining Agri Value Chain with SHGs 
and FPOs in Maharashtra
Inefficiencies in the agri-input supply chain have been 
disrupting the Indian agri-sector for over a millennia. 
Some of these inefficiencies are: Excessively high prices 
of agri-inputs, lack of authentic and certified agri-inputs 
for the farmers, lack of ease of purchase of agri inputs, 
and lack of information about application protocols. 
Under this jointly funded proposed project between 
nurture.farm, NABFOUNDATION and Maharashtra 
Regional Office, the aim is to involve SHGs as 
intermediaries in the agri marketing chain. The project 
envisions building an ecosystem to support the farmers 
in getting access to the best of the agri-inputs and 
services at their doorstep with a sense of trust and 
faith in the products and product sellers. The other 
overarching goal is to empower SHGs by involving them 
into the highly lucrative and much required agri-inputs 
value chain at village level. 

4. Sau Umeedien 
The COVID-19 pandemic re-instated the focus on 
‘health’ as a major driving force of the economy. 
Under this project, NABFOUNDATION will be partnering 
with CHD group to train 100 students as Public Health 
& Nursing Assistants. They will be skilled in providing 
frontline healthcare in homes as nursing attendants 
and as general duty assistants in hospitals. This skilling 
will also enable them to join the healthcare industry 
at hospitals, old age homes, palliative care centres, 
smaller hospitals, corporate hospitals and Primary 
Health Centers.  These trainees will also be able to work 
at private homes, non-government organizations and in 
corporate foundations for development work. 

5. Project Abhisaran 
There is an impending need to understand the 
development initiatives which are required by existing 
FPOs today. This project will work towards developing 
a smart, technologically-oriented project that will 
bring in new age inventions closer to our farmers and 
help in enhancing their income. A range of services 
such as branding and marketing, accounting related 
compliances, soil-testing and storage facilities will be 
provided to the FPOs. 
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Financials and Accounts 
of NABFOUNDATION

Chapter 6:
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Notice For The Annual General Meeting Of NABFOUNDATION

Dear Members,

NOTICE is hereby given to the members of NABFOUNDATION that the 3rd Annual General Meeting of the Foundation 
will be held online via Microsoft Teams on 23rd September 2022 at 11:30 a.m. to transact the following business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS
Adoption of Annual Audited Financial Statements and Reports thereon- Ordinary Resolution:

1. To consider and if thought fit, to pass, with or without modification(s), the following resolution as an 
Ordinary Resolution:

 “RESOLVED THAT the Financial Statements consisting of Balance Sheet as on 31st March, 2022, statement 
of Income and Expenditure for the Financial Year ended on that date, together with Schedules and 
Notes thereon and cash flow statement and with the Report of the Board of Directors and auditors for the 
financial year ended March 2022 be and are hereby approved”

2. To fix the remuneration of Auditors and in this regard, to consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without 
modification(s), the following resolution as an Ordinary resolution: 

“RESOLVED THAT in pursuance of Section 142 read with Section 139 (5) of the Companies Act, 2013, the Board of 
Directors be and is hereby authorized to fix and approve the remuneration of the Statutory Auditor of the company 
appointed by the Comptroller and Auditor General of India (CAG) for the financial year 2022-23.”
By order of the Board of Directors 

For NABFOUNDATION
                             
Sanjeev D Rohilla
CEO & Director
DIN: 08640408 
      
1st September 2022
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Directors Report
To,
The Members,
NABFOUNDATION

Your Directors are pleased to present to you the 3rd Annual Report of NABFOUNDATION on the operations of the 
Foundation and the accounts for the Financial Year ended on March 31, 2022.

1. Financial summary or highlights/ Performance of the Foundation
 The financial results for the year ended 31st March, 2022 are as under:
 

Particulars 31.03.2022 31.03.2021
Total Contribution/Fund Received  1,04,92,409 1,94,03,454
Other Income 56,07,401 40,02,681
Less: Expenditure for the Year excluding Depreciation 
and Amortization Exp.

3,13,64,670 2,12,94,703

Income or Expenditure before Depreciation and 
Amortization Exp.

(1,52,64,860) 21,11,432

Less: Depreciation & Amortization Expense 58492 23,259
Income or Expenditure after Depreciation and 
Amortization Exp. But before Tax

(1,53,23,352) 20,88,173

Less: Current Tax and Deferred Tax Nil Nil
Income or Expenditure after Tax (1,53,23,352) 20,88,173

2. Brief Description of the Foundation’s working During the Year:-
The Foundation was incorporated by NABARD to complement NABARD’s developmental/promotional roles/ 
functions and strengthen the delivery efficacy/quality of outcomes of promotional projects in the field of 
agriculture and rural development. 

NABFOUNDATION is registered as a wholly-owned subsidiary of NABARD under Section 8 of Companies Act, 
2013. NABFOUNDATION is envisioned with functional autonomy that would emerge as a reputed organization 
working for implementing NABARD’s developmental initiatives effectively. The organization would also network, 
coordinate and collaborate with other organizations to execute tasks related to developmental activities. The 
Foundation has reported Deficit of `1,53,23,352.00 for the Financial Year 2021-22 under review as compared to 
a Surplus of `20,88,173.00 in the previous year.

3. Share Capital structure
 The Share Capital Structure as on 31st March 2022 is as under:

Authorised Share Capital `5,00,00,000/- (Rupees Five crore Only)
Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up Share Capital `5,00,00,000/- (Rupees Five crore Only)

4. Dividend
 By virtue of being a Company registered under section 8 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Foundation 

cannot declare any dividend.
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5. Board of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel
 The composition of Board of Directors as on 31st March 2022 is as under:

Sr. 
No.

Name of the Director DIN Date of Appointment

1. Shri Govinda Rajulu Chintala 03622371 30/06/2020
2. Shri Sanjay Kumar Dora 07929512 02/09/2021
3. Shri Sanjeev D. Rohilla 08640408 16/12/2019
4. Shri Jyoti Swarup Upadhyay 09501667 15/03/2022
5. Shri Nirupam Mehrotra 08770770 30/06/2020
6. Shri Jitender Kalra 08722638 13/03/2020

6. Number of Board Meetings
 The Board of Directors met three times, the details of which are as follows:

Number of Board Meeting Date of the Board Meeting No. of Directors Present
1st   04/06/21 6

2nd 02/09/21 6
3rd 15/03/22 5

 The time gap between two Board Meetings, as applicable to a Company registered under Section 8 of 
the Companies Act, 2013 was maintained.

 Directors Attendance
 Attendances of the directors for the Board meetings held during the financial year are as follows: 

Sr. 
No.

Name of Director Meeting Eligible to 
attend

Meeting Attended

1. Shri Govinda Rajulu Chintala 3 3
2. Shri Asit Kumar Mohanty 1 1
3. Shri Sanjay Kumar Dora 2 2
4. Shri Nirupam Mehrotra 3 3
5. Shri Sanjeev D. Rohilla 3 3
6. Shri Sanjeev Dhamija 3 2
7. Shri Jitender Kalra 3 3
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7. Change in the nature of business, if any
 There was no change in nature of Business of the Foundation during the period under review.

8.  Material changes and commitments, if any, affecting the financial position of the company which have 
occurred between the end of the financial year of the company to which the financial statements relate 
and the date of the report

 The Foundation has not recorded any material change in the business or operation which may result into 
any tax obligations or statutory liabilities for the year ended 31st March 2022.

9. Details of significant and material orders passed by the regulators or courts or tribunals impacting the 
going concern status and company’s operations in future

 During the year ended 31st March 2022, Foundation did not receive any significant and material orders 
passed by the regulators or courts or tribunals impacting the going concern status or Foundation’s 
operations in future.

10. Details of Subsidiary/Joint Ventures/Associate Companies
 NABFOUNDATION is registered as a wholly-owned subsidiary of NABARD under Section 8 of Companies 

Act, 2013. NABFOUNDATION does not have Subsidiary/ Joint Venture.

11. Performance and financial position of each of the subsidiaries, associates and joint venture companies 
included in the consolidated financial statement.

 This clause is not applicable to Foundation.

12. Deposits
 The Foundation has not obtained, taken, accepted or continued any loans, amounts of money or deposits, 

under the provision of Section 73 to 76 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Companies (Acceptance of 
Deposits) Rules, 2014 and hence no separate disclosure is required in this regard.

13. Statutory Auditors
 The Foundation being a subsidiary of NABARD, which is owned and controlled by the Government of 

India, falls within the criteria laid out under section 139(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 and accordingly 
the Statutory Auditors of the Foundation are appointed by the office of the Comptroller & Auditor General 
of India (CAG).

 CAG has appointed M/s. Ramesh Sunil & Associates as the Statutory Auditors of the Foundation for the 
Financial Year ended on 31.03.2022. 

  
 The Statutory Auditors of the Foundation have not reported any fraud as specified under the second of 

Section 143(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 (including any statutory modification(s) or re–enactment(s) 
for the time being in force).

14. Auditors’ Report
 The Notes on Financial Statements referred to in the Auditor’s Report are self-explanatory and do not call 

for any further comments. The Auditor’s Report does not contain any qualification, reservation or adverse 
remark. 
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15. Report on the Comments of the Comptroller & Auditor General, India (CAG)
 Comments of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India as per Report dated 28th July 2022 submitted 

under section 143 (6) read with section 129 (4) of the Companies Act, 2013 on the Financial Statements of 
the Foundation for the year ended 31st March, 2022 is annexed as Annexure I.

 The Comptroller and Auditor General of India has refrain to conduct supplementary audit of the financial 
statements of NABFOUNDATION Limited for the year ended 31st March 2022 under Section 143 (6)(a) of 
the Companies Act, 2013.

 
16. Conservation of energy, technology absorption and foreign exchange earnings and outgo
 The details of conservation of energy, technology absorption, foreign exchange earnings and outgo are 

as follows:
 (A) Conservation of energy

(I) the steps taken or impact on conservation of 
energy

The Foundation is undertaking all the 
necessary steps in energy conservation.

(ii) The steps taken by the company for utilizing 
alternate sources of energy.

NA

(iii) the capital investment on energy conservation 
equipment's

NA

 (B) Technology absorption
(I) the effort made towards technology 

absorption
The Foundation is undertaking adequate steps 
in technology up gradation and to enhance 
the usage of advanced technology.  

(ii) the benefits derived like product improvement 
cost reduction product development or 
import substitution

NA

(iii) in case of imported technology (important 
during the last three years reckoned from the 
beginning of the financial year)

(a) the details of technology imported
(b) the year of import;
(c) whether the technology been fully 

absorbed
(d) if not fully absorbed, areas where 

absorption has not taken place, and the 
reasons thereof

NA

(iv) the expenditure incurred on Research and 
Development

Nil

 (C) Foreign exchange earnings and Outgo:
 No Foreign Exchange was earned/used during F.Y. 2021-22.

17. Employees
 There are no employees drawing remuneration in excess of the limits specified in Rule 5 (2) of the 

Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Key Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014.

18. Annual Return
 The extract of the Annual Return as required to be attached in terms of Section 92(3) of the Companies 

Act, 2013, is attached as “Annexure II” to this Report.

19. Particulars of loans, guarantees or investments under section 186
 During the financial year 2021-22, the Foundation has no investments of any amount in the form of loans, 

guarantees or investments under Section 186.
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20. Particulars of contracts or arrangements with related parties:
 No contract or arrangements were entered into by the Foundation with related parties referred to in sub-

section (1) of section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013.  

21. Risk management policy
 The Foundation has adopted robust risk management policy during the year from 1st April 2021 to 31st 

March 2022. The Foundation has evaluated critical activity, its disruptions and reinstituting the original 
activity within a short period of time. The risk management policies are being evaluated at regular 
interval.  

22. Directors’ Responsibility Statement
 The Directors’ Responsibility Statement referred to in sub-section (5) of Section 134 of the Companies Act, 

2013, states that: 
(a) in the preparation of the annual accounts, the applicable accounting standards had been followed 

along with proper explanation relating to material departures;
(b) the directors had selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made 

judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Foundation at the end of the financial year and of the profit and loss and of the 
Cash flow statement of the Foundation for that period;

(c) the directors had taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate accounting 
records in accordance with the provisions of this Act for safeguarding the assets of the Foundation 
and for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities;

(d) the directors had prepared the annual accounts on a going concern basis; and
(e) the directors, in the case of our Foundation, had laid down internal financial controls to be followed 

by the Foundation and that such internal financial controls are adequate and were operating 
effectively.

(f) the directors had devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all applicable 
laws and that such systems were adequate and operating effectively.

23. Details On Internal Financial Controls Related to Financial Statement.
 Foundation has put in place adequate internal financial controls with reference to the financial 

statements, some of which are outlined below.

 Foundation has adopted accounting policies which are in line with the Accounting Standards prescribed 
in the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006 that continue to apply under Section 133 and other 
applicable provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) 
Rules, 2015 and relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 1956, to the extent applicable. These are in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in India. 

 Foundation operates in an ERP system, and has many of its accounting records stored in an electronic 
form and backed up periodically. The ERP system is configured to ensure that all transactions are 
integrated seamlessly with the underlying books of account. Foundation has automated processes to 
ensure accurate and timely updation of various master data in the underlying ERP system.

 Foundation in preparing its financial statements makes judgments and estimates based on sound policies 
and uses external agencies to verify/ validate them as and when appropriate. 

 The Management periodically reviews the financial performance of Foundation against the approved 
plans across various parameters and takes necessary action, wherever necessary.
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24. Integrity of Independent Directors
 Foundation is not required to appoint Independent Directors in accordance with the provisions of Section 

149 of the Companies Act, 2013.

25. Maintenance of Cost Records
 Maintenance of cost records as specified by the Central Government under sub-section (1) of section 148 

of the Companies Act, 2013 is not applicable to the foundation.

26. Application under IBC, 2016
 No application has been made and no proceeding is pending under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy 

Code, 2016 during the year.

27. Difference in Valuation
 Foundation has not obtained any loans from Banks or Financial Institutions   during the year and 

accordingly difference in valuation of loans does not arise.

28. Acknowledgements
 The Board of Directors places on records its sincere gratitude to NABARD, Income Tax Office Mumbai, 

Bankers, Civil Society Organizations, other Foundations, our Auditors, and other stakeholders for their 
support and Co-operation.

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD NABFOUNDATION

PLACE : Mumbai
DATE   : 1st September 2022

sd/-
J. S Upadhayay

Director
DIN : 09501667

sd/-
Sanjeev D Rohilla

Director
DIN : 08640408
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Annexure I of the Directors Report 
Comments of the CAG (2021-2022)

COMMENTS OF THE COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL OF INDIA UNDER 
SECTION 143(6)(b) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013 ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 

NABFOUNDATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 

 The preparation of financial statements of NABFOUNDATION for the year ended 31 
March 2022 in accordance with the financial reporting framework prescribed under 
the Companies Act, 2013 (Act) is the responsibility of the management of the company. 
The statutory auditor appointed by the Comptroller and Auditor General of India under 
section 139(5) of the Act is responsible for expressing opinion on the financial statements 
under section 143 of the Act based on independent audit in accordance with the 
standards on auditing prescribed under section 143(10) of the Act. This is stated to have 
been done by them vide their Audit Report dated 29 April 2022.

 I, on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India, have decided not to 
conduct the supplementary audit of the financial statements of NABFOUNDATION for 
the year ended 31 March 2022 under section 143(6)(a) of the Act. 

For and on behalf of the 
Comptroller and Auditor General of India 

Sd/
(P. V. Hari Krishna)

Principal Director of Audit (Shipping), Mumbai
Place: Mumbai
Date: 28.07.2022
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Annexure-II of Directors Report

I. Registration and other details:
CIN  U85100MH2019NPL330036
Registration Date 31/08/2019
Name of the Company NABFOUNDATION
Category/Sub-Category of the Company Section 8 Company
Address of the Registered office and contact details 2nd Floor, B Wing, NABARD Head Office 

Plot No. C-24, G-BLOCK, BANDRA KURLA COMPLEX, 
BANDRA (EAST), MUMBAI Mumbai City MH 400051 
www.nabfoundation.in

Whether listed company No    
Name, Address and Contact details of Registrar and 
Transfer Agent, if any

Not Applicable

II. Principal business activities of the company
The principal activities of the foundation are to initiate plan, execute, implement, aid and assist any/all activities 
under Schedule VII, Section 135 of Companies Act, 2013 with special focus on livelihood generation, sustainable 
agriculture, rural development, natural resource management, adaption and mitigation for combating 
climate change and its impact, providing resource support and guidance for various governmental and non-
governmental programmes, skill and capacity development, rural of farm activities, including marketing of 
rural non farm products, rural innovation, gender sensitization, SHG promotion and women empowerment, 
health, education, sanitation and housing, drinking water facility, rural infrastructure project and financial 
inclusion through digital means.

III. Particulars of holding, subsidiary and associate companies

Sr. 
No. Name and Address of The Company CIN/GLN

Holding/ 
Subsidiary/
Associate

%of shares 
held

Applicable 
Section

1. National Banking for Agriculture and Rural 
Development NA Holding 100% 2(46)

IV. Share Holding Pattern (Equity Share Capital Breakup as percentage of Total Equity)
i. Category-wise Share Holding

Category of 
Shareholders 

No. of Shares held at the beginning of the 
year

No. of Shares held at the end of the year % 
Change 
during
The year

Demat Physical Total % of Total 
Shares

Demat Physical Total % of Total 
Shares

A. Promoter -

Indian

a) Individual/ HUF - 6 6 0.00012 - 6 6 0.00012 NIL

b) Central Govt - - - - - - - - -

c) State Govt(s) - - - - - - - - -

d) Bodies Corp - - - - - - - - -

e) Banks / FI - 49,99,994 49,99,994 99.99% - 49,99,994 49,99,994 99.99% NIL

f) Any Other -

Sub-total(A)(1):- - 50000000 50000000 100% - 50,00,000 50,00,000 100% NIL
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Foreign

g) NRIs Individuals - - - - - - - - -

h) Other Individuals - - - - - - - - -

i) Bodies Corp. - - - - - - - - -

j) Banks / FI - - - - - - - - -

k) Any Other…. - - - - - - - - -

Sub-total(A)(2):- - - - - - - - - -

B. Public 
Shareholding

Institutions

a) Mutual Funds - - - - - - - - -

b) Banks / FI - - - - - - - - -

c) Central Govt - - - - - - - - -

d) State Govt(s) - - - - - - - - -

e) Venture Capital 
Funds

- - - - - - - - -

f) Insurance 
Companies

- - - - - - - - -

g) FIIs - - - - - - - - -

h) Foreign Venture 
Capital Funds

- - - - - - - - -

i) Others (specify) - - - - - - - - -

Sub-total (B)(1) - - - - - - - - -

2. Non Institutions

a) Bodies Corp.
(i) Indian
(ii) Overseas

- - - - - - - - -

b) Individuals
(i) Individual 

shareholders 
holding nominal 
share capital up 
to Rs. 1 lakh

(ii) Individual 
shareholders 
holding nominal 
share capital in 
excess of Rs 1 lakh

- - - - - - - - -

c) Others(Specify) - - - - - - - - -

Sub-total(B)(2) - - - - - - - - -

Total Public 
Shareholding 
(B)=(B)(1)+ (B)(2)

- - - - - - - - -

C. Shares held by 
Custodian for GDR 
&ADRs

- - - - - - - - -

Grand Total
(A+B+C)

- 50,00,000 50,00,000 100% 50,00,000 50,00,000 100% -

ii  Shareholding of Promoters
Sr. 
No

Shareholder’s Name Shareholding at the beginning of the 
year

Shareholding at the end of the year

No. of 
Shares

% of total 
Shares 
of the 
company

%of Shares 
Pledged / 
encumbered 
to total shares

No. of 
Shares

% of total 
Shares 
of the 
company

%of Shares 
Pledged / 
encumbered 
to total shares

% 
change 
in share 
holding 
during 
the year

1. National Banking for 
Agriculture and Rural 
Development (including its 
nominee)

50,00,000 100% - 50,00,000 100% - NIL

Total 50,00,000 100% - 50,00,000 100% - NIL
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iii. Change in Promoters’ Shareholding
There was no change in promoter’s shareholding during the year

V. Indebtedness
Indebtedness of the Company including interest outstanding/accrued but not due for payment

Secured Loans 
excluding deposits

Unsecured 
Loans

Deposits Total 
Indebtedness

Indebtedness at the beginning of 
the financial year

i) Principal Amount
ii) Interest due but not paid
iii) Interest accrued but not

NIL NIL NIL NIL

Total(i+ii+iii) NIL NIL NIL NIL
Change in Indebtedness during the 
financial year

 -  Addition
 -  Reduction

NIL NIL NIL NIL

Net Change NIL NIL NIL NIL

Indebtedness at the end of the 
financial year

i) Principal Amount
ii) Interest due but not paid
iii) Interest accrued but not due

NIL NIL NIL NIL

Total (i+ii+iii) NIL NIL NIL NIL

VI. Remuneration of directors and key managerial personnel
A. Remuneration to Managing Director, Whole-time Directors and/or Manager
     No Remuneration was paid during the year to Managing Director, Whole-time Directors and/or Manager     
B.  Remuneration to other directors:
 Remuneration Amounting Rs.60,000.00 was paid to Shri Jitender Kalra during the year.
C. Remuneration to Key Managerial Personnel Other Than MD /Manager /WTD
No Remuneration was paid during the year to Key Managerial Personnel.

VII. Penalties/ punishment/ compounding of offences:
No penalties were levied for any Offences

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD NABFOUNDATION

PLACE : Mumbai
DATE   : 1st September 2022

sd/-
J. S Upadhayay

DIRECTOR
DIN : 09501667

sd/-
Sanjeev D Rohilla

DIRECTOR
DIN : 08640408
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Independent auditors’ report

To 
The Members of
NABFOUNDATION

I. Report on the Audit of Financial Statements
Opinion
A. We have audited the accompanying financial statements of NAB FOUNDATION, (“the company”) which 

comprises the Balance Sheet as at 31st March, 2022, the Statement of Income and Expenditure, Statement of 
Cash Flow of the company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information. (Hereinafter referred to as “the Financial Statements”).

B. In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid 
Financial Statements give the information required by the Companies  Act, 2013  (“the  Act”) in the manner so 
required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the  Accounting  Principles prescribed under section  
133  of the Act read with the Companies (Accounting Standards) Rules, 2006, as amended, (“AS”) and other 
accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31st March,  
2022, the deficit and cash flow for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit of the Financial Statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SA’s) specified 
under section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company 
in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) together 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the provisions of the 
Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the ICAI’s Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the Financial Statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in Section 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 
(“the Act”) with respect to the preparation and presentation of these financial statements that give a true and fair 
view of the financial position and the financial performance of the company in accordance with the accounting 
principles generally accepted in India, including the Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the 
Act, read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 (as amended). This responsibility also includes the 
maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the 
Assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application 
of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 
design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial control, that were operating effectively for 
ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation 
of the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether, due to 
fraud or error.
In preparing the Financial Statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern, and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so.
The Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibility for the audit of Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with SA’s will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Financial Statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit.

We also:
i. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

ii. Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for 
expressing our opinion on whether the Company has adequate internal financial controls with reference to 
financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

iii. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.

iv. Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
Financial Statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

v. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Financial Statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the Financial Statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with  relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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II. Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
1. This report does not include a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Companies 

(Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”) issued by the Central Government of India, in terms of section 143 
of the Companies Act, 2013, since in our opinion and according to the information and explanation given to 
us, the said Order is not applicable to the company.

2. A.    As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that:
a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our 

knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.
b) In our opinion, proper books of accounts as required by law have been kept by the Company so far 

as it appears from our examination of those books.
c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Income & Expenditure and the Cash Flow Statement dealt with 

by this Report are in agreement with the relevant books of accounts of the company.
d) In our opinion, the aforesaid financial statements comply with the Accounting Standards specified 

under Section 133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules 2014 (as amended).
e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on 31st March, 2022 taken 

on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as on 31st March, 2022 from 
being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the Act.

f) With respect to the adequacy of the Internal Financial Controls with reference to financial statements 
of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate Report 
in “Annexure A”. Our report expresses an unmodified opinion on the adequacy and operating 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal financial controls with reference to financial statements.

B. With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule-11 of 
the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 (as amended), in our opinion and to the best of our 
information and according to the explanations given to us:
(a) The company does not have any pending litigations which would impact its financial position.
(b) The company did not have any long-term contract including derivative contracts; as such the 

question of commenting on any foreseeable losses thereon does not arise.
(c) There were no amounts which were required to be transferred, to the Investor Education and 

Protection Fund by the Company.
(d) (i) The management has represented that other than those disclosed in the notes to accounts, no 

funds have been advanced or loaned or invested by the company to or in any other person(s) or 
entities, including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding that the intermediary 
shall whether directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner 
by or on behalf of the company (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or provide any guarantee, security or the 
like on behalf of ultimate beneficiaries.

 (ii) The management has represented that other than those disclosed in the notes to accounts, no 
funds have been received by the company from any person(s) or entities including foreign entities 
(“Funding Parties”) with the understanding that such company shall whether, directly or indirectly, 
lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the 
funding party (ultimate beneficiaries) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of 
the Ultimate beneficiaries.

 (iii) Based on the audit procedures performed that have been considered reasonable and appropriate 
in the circumstances, nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe that the 
representations under sub-clause (i) and (ii) of Rule 11(e) contain any material misstatement.

(e) During the year the company has not declared or paid any dividend.
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C. Directions under section 143(5) of the Companies Act, 2013, applicable for the year 2020-21 and onwards:

Sr. 
No. Particulars Audit Observation

1 Whether the company has system in place to 
process all the accounting transactions through 
IT system? If yes, the implications of processing 
of accounting transactions outside IT system 
on the integrity of the accounts along with the 
financial implications, if any, may be stated.

On the basis of explanations given to us and 
on the basis of our verification we report that 
the company has a system to process all the 
accounting transactions through its IT system. 
There are no such transactions outside the IT 
system of the company.

2 Whether there is any restructuring of an existing 
loan or cases of waiver / write off of debts / loans 
/ interest etc. made by a lender to the company 
due to the company’s inability to repay the 
loan? If yes, the financial impact may be stated. 
Whether such cases are properly accounted 
for? (in case, lender is a Government company, 
then its direction is also applicable for statutory 
auditor of lender company).

On the basis of explanations given to us and on 
the basis of our verification we report that the 
company has not taken any loan during the 
year under review hence there is no question of 
waiver / write off of debts / loans / interest by 
any lender.

3 Whether funds (grants / subsidy etc.) received / 
receivable for specific schemes from Central / 
State Government or its agencies were properly 
accounted for / utilized as per its term and con-
ditions? List the cases of deviation.

On the basis of explanations given to us and on 
the basis of our verification we report that the 
funds received by the company have been 
properly accounted for as per their terms and 
conditions.

For Ramesh Sunil & Associates
Chartered Accountants

Date: 29/04/2022
Place: Mumbai

CA Sunil R. Shetty
Partner

Membership No.: 047559
Firm Regn No.: 114473W

UDIN: 22047559AJBIIS2446
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Annexure ‘A’ to the Independent Auditor’s Report
Referred to in paragraph 2 (f) of Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements of the Independent Auditors’ 
Report of even date.

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)
We have audited the internal financial controls over financial reporting of NAB FOUNDATION (“the Company”), as 
of 31st March, 2022 in conjunction with our audit of the standalone financial statements of the Company for the 
year ended on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on “the 
internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential components 
of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India”. These responsibilities include the design, implementation 
and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly 
and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the 
prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the 
timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 2013.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls over financial reporting 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial 
Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) and the Standards on Auditing, issued by ICAI and 
deemed to be prescribed under section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit 
of internal financial controls, both issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. Those Standards and 
the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls over financial reporting was established 
and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial 
controls system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls 
over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls over financial reporting, 
assessing the risk that material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness 
of internal control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system over financial reporting

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting
A Company’s internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal financial control over financial 
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 
detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide 
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company 
are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and 
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including the possibility of 
collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur 
and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls over financial reporting 
to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control over financial reporting may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 
may deteriorate.

Opinion
In our opinion, the Company have, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls system over 
financial reporting and such internal financial controls over financial reporting were commensurate with the nature 
of the business of the Company and operating effectively as at 31st March, 2022, based on “the internal control 
over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal 
control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India”.

For Ramesh Sunil & Associates
Chartered Accountants

Date: 29/04/2022
Place: Mumbai

CA Sunil R. Shetty
Partner

Membership No.: 047559
Firm Regn No.: 114473W

UDIN: 22047559AJBIIS2446
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Balance Sheet
NABFOUNDATION

BALANCE  SHEET  AS  AT  31st March 2022
(` in ‘00)

Particulars Notes Amount Amount 
2021-22 2020-21

I EQUITY & LIABILITIES
1 Shareholder’s funds

a) Share capital 2  500,000  500,000 

b) Reserves & Surplus 3  362,760  515,993 

2 Current Liabilities
a) Other current Liabilities 4  35,085  54,142 

Total  897,845  1,070,136 

II ASSETS
1 Non-Current Assets

a) Property, Plant and Equipment and intangible assets

   i) Property, Plant and Equipment 5  1,468  1,642 

   ii) Intangible assets  -  - 

2 Current Assets
a) Cash and Cash Equivalents 6  887,173  1,065,323 

b) Other Current Assets 7  9,205  3,171 

Total  897,845  1,070,136 

           Significant Accounting Policies 1  -  - 

           Notes to Accounts 13

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
IN TERMS OF OUR REPORT ATTACHED

FOR RAMESH SUNIL & ASSOCIATES
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
FIRM REG. NO. 114473W

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTOR OF NABFOUNDATION

CA SUNIL R. SHETTY
PARTNER
M. NO. 047559

Sd/- Sd/-
(Director) (Chief Executive Officer)

 Sd/-
 (Chairman )

PLACE : MUMBAI
DATE : 29/04/2022
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Income and Expenditure Statement
NABFOUNDATION

STATEMENT OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31st MARCH 2022
(` in ‘00)

Particulars Notes Amount (Rs) Amount (Rs)
2021-22 2020-21

1 INCOME
Revenue from Operations (I) 8  104,924  194,035 
Other Income (II) 9  56,074  40,027 

2 Total Income (I+II) = III  160,998  234,061 
3 EXPENSES

Project Expenses 10  116,003  178,172 
Employee benefits expenses 11  166,894  13,201 
Finance costs  -  - 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 5  585  233 
Other expenses 12  30,749  21,574 

4 Total Expenses IV  314,232  213,180 

5 Surplus before exceptional and extraordinary items 
and tax (III-IV) = VI  (153,234)  20,882 

6 Exceptional items VII  -  - 

7 Surplus (Deficit) for the period from continuing 
operations (VI- VII) - VIII  (153,234)  20,882 

8 Surplus (Deficit) for the period from discontinuing 
operations (IX)  -  - 

9 Surplus for the period (VIII+IX)  (153,234)  20,882 
10 Earnings per Equity Share

          - Basic  (0.03)  0.00 
          - Diluted  (0.03)  0.00 
          - Face value per Equity Share  10  10 

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
IN TERMS OF OUR REPORT ATTACHED

FOR RAMESH SUNIL & ASSOCIATES
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
FIRM REG. NO. 114473W

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTOR OF NABFOUNDATION

CA SUNIL R. SHETTY
PARTNER
M. NO. 047559

Sd/- Sd/-
(Director) (Chief Executive Officer)

 Sd/-
 (Chairman )

PLACE : MUMBAI
DATE : 29/04/2022
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NABFOUNDATION 
CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2022

INDIRECT METHOD
(` in ‘00)

Particulars  Year ended 
31.03.2022 

 Year ended 
31.03.2021 

Cash flows from used in operating activities
  Surplus/(deficit) extraordinary items and tax  (153,234)  20,882 
   Adjustments for reconcile profit (loss)
     Adjustments to profit (loss)
       Adjustments for depreciation and amortisation expenses  585  233 
       Adjustments for interest income  56,074  40,027 
      Total Adjustments for reconcile profit (loss)  (55,489)  (39,794)
     Adjustments for working capital
       Adjustments for decrease (increase) in inventories  -  - 
       Adjustments for decrease (increase) in trade receivables  -  - 
       Adjustments for decrease (increase) in other current assets  (6,034)  (3,023)
       Adjustments for Increase (decrease) in other trade payables  -  - 
       Adjustments for Iincrease (decerease) in other current liabilities  (19,056)  53,878 
       Adjustments for provisions
       Total adjustments for working capital  (25,090)  50,855 
     Total adjustments for reconcile profit (loss)  (80,579)  11,061 
   Net cash flows from (used in) operations  (233,813)  31,943 
   Dividend received  -  - 
   Interest paid  -  - 
   Interest received  56,074  40,027 
   Income taxes (paid) refund  -  - 
   Other inflows (outflows) of cash  -  - 
   Net cash flows from (used in) in operating activities before 

extraordinary items  (177,739)  71,969 

   Proceeds from extraordinary items  -  - 
   Payments for extraordinary items  -  - 
   Net cash flows from (used in) in operating activities  (177,739)  71,969 

 -  - 
       Proceeds from sale of tangible assets  -  - 
       Purchase of tangible assets  410  1,875 
       Proceeds from sale of intangible assets  -  - 

 -  - 
       Net cash flow from (used in) investing activities  (410)  (1,875)

Cash Flow
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Cash flows from used in financing activities  -  - 
       Interest paid  -  - 
       Issue of Equity Shares  -  400,000 
       Receipt of Development Corpus Fund (DCF)  -  - 
       Other inflows (outflows) of cash  -  - 
       Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities before 

extraordinary items  -  400,000 

       Proceeds from extraordinary items  -  - 
       Paymens for extraordinary items  -  - 
       Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities  -  400,000 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents before effect 
of exchange rate changes  (178,149)  470,095 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  -  - 
       Effects of exchange rate changes or cash and cash equivalents  -  - 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (178,149)  470,095 
Cash and cash equivalents cash flow statement at beginning of 
period  1,065,323  595,228 

Cash and cash equivalents cash flow statement at end of period  887,173  1,065,323 

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
IN TERMS OF OUR REPORT ATTACHED

FOR RAMESH SUNIL & ASSOCIATES
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
FIRM REG. NO. 114473W

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTOR OF NABFOUNDATION

CA SUNIL R. SHETTY
PARTNER
M. NO. 047559

Sd/- Sd/-
(Director) (Chief Executive Officer)

 Sd/-
 (Chairman )

PLACE : MUMBAI
DATE : 29/04/2022
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Notes forming part of the Financial Statements
NABFOUNDATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDING 31ST MARCH 2022

NOTE 1:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

i. CORPORATE INFORMATION
 NABFOUNDATION (“the Company”), a not for profit company, within the  meaning of Section 8 of the 

Companies Act, 2013, was incorporated in India on August 31st, 2019.

 NABFOUNDATION is an attempt to initiate, execute, implement activities directed towards enhancing the 
quality of life of poor and needy sections of society without reference to race, religion, creed, caste or sex 
and to seek ways  and  means  of  reducing and ultimately eradicating malnutrition, extreme poverty  and  
improving  their health and physical and mental condition and well-being and pursue all such aspects thereof 
that would be help in achieving the said objective in a sustainable and scalable way.

 NABFOUNDATION has been envisioned to network with state governments, universities, agri-start ups, 
knowledge hubs and NGO’s etc. to promote undertake, activities that would support, encourage and 
promote education among the masses including the underprivileged, and provide them with quality learning 
and remove illiteracy, by the way of developing, acquiring, maintaining or supporting school, colleges, study 
centre, to improving the system of education in the country, imparting traditional or new learning skills in 
formal and non-formal institution.

ii.  Basis of preparation of statement
 The financial statements of the company have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles in India (Indian GAAP). The company has prepared these financial statements to comply 
in all material respects with the Accounting Standards notified under the relevant provisions of the Companies 
Act 2013.

 The Company follows the mercantile system of accounting  and  Expenses  and Income are recognized 
on accrual basis. Accounting policies not  referred  to  otherwise are consistent with generally accepted 
accounting principles.

iii.  Use of estimates
 The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 

affect the reported amount of the assets and  liabilities,  the  disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities on the 
date of financial statements and  the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. 
Actual result may differ from those estimates. Changes in estimates are reflected in the financial statements in 
the period in which changes are made and, if material, their effects are disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements.

iv. Revenue recognition
 General/ Project Donation/Grants:

 As per the terms of agreement with Donor agencies, Unrestricted Grants received by the foundation for 
the current projects are recognised as Income in the  accounting year of receipts. Restricted Grants and 
donation received and spent are recognize as income in the accounts, whereas the unutilized grant is shown 
as  liability  in  the books.
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 Interest/Other Income:
 Interest and Other Income are also recognised on accrual basis.

 Corpus Donation:
 Donations received for Corpus with a specific written direction from Donor are directly taken in Corpus 

Fund of the Foundation.

v. Employee benefits
 All employee benefits payable wholly within  twelve months of  rendering  the services are classified as 

short- term employee benefits. Benefits such as salaries, wages, performance incentives, etc. are recognized 
in the Income and Expenditure Account in the period in which the employee renders related service and 
measured accordingly.

vi. Fixed assets and depreciation /amortization
 Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. The cost of 

fixed assets include inward freight, duties, taxes  and  incidental  expenses related to acquisition and installation 
incurred upto date of commissioning of the assets. Assets held for disposal are stated at their estimated residual 
values as at the balance sheet date.

 Depreciation is provided on pro-rata basis as per Straight Line  Method  (SLM)  as per the useful life in Part 
‘C’ of the Schedule II of the Act.

vii. Impairment of assets
 In accordance with Accounting Standard 28 (AS 28) on ‘Impairment of assets’, the carrying amounts of 

Foundation’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any impairment. 
The recoverable amount of the asset is estimated at the higher of its useful life. An  impairment loss  is recognized  
whenever  the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognized in 
the Statement of Profit and Loss.

viii. Cash flow statement
 Cash flows are reported using indirect method whereby cash flows from operating activities of the 

Company are identified and reported.

ix. Provisions and contingencies
 A provision is recognized when the Company has a present obligation as a result of past events and it is 

probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation in respect of which a reliable 
estimate can be made. Provisions are not discounted to their present value and determined based on the best  
estimate required to settle the obligation as at Balance Sheet date.

x. Income tax
 The Company has license to operate under section 8 of the Companies Act and Certificate of registration 

under section 12A and 80 G of the Income Tax Act, 1961. Accordingly, the Company is not liable to pay Income 
Tax under Income Tax Act, 1961.
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ANALYTICAL RATIOS

 Ratio’s  Numerator   Denominator  Current 
Period 

 Previous 
Period 

 % 
Variance 

Reason for 
Variance

(a) Current ratio (in 
times) Current Asset Current Liabilities 25.54 19.73 29.45% Note 1

(b) Debt-equity 
ratio (in times) Debt Shareholders 

equity  -  - NA NA

(c) Debt service 
coverage ratio 
(in times)

Earnings for Debt 
Service Debt Service NA NA NA NA

(d) Return on 
equity ratio (in 
%)

Net Profits after 
taxes

Average 
shareholders 

equity
-30.65% 4.18% - Note 2

(e) Inventory 
turnover ratio COGS Avg Inventory NA NA NA NA

(f) Trade 
receivables 
turnover ratio 

Revenue from 
operations

Average trade 
receivables NA NA NA NA

(g) Trade payables 
turnover ratio

Outstanding 
expenses

Average trade 
payables NA NA NA NA

(h) Net capital 
turnover ratio 
(in times)

Revenue from 
operations Working Capital 0.12 0.19 -36.84% Note 3

(i) Net profit ratio 
(in %)

Surplus/ (Deficit) 
for the year

Revenue from 
operations -146.04% 10.76% - Note 2

(j) Return on capital 
employed

Surplus/ (Deficit) 
for the year

Capital 
Employed -30.65% 4.18% - Note 2

(k) Return on 
investment

Income 
generated 

from treasury 
Investments

Average invested 
funds in 
treasury 

investments

NA NA NA NA

Note 
1. Significant reduction in unutilised grants during the year has increased the current ratio compared to the 

previous year
2. During the year there was deficit as compared to surplus in the previous year, thus it is not possible to 

calculate variances. NABFOUNDATION is Not for Profit Organisation and thus the ratios are incomparable.
3. During the year NABFOUNDATION has received lower grants as compared to Preious year, thus there was a 

variation of more than 25%
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Notes
NABFOUNDATION 

Notes forming part of the Financial Statements for the Year ending 31st March 2022
(` in ‘00)

NOTE 2 - SHARE CAPITAL 31st Mar 2022 31st Mar 2021
Authorised Capital
5000000, Equity Shares of Rs 10/- each  500,000  500,000 

Issued, subscribed and fully paid-up shares 
5000000, Equity Shares of Rs 10/- each fully paid  500,000  500,000 
Total issued, subscribed and fully paid-up share capital  500,000  500,000 

(a) Terms/ rights attached to equity shares
The company has only one class of equity shares having par value of Rs.10 per share. Each holder of equity 
shares is entitled to one vote per share. The company declares and pays dividends in Indian rupees. No divi-
dend has been proposed by the Board of Directors during the year.
(b) Reconciliation of the number of shares and amount outstanding as 
at the beginning and at the end of the year.

PARTICULARS 31st Mar 2022 31st Mar 2021
 No. of shares at the beginning of the year  5,000,000  1,000,000 
 Fresh Issue  -  - 
 Right Issue  -  4,000,000 
No. of shares at the end of the year  5,000,000  5,000,000 

(c) Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the company

NAME OF SHAREHOLDER 31st Mar 2022 31st Mar 2021
NABARD
(Through its Nominees)
Total Share  5,000,000  5,000,000 
% of Holding 100.00% 100.00%
Equity shares of Rs.10 each fully paid  50,000,000  50,000,000 

As per records of the company, including its register of shareholders/ members and other declarations received 
from shareholders regarding beneficial interest, the above shareholding represents both legal and beneficial 
ownerships of shares.

Shares held by promoters at the end of the year % Change during 
the year  NIL

S. 
No Promoter name No. of Shares % of total shares

1 NABARD  5,000,000 100%
Total  5,000,000 100%
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(` in ‘00)

NOTE 3 -  RESERVES & SURPLUS 31st Mar 2022                 31st Mar 2021

Surplus/ Deficit in Income & Expenditure statement
As per last balance sheet  15,993  (4,889)
Surplus (Deficit) for the year  (153,234)  20,882 
Closing Balance (I)  (137,240)  15,993 

Capital Reserve
Development Corpus Fund (DCF)
As per last balance sheet  500,000  500,000 
Amount received during the year  -  - 

Closing Balance (II)  500,000  500,000 
TOTAL (I+II)  362,760  515,993 

NOTE 4 -  OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 31st Mar 2022                 31st Mar 2021

Restricted - Unutilised Grant  34,753  53,963 
Audit Fees Payable  324  177 
Other Payable  8  2 
TOTAL  35,085  54,142 
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 NOTE 5 :- PROPERTY, PLANT, EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
(` In ‘00)

PARTICULARS

GROSS BLOCK DEPRECIATION/AMORTISATION NET BLOCK
As At

01.04.21
Addi-
tions

As At
31.03.22

As At
01.04.21

For The
Year

Adjust-
ments

To
Reserves

As At
31.03.22

As At
31.03.22

As At
31.03.21

(Rs.) (Rs.) (Rs.) (Rs.) (Rs.) (Rs.) (Rs.) (Rs.)

1  Tangible 
Assets 
Office 
Equipments  628  -  628  44  119  163  465  584 

Computers 
And 
Equipments

 1,247  410  1,657  189  466  654  1,002  1,058 

Total :- 1  1,875  410  2,285  233  585  -  817  1,468  1,642 

Grand 
total as on 
31.03.2022

 1,875  410  2,285  233  585  -  817  1,468  1,642 

NOTE 6 -  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 31st Mar 2022               31st Mar 2021                
 a. Balance with Banks  23,930  79,487 
 b. Cash on hand  -  - 
 c. Other (Term Deposits)
 Deposit with Ujjivan Co-op Bank   860,000  980,000 
 Add- Interest on Term Deposit  3,243  5,836 
 Balance at the end of the Year  863,243  985,836 
 TOTAL  887,173  1,065,323 

 NOTE 7 -  OTHER CURRENT ASSETS  31st Mar 2022 31st Mar 2021
 Other Current Asset  255  - 
 TDS Receivable  8,949  3,171 
TOTAL  9,205  3,171 

NOTE 8 -  GRANT RECEIVED FOR PROJECT  31st Mar 2022 31st Mar 2021
Aapno Paani  14,306  - 
Basuba Brooms Producer Company Ltd.  4,000  - 
Bazaar Connect  300  - 
Farm-Based Livelihood Education and Learning School  -  42,000 
My Pad|My Right  61,999  124,260 
NER Entrepreneurs’ World  21,953  27,775 
Strengthening and Broadbasing Pashmina and Wool Value Chain in Leh, UT 
of Ladakh  1,357  - 

Other Donation  1,009  - 
TOTAL  104,924  194,035 

Other Notes
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(` In ‘00)
NOTE 9 -  OTHER INCOME  31st Mar 2022 31st Mar 2021
Net Interest Earned  56,074  40,027 
TOTAL  56,074  40,027 

NOTE 10 - PROJECT EXPENSES  31st Mar 2022 31st Mar 2021
Aapno Anaaj  1,771  - 
Aapno Paani  25,207  555 
Basuba Brooms Producer Company Ltd.  3,024  3,021 
Bazaar Connect  300  - 
Farm-Based Livelihood Education and Learning School  -  39,060 
My Pad|My Right  61,241  134,726 
NER Entrepreneurs’ World  23,103  809 
Strengthening and Broadbasing Pashmina and Wool Value Chain in Leh, UT 
of Ladakh

 1,357  - 

TOTAL  116,003  178,172 

NOTE 11 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES  31st Mar 2022 31st Mar 2021
Reimbursement of Deputation Claims  132,083  - 
Other Salaries and Wages  34,811  13,201 
TOTAL  166,894  13,201 

NOTE 12- OTHER EXPENSES  31st Mar 2022 31st Mar 2021
Advertisement  2,967  480 
Audit Fees  354  177 
Bank Charges  42  12 
Covid -19 Vaccination Awareness Campaign  2,189  - 
Design and Development of New Projects  1,296  - 
Director Fees  600  400 
Interest and Late Filing Fees  -  4 

IT Expenses  40  - 

Memento and other Related Expenses  2,575  - 

Office Expenses  811  2,429 

Other Expenses  250 

Postage and Courier  962  865 

Printing & Stationery  7,466  2,909 

Professional Fees  6,542  8,013 

Rent Expenses  2,360  - 

Roc/ Other Filing Expenses  108  165 

Telephone Expenses  103  25 

Travelling Expenses  634  149 

Website Development Charges  1,451  5,947 

TOTAL  30,749  21,574 
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NOTE 13 :- NOTES ON ACCOUNT

i. In the opinion of the Board of Directors, the Current Assets, Loans & Advances are approximately of the 
value of stated as realizable on the ordinary course of business and the provision of all known liabilities are 
adequate.

ii. Disclosure under Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 
(MSMED ACT, 2006)

 As required to be disclosed under Micro, Small & Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 and to the 
extent such parties are identified on the basis of information available with the Company, there are no Micro 
enterprises or Small Scale enterprises to whom the Company owes any due which are outstanding for more 
than 45 days as at 31st March 2022

iii. Auditors remuneration is Rs. 30,000/- for Statutory Audit. (Excl. GST)

iv. Previous year’s figures have been rearranged and regrouped wherever considered necessary.

v. Related Party Transactions

 In the Normal course of operation, the foundation enters into transaction with key management 
personnel. The names of related parties of the foundation and their relationship, as required to be 
disclosed under Accounting Standard 18, are as follows:

Particulars For the Year Ended 31
March 2022

For the Year Ended 31
March 2021

Directors Remuneration
Shri Jitender Karla 
(Director)

60,000/- 40,000/-

See Accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements
IN TERMS OF OUR REPORT ATTACHED

FOR RAMESH SUNIL & ASSOCIATES
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
FIRM REG. NO. 114473W

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTOR OF NABFOUNDATION

CA SUNIL R. SHETTY
PARTNER
M. NO. 047559

Sd/- Sd/-
(Director) (Chief Executive Officer)

 Sd/-
 (Chairman )

PLACE : MUMBAI
DATE : 29/04/2022
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Proxy Form

ATTENDANCE SLIP
THIRD ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

DP ID*/ Client ID*: Name and address of the 
registered shareholder

Regd. Folio No.:

No. of shared held:

(*applicable for members holding share(s) in electronic form)

I/We hereby record my/our presence at the 3rd Annual General Meeting of the Members of 
NABFOUNDATION, held online via Microsoft Teams on Friday, 23rd September 2022 at 11:30 
a.m.

Signature of 
shareholder(s)/Proxy







A Section 8 Not for Profit Company established by NABARD
NABARD, 2nd Floor, B wing, Bandra Kurla Complex, 
Bandra (East), Mumbai 400051
T: +91 22 2653 9054 
Email: nabfoundation@nabard.org 
Website: www.nabfoundation.in

designed by ashoi designs - 9825265336
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